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Operational Case Study Examination 

May 2022 - August 2022 

Pre-seen material 
 

 

 

 

COVID-19 Statement    
This pre-seen and the case study in general (while aiming to reflect real life), are set in a context 
where the COVID-19 pandemic has not had an impact.    
    
Remember, marks in the exam will be awarded for valid arguments that are relevant to the 
question asked. Answers that make relevant references to the pandemic or social distancing will, 
of course, be marked on their merits. In most cases, however, candidates may find it helpful to 
assume that there are no restrictions to the movement of people, goods or services in place.  
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Your role  
 

You are a Finance Officer working within the Finance Department of Meals@Home. You are 
principally involved in the preparation of management accounting information and providing 
information to managers to assist with decision making. At times you are also expected to 
assist with the preparation of the financial statements and answer queries regarding financial 
reporting and other financial matters.  
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Introduction 
Meals@Home is a company that sells meal-kits direct to customers through a digital 
subscription service. A meal-kit includes the ingredients for a single meal for a set number of 
portions of that meal, and a recipe card which gives instructions on how to prepare and cook 
the meal at home. The company is based in Newland, a country in Europe which has the N$ 
as its currency.  

Meals@Home was founded in 2012 by friends Ben Jonas and Ravi Smit. In 2010 both were 
young professionals working in the capital city of Newland: Ben in marketing and Ravi in IT. 
Working long hours, both Ben and Ravi found themselves eating takeaways and convenience 
foods. Despite having a keen interest in cooking and eating healthily, they struggled to find 
time to plan menus and to get to the supermarket. In 2011 they tried a meal-kit service. They 
liked the convenience but were not impressed with the variety of the meals and the quality of 
ingredients. After research, they decided to set up their own meal-kit company. 

In 2012, Ben and Ravi engaged the services of Henri Lopez, an experienced chef and recipe 
developer. Together they developed 20 recipes and set up the company’s subscription 
service. The first meal-kits were sold in January 2013 and were available to customers within 
a 60-kilometre radius of Newland’s capital city. In the first year of trading, Meals@Home made 
a revenue of N$4,530,000. 

Since then, the company’s revenue has grown significantly and from 2016 the company has 
sold meal-kits throughout Newland. For the year to 31 December 2021 revenue was N$62.5 
million and the operating loss was N$3.7 million. The budget for the year to 31 December 
2022 forecasts revenue of N$75.8 million and an operating profit of N$2.1 million (the 
company’s first operating profit). The survival and growth of the company has been made 
possible by investment and support from venture capitalists and business angels and the slow 
path to profit is consistent with other meal-kit companies.  

The aim of the company is to provide good quality ingredients and clear recipe instructions, 
so that the customer can prepare and cook healthy and nutritious meals from scratch at home. 
The company aims that each meal-kit should take a maximum of 45 minutes to prepare and 
cook. Each recipe is calorie counted and the focus of many recipes is on low carbohydrate but 
high nutritional value. The company’s Head Office is located 40 kilometres outside of 
Newland’s capital city. This is the location of the company’s development kitchen where new 
meal recipes are developed and tested. Within 5 kilometres of the Head Office is the 
Production Facility where boxes of meal-kits are assembled.  

Ben and Ravi consider sustainability to be at the heart of the business. Meal-kits give 
customers only enough ingredients to prepare that meal and therefore reduce the amount of 
food waste at home. Ingredients are ethically sourced with food-kilometres a key consideration 
when selecting suppliers. There are two key sustainability challenges: the amount of 
packaging and the distribution of meal-kits to customers.  
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Extracts from the Meals@Home website:  
 

Why choose Meals@Home? 
 

 
 

Flexible subscription service: 
 
With our subscription service you can sign 
up to receive our meal-kits once a week, 
once a fortnight or once a month. You can 
choose to receive meal-kits in either a Small 
size (sufficient for two portions) or a Large 
size (sufficient for four portions). For each 
order you place, you will have the option to 
include 2, 3 or 4 meal-kits. Your meal-kits 
are delivered to you in a single box. 
 
You have the freedom to cancel, pause or 
amend your subscription at any time, 
without any additional charge to you. 

Recipe selection: 
 
With 50 meal-kits to choose from each week, 
including 20 vegetarian meal-kits, you will be 
spoilt for choice. Whether you like spicy food 
or fish or certain vegetables, our weekly 
selection of meal-kits will have something for 
everybody.  
 
Our development kitchen works hard to 
ensure that our recipes are easy to follow, 
quick to prepare and highly nutritious. All our 
recipes are calorie counted. 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Ingredients: 
 
We have great relationships with all our 
suppliers, meaning that we will only send 
you the freshest and best quality 
ingredients. 
 
All meat and most of our dairy is sourced 
from Newland producers. Most of our 
vegetables and fruit are grown in Newland.  
 
We try to source our other ingredients from 
Newland to limit the kilometres travelled 
before they reach you. 
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How to use our subscription service 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Remember: if you forget to select your meal-kits or to cancel a delivery, we will 
automatically send you a box including the appropriate size and number of meal-kits based 
on your saved preferences.  
 

 

Step 1: Set up your Meals@Home account 

Provide your name, 
address and 

payment details. 

Select your 
automatic 

preferences: 

Size of meal-
kits? 

Small 

OR 

Large 

AND 

Frequency of 
delivery? 

Once a week 

OR 

Once every 2 weeks 

OR 

Once a month 

Meal-kit 
preferences? 

For example:  

Vegetarian? 

Lower calorie? 

No fish? 

Non-spicy? 

  

 

2, 3 OR 4 
meal-kits 
in a box 

Step 2: At least 3 days before delivery is due: 

Select your 
meal-kits and 
delivery date 

Cancel the 
delivery for that 

week 

Amend your 
meal-kit size 
or meal-kit 

preferences  

OR OR 
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What to expect when you receive your order 
 

 
 
 You’ll receive a single box with everything you need for your meal-kits. 

 
 Open the box and you’ll find: 

 
o An inner chill box in which you’ll find our eco-chill bag on top of the meat, fish 

and dairy ingredients required for all of your meal-kits. 
 

o A meal-kit bag for each meal-kit which contains the tins, packets, herbs & 
spices mixes required for that meal-kit. 

 
o And, carefully packed on top of the meal-kit bags, all of the fresh ingredients 

(short-life baked goods, fruit and vegetables) for all of your meal-kits. 
 

 All you’ll need to do is unpack, store the ingredients in your fridge or your cupboards 
and be ready to prepare and cook fabulous meals. 
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The Directors 
 

  
  

Ben Jonas, Sales & Marketing Director: Ben has overall 
responsibility for the company's sales, distribution and marketing. 
He has been instrumental in creating a distinctive Meals@Home 
brand and is the inspiration behind all of the company's marketing 
activities which have driven the company's growth. Ben is keen for 
the business to expand its product base.

Ravi Smit, IT Director: Ravi has overall responsibility for 
all of the company's IT systems. Ravi was the driving 
force behind the development of the company's website 
and subscription app. He is interested in the company 
making use of artifical intelligence and other emerging 
technologies. 

Henri Lopez, Recipe Development Director: Henri 
has been with the company from the beginning. He is 
responsible for developing and testing all recipes and 
is a fully qualified chef with many years of experience 
in recipe development. Henri is paricularly interested 
in the nutritional value of food.

Greta Beets, Production Director: Greta has been with 
the company since 2018 and is responsible for ingredient 
procurement and all of the activities at the Production 
Facility. She previously worked as a senior buyer for a 
supermarket company. Greta is a champion of 
sustainability.     

Jack Quinn, Finance Director: Jack became a qualified 
accountant in 2004 and has been with the company since 2014. He 
is responsible for all finance and human resource issues. He has 
been instrumental in securing finance from private investors and 
banks and has built good relationships with financiers. 
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Sales & Distribution, Production and Finance teams 
Sales & Distribution:

 

Production: 

 

  

Sales & Marketing 
Director

Ben Jonas

Subscription Services 
Senior Manager

Jonah Fitz

Marketing Senior 
Manager

Rita Benez

Distribution Senior 
Manager

Holly Megs

Production  
Director

Greta Beets

Procurement 
Senior Manager

Kari Patel

Warehouse 
Senior Manager

Paul Jones

Production 
Senior Manager

Gregor Cook

Herbs & Spices 
Manager
Luis Nota

Meal-Kit Bag 
Manager

Cal Neema

Box Assembly 
Manager

Bob Gould
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Finance: 

  

Finance Director
Jack Quinn

Finance Manager
Clare Turner

Finance Team
- 3 Finance Officers (of which YOU are 

one)
- 5 Finance Assistants 

Human Resources 
Manager 

Meena Jaff



 Operational Case Study Exam – May 2022–August 2022 

10 
©CIMA 2022. No reproduction without prior consent. 

Information about company operations 
Sales market and sales channel  

Meals@Home sells meal-kits direct to customers throughout Newland, through the company’s 
subscription service. The company supplies two sizes of meal-kits. A Small meal-kit contains 
enough ingredients to prepare two portions of a meal. A Large meal-kit contains enough 
ingredients to prepare four portions of a meal. Orders must be for 2, 3 or 4 meal-kits of the 
chosen size. The company does not sell individual meal-kits. Irrespective of the number of 
meal-kits ordered, they will all be delivered in one box.  

There are therefore six box options available to customers. Information about each of these 
options is as follows: 

 2 Small meal-kits 3 Small meal-kits 4 Small meal-kits 
Selling price* N$30.00 N$35.00 N$40.00 
Total number of portions 4 6 8 
Average price per portion N$7.50 N$5.83 N$5.00 

 

 2 Large meal-kits 3 Large meal-kits 4 Large meal-kits 
Selling price* N$40.00 N$50.00 N$60.00 
Total number of portions 8 12 16 
Average price per portion N$5.00 N$4.17 N$3.75 

 

*This is the full retail selling price of each type of box as advertised on the company website 
before any promotional discounts.  

The company is constantly developing new recipes and improving existing recipes for its meal-
kits. There are currently over 300 recipes in the company’s portfolio. The recipes available are 
rotated and changed every 2 weeks, with 50 different recipes available for order each week.  

The portfolio of recipes includes a range of meat, fish and vegetarian dishes. There are 
currently no vegan recipes available. The portfolio includes seasonal recipes which utilise 
ingredients appropriate for the season and which are more suited for certain times of year (for 
example, casseroles and stews for cold weather and salads for warmer weather).  

Customers need to be members of the subscription service before they can order a box of 
meal-kits. Membership is free and when the subscription is set up a customer selects whether 
they would like to receive a box of meal-kits once a week, once every 2 weeks or once a 
month. Customers also select whether to have Small or Large meal-kits and whether to include 
2, 3 or 4 meal-kits in each box. They also select any dietary preferences. Any of these initial 
preferences can be changed at any time and, when customers order their meal-kits, they can 
override preferences if, for example, they would prefer an extra meal-kit or Large rather than 
Small for a particular order. 

The customer is required to make their meal-kit selections at least 3 days before the box is 
due to be delivered. This can be done on the company website or via the Meals@Home app. 
The customer has the right to pause their subscription at any time without penalty.  
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However, if a customer forgets to pause or to select their meal-kit preferences, they will receive 
a box based on their saved preferences or past meal-kit selection and will be charged for this. 

The company offers promotional discounts throughout the year to attract new subscribers. A 
typical promotional discount will be 50% off the first box and 30% off each of the next two 
boxes. 

Production Facility  

The Production Facility is where all boxes of meal-kits sold by Meals@Home are produced. 
The facility includes temperate controlled warehousing for the storage of ingredients and 
packaging, and a production area where the boxes of meal-kits are assembled.  

Purchasing and suppliers of ingredients 

Ingredients included in the meal-kits can be categorised as follows:  

Category of ingredient Includes 
Long-life  Tins of, for example, chopped tomatoes, kidney 

beans or coconut milk. 
 Cartons of, for example, tomato sauce or chickpeas. 
 Packets of, for example, dried pasta or rice. 
 Dried herbs & spices. 

Fresh   Short-life baked goods such as, for example, wraps, 
bread rolls or naan bread. 

 Fruits 
 Vegetables  

Chilled  Meat 
 Fish 
 Dairy such as, for example, yoghurt, crème fraiche 

or cheese. 
 

Some of the long-life ingredients are used in many of our recipes. These ingredients are 
purchased in bulk to take advantage of bulk purchase discounts from suppliers. There is 
therefore always some inventory of these items. Fresh ingredients and chilled ingredients are 
purchased based on the meal-kit selections made by customers, to minimise wastage. 
Deliveries of fresh and chilled ingredients occur daily based on the next day’s box production. 
Other than dried herbs & spices, fruit, and vegetables, all ingredients are received from the 
supplier pre-portioned for either two portions or four portions.  

Meals@Home has a wide network of suppliers and has built up excellent relationships with 
them. Where possible the company seeks to source ingredients from Newland and all meat 
and most dairy is produced in Newland. Supplier payment terms range from 30 to 60 days.  
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Production processes 

Within the Production Facility there are three production processes, which are as follows: 

  

  

•Dried herbs and spices are purchased by 
Meals@Home in bulk.

•Some meal-kits require the herbs and spices 
to be portioned individually, others require a 
mix to be created.

•Via machinery, the appropriate herbs and 
spices for each meal-kit are portioned to give 
enough for either a Small or Large meal-kit.

•The meal-kit portions are sealed into packets 
made of bio-degradeable material.

Herbs & spices 
packets 

production

•A meal-kit bag contains all of the long-life 
ingredients for either a Small or Large meal-
kit. This includes any dried herbs & spices  
packets required.

•Meal-kit bags are assembled on an 
automated production line that operates 20 
hours a day, 7 days a week. The production 
line can deal with multiple meal-kits at the 
same time. 

•Meal-kit bags are usually produced the week 
before the meal-kits are due for despatch.

Meal-kit bag 
production

•Boxes of meal-kits start to be assembled and 
packed 4 hours before despatch.

•The packing of ingredients into the box is a 
largely manual process, which is carried out 
on a production line that runs through the 
facility.

•The box packing process is detailed below.

Box packing
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The box packing process is as follows: 

 

 

At the start of the production line, the system generates a label which contains a 
unique barcode which when scanned gives the size and meal-kit selections based on 

the customer order. 

Based on the label, the correct sized outer box is selected by robot and formed. An 
inner chill box is also placed into the outer box by robot. Both the outer box and inner 
chill box are made from recycled cardboard. The label for the box is stuck to the top of 

the outer box.

The box moves along the production line to the meal-kit bag area where the 
appropriate meal-kit bags based on the unique barcode are picked and placed into the 

bottom of the box by robots. Recipe cards are also added at this stage.

The box moves along the production line to the fresh ingredients area. The packer 
scans the unique barcode on a hand-held tablet which gives them a list of the fresh 

ingredients needed. The appropriate fresh ingredients are picked and then packed into 
the box on top of the meal-kit bags. Most fresh fruit and vegetables are packed loose. 
Care is taken by the packer to reduce the risk of ingredients being damaged in transit.  

The box moves along the production line into the chilled area of the Production 
Facility. The packer in this area scans the unqiue barcode on their hand-held tablet to 

generate the chilled ingredients picking list. The ingredients are picked and then 
carefully packed into the inner chill box section. 

The box moves to the final section of the production line. There is a check to ensure 
that the ingredients have been appropriately packed and a frozen eco-chill-bag is 
placed onto the chilled items to keep them cool in transit. The inner chill box lid is 
closed and the box is passed through machinery which closes and seals the outer 

box. The boxes are then transferred to the despatch area via conveyor belt.
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Packaging  

Packaging is a significant component of a box of meal-kits. All packaging is purchased from a 
single supplier. The main elements of packaging purchased by Meals@Home are: 

 The strong outer box, which is made from 100% recycled corrugated cardboard.   
 The inner chill box, which is made from layers of corrugated cardboard which act as 

insulation. This is also made from 100% recycled cardboard. 
 The eco-chill-bag, which has an inner gel core which can be frozen. The bag can be 

refrozen and reused by the customer.  
 Meal-kit bags which are made from 100% recycled paper. 

The packaging supplier’s production facility  is located  5 kilometres from Meals@Home’s 
Production Facility. Since 2013, Meals@Home has worked closely with this supplier to 
develop new ideas for packaging, including the recently launched inner chill box. 

Reducing the carbon footprint associated with the packaging used in boxes of meal-kits is a 
priority of Meals@Home. There have already been significant improvements in the 
sustainability of packaging since the company started trading. These include: 

 Ensuring that all outer boxes are made from 100% recycled cardboard. 
 Removing packaging from most fruit and vegetables. These are now packed loose in 

the box. 
 Working with suppliers of ingredients to reduce the non-compostable plastic content 

in their packaging. 
 Using packets made from bio-degradable material for the dried herbs and spice 

portions. 
 Introducing the inner chill box and multiple-use eco-chill-bag to replace single-use 

plastic chill-bags.  

Distribution 

Distribution of boxes of meal-kits to customers is outsourced to a major distribution company 
which delivers anywhere within Newland 7 days a week. The distributor uses a fleet of 
refrigerated vehicles. Currently, 75% of this fleet is powered by diesel and 25% by electricity 
or biogas. The distributor aims for 90% of its fleet to be powered by electricity or biogas within 
5 years.  

Employees 

Meals@Home had the following number of employees on 31 December 2021: 

 Number 
Production Facility 445 
Head Office 62 
Total 507 
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Standard costing and budgets  
The company operates a standard absorption costing system using departmental overhead 
absorption rates based on either direct labour hours or machine hours. The standard cost of 
the ingredients for each meal-kit is established when the recipe for the meal-kit is developed 
and is updated for known price changes twice a year. Standards for all other direct inputs 
(packaging and direct labour) are established per box of meal-kits and are usually updated 
twice a year for known price changes.  

The budgeting process is centrally managed by the Finance Department with limited 
involvement of middle or lower-level management.  
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The meal-kit industry  
The first company to sell a complete meal-kit (Hoopers Delight) did so in the United States of 
America in 2008. Sales of meal-kits were initially slow to begin with, but by 2012 there was 
significant growth throughout the world.  

Meal-kits avoid the need to shop for groceries and limit the amount of food waste at home. As 
such, early meal-kit companies targeted young professionals rather than families. Over the 
years, this has changed and families now account for the largest share of the market. Busy 
family life and the desire to eat quick and easy-to-prepare home cooked meals, rather than 
takeaways or unhealthy convenience foods, has driven this increase. 

The meal-kit industry in Newland 

Within Newland there are currently six large companies that sell meal-kits. Each of these six 
companies generated revenues from the sale of meal-kits in 2021 of more than N$50 million. 
Two of these (Hoopers Delight and 5*Meals) are multi-national companies with worldwide 
sales, the other four (GDQ Meals-Kits, Meals@Home, GoFood and Prestige Kits) operate and 
sell meal-kits only in Newland. There are also several smaller companies that sell meal-kits 
and either operate regionally or offer a bespoke service focused on, for example, party 
catering or different international cuisines. 

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total revenue from meal-kit sales in Newland was 
split as follows:  

 

 

26%

19%

15%

11%

10%

9%

10%

PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL REVENUE: 2021 

Hoopers Delight (26%) GDQ Meal-Kits (19%) 5*Meals (15%)

Meals@Home (11%) GoFood (10%) Prestige Kits (9%)

Other smaller suppliers (10%)
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All six of the large companies have seen significant growth in revenue over the past 5 years, 
averaging 7% per year. Each of these companies has its own unique selling point. For 
example, Meals@Home focuses on nutritional healthy meals, but others focus on vegetarian 
and/or vegan meals, organic ingredients or different international cuisines.  

The rate of growth in the market has now started to decline and therefore many of the 
companies in this market have recently started to extend their product ranges. For example, 
GDQ Meal-Kits has just launched a range of frozen ready meals and Prestige Kits, a range of 
healthy smoothies, soups and protein bars.  

Challenges facing the meal-kit industry in Newland 

The following are the key challenges facing companies operating in the meal-kit industry in 
Newland: 

 Increasingly aggressive price competition within the market. 
 A reduction in customer loyalty as customers switch companies to take advantage of 

initial promotional offers. 
 Pressure to reduce the amount of packaging. 
 Sustainable sourcing of ingredients and packaging.  
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Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 
Meals@Home 
Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

 2021 
N$000 

2020 
N$000 

Revenue 62,500 50,350 
Cost of sales (33,750) (28,045) 
Gross profit 28,750 22,305 
Selling, distribution and marketing costs (14,375) (12,600) 
Administrative expenses (18,075) (17,450) 
Operating loss (3,700) (7,745) 
Finance costs (396) (535) 
Loss before tax (4,096) (8,280) 
Income tax on loss - - 
Loss for the year (4,096) (8,280) 
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Meals@Home 
Statement of financial position at 31 December 2021  
 
 2021 

N$000 
2021 

N$000 
2020 

N$000 
2020 

N$000 
ASSETS     
Non-current assets     
Intangible assets 3,690  3,105  
Property, plant and equipment 5,945  6,840  
  9,635  9,945 
Current assets     
Inventory 2,300  1,950  
Other receivables 1,160  1,225  
Cash and cash equivalents 329  -  
  3,789  3,175 
Total assets  13,424  13,120 
     
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
Issued N$1 equity share capital  600  500 
Share premium  35,300  30,400 
Retained earnings  (38,196)  (34,100) 
Total equity  (2,296)  (3,200) 
     
Non-current liabilities     
Borrowings  5,600  5,600 
     
Current liabilities     
Overdraft  -  1,240 
Trade and other payables  10,120  9,480 
     
Total equity and liabilities  13,424  13,120 

 

  



 Operational Case Study Exam – May 2022–August 2022 

20 
©CIMA 2022. No reproduction without prior consent. 

Meals@Home 
Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
 N$000 N$000 
Cash flows from operating activities   
Loss before tax  (4,096) 
Adjustments   
Amortisation of intangible assets 620  
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment 890  
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 80  
Finance costs 396  
  1,986 
Movements in working capital   
Increase in inventory (350)  
Decrease in other receivables 65  
Increase in trade and other payables  640  
  355 
Cash generated from operations  (1,755) 
   
Tax paid  -  
Interest paid (396) (396) 
Net cash outflow from operating activities  (2,151) 
   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Purchase of intangible assets (1,205)  
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (275)  
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 200  
Net cash outflow from investing activities  (1,280) 
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Issue of share capital  5,000  
Net cash inflow from financing activities  5,000 
   
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1,569 
   
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year  (1,240) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  329 
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Budget information for the year ending 31 December 2022 
 

Total budgeted operating profit: 

 Boxes of 
Small  

meal-kits 
N$000 

Boxes of 
Large  

meal-kits 
N$000 

 
 

Total 
N$000 

Revenue 30,305 45,505 75,810 
Cost of sales:    
   Ingredients & packaging (7,799) (15,271) (23,070) 
   Direct labour (4,341) (5,850) (10,191) 
   Variable production overhead (399) (557) (956) 
   Fixed production overhead (1,892) (2,652) (4,544) 
Gross profit 15,874 21,175 37,049 
Selling, distribution and marketing costs  (15,920) 
Administrative expenses   (19,000) 
Operating profit  2,129 

 

Budgeted sales: 

Boxes of Small meal-kits: 

 2 meal-kits 3 meal-kits 4 meal-kits Total 
Product code S2 S3 S4  
Number of boxes sold 150,000 440,000 300,000 890,000 
Selling price* (N$) 28.50 33.25 38.00  
     
 N$000 N$000 N$000 N$000 
Revenue 4,275 14,630 11,400 30,305 

 

Boxes of Large meal-kits: 

 2 meal-kits 3 meal-kits 4 meal-kits Total 
Product code L2 L3 L4  
Number of boxes sold 110,000 330,000 450,000 890,000 
Selling price* (N$) 38.00 47.50 57.00  
     
 N$000 N$000 N$000 N$000 
Revenue 4,180 15,675 25,650 45,505 

 

*This is the selling price after an allowance for expected promotional discounts. 
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Budgeted gross profit: 

Boxes of Small meal-kits: 

 2 meal-kits 
N$000 

3 meal-kits 
N$000 

4 meal-kits 
N$000 

Total 
N$000 

Revenue 4,275 14,630 11,400 30,305 
Costs of sales:     
  Ingredients & packaging (885) (3,674) (3,240) (7,799) 
  Direct labour (495) (2,046) (1,800) (4,341) 
  Variable production overhead (44) (188) (167) (399) 
  Fixed production overhead (212) (890) (790) (1,892) 
Gross profit 2,639 7,832 5,403 15,874 
     
 N$ N$ N$  
Average gross profit per box 17.59 17.80 18.01  
     
Gross profit margin 61.7% 53.5% 47.4% 52.4% 

 

Boxes of Large meal-kits: 

 2 meal-kits 
N$000 

3 meal-kits 
N$000 

4 meal-kits 
N$000 

Total 
N$000 

Revenue 4,180 15,675 25,650 45,505 
Costs of sales:     
  Ingredients & packaging (1,144) (5,082) (9,045) (15,271) 
  Direct labour (495) (1,980) (3,375) (5,850) 
  Variable production overhead (45) (186) (326) (557) 
  Fixed production overhead (216) (890) (1,546) (2,652) 
Gross profit 2,280 7,537 11,358 21,175 
     
 N$ N$ N$  
Average gross profit per box 20.73 22.84 25.24  
     
Gross profit margin 54.5% 48.1% 44.3% 46.5% 
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Example standard cost card  

 
Large, 2 meal-kit box 

 
Meal-kits: (A) Vegetable curry and (B) Chicken skewers 

 
  

Number of portions 
Standard 
cost per 
portion 

N$ 

Standard 
cost per 

box 
N$ 

Standard 
cost per 

box 
N$ 

Ingredients:      
Ingredients for meal-kit (A)  4 1.08 4.32  
Ingredients for meal-kit (B) 4 1.20 4.80  
    9.12 
 Number of units of 

each input 
Standard 
cost per 

unit of 
input 

N$ 

  

Packaging & other:     
Recipe cards 2 0.20 0.40  
Outer box 1 0.30 0.30  
Other packaging  1 0.70 0.70  
    1.40 
Direct labour:     
Herbs & spices  0.02 labour hours 15.00 0.30  
Meal-kit bags 0.04 labour hours 15.00 0.60  
Box packing 0.24 labour hours 15.00 3.60  
    4.50 
Production overheads:     
Variable:     
Herbs & spices  0.05 machine hours 1.62 0.08  
Meal-kit bags 0.10 machine hours 1.18 0.12  
Box packing 0.24 labour hours 0.86 0.21  
    0.41 
Fixed:     
Herbs & spices  0.05 machine hours 6.49 0.32  
Meal-kit bags 0.10 machine hours 4.72 0.47  
Box packing 0.24 labour hours 4.85 1.16  
    1.95 
     
Total production cost    17.38 
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Notes on standards and budget preparation  

1. Standards are usually reviewed and updated twice a year.  
2. Each meal-kit has a separate standard cost per portion for the ingredients. This 

standard cost per portion includes a small allowance for normal wastage of ingredients.  
3. All direct labour overtime premium is treated as variable production overhead. Idle time 

is not budgeted for. 
4. Production overheads are allocated and apportioned to cost centres and absorbed 

based on either direct labour hours or machine hours. There are three production 
overhead cost centres: herbs & spices production, meal-kit bag production and box 
packing. Each production cost centre has its own variable and fixed production 
overhead absorption rates. 

5. Budgeted selling prices include an allowance for expected promotional discounts.  
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Articles 

Technology Fortnight 
April 2022    No. 89  
 

AI and robotics – meal-
kit companies are 
rushing to embrace the 
possibilities  
 

Gabriel De Palma - Business Correspondent 

One of the challenges being faced by the growing 
meal-kit sector is how to manage the 
unpredictability of the weather. An unexpected 
wet weather front can drive a surge in demand for 
warming stews, whilst sunny weather can 
encourage a last-minute switch to a salad-based 
kit. 
 

And it’s not just a matter of planning ingredients 
procurement without knowing which menus may 
suddenly become popular. The weather can also 
have an impact on box packing and delivery 
schedules.  
 

In a sudden heatwave, for example, extra ice 
bags are needed in all the meal boxes. And in 
inclement weather, traffic congestion increases 
as more people use their cars, and, in rural areas, 
flash floods or closed roads may follow – leading 
to unplanned delays and even missed deliveries.  
 

Artificial intelligence is offering a solution. 
Advanced weather mapping software uses 
complex algorithms to combine historic weather 
information with current data and other regional 
factors to predict local conditions.  
 

Meal-kit companies can now invest in weather 
platforms which link to these prediction systems. 
The platforms inform and support logistics 
planning across the business – improving 
forecasts and then updating menu plans, 
procurement systems, 

packing instructions and delivery schedules 
to take account of the likely weather 
conditions in each area. 
 

Another area where AI is being integrated 
into meal-kit production is in the packing 
plants. Whilst many elements of the kits, 
such as seasonings and store cupboard 
staples, can be packed in advance, the fresh 
ingredients are added at the last minute. And 
since many items require gentle handling, 
they are packed by hand.  
 

Enter the robot packer. Programmable, 
configurable and endlessly gentle, robotic 
packers are now being used to pick and pack 
the fruit and vegetables needed to complete 
each kit. These robotic arms are offering 
automated quality control and real time 
traceability of packing systems – and 
producing labour savings at the same time. 
 

Add to these examples, the increasing use of 
chatbots to manage customer requests – 
such as address changes and delivery slots, 
and the involvement of AI in areas such as 
factory layout planning – and the picture is of 
an industry being transformed by new 
technologies.   
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Packaging Gazette 
May 2022  

Meals@Home win 
Newland Sustainable 
Packaging Award 
 
By: Jess Taylor  
 
It is no secret that the meal-kit industry has 
seen unprecedented growth in Newland over 
the past few years and brings with it a myriad 
of new and existing sustainability, logistic and 
cost factors for the packaging industry. To 
break some of those down we caught up with 
Ben Jonas, Sales & Marketing Director of 
Meals@Home following its win at the Newland 
Sustainable Food Business Packaging 
Awards 2022, to ask him a few questions: 
 
How important is sustainability in your 
business model? 
 
“Sustainability is paramount for us, and we 
want to be able to grow the business whilst 
making our products and packaging more 
sustainable. We have also seen our 
customers become more eco-conscious with 
sustainability being a key search term when 
selecting meal-kits. In addition to our 
expanding plant-based meal-kit options, eco-
friendly packaging is of paramount importance 
to us. We were the first meal-kit company in 
Newland to introduce compostable packaging. 
Despite this raising packaging costs by more 
than 25% to reduce plastic use, we didn’t raise 
our prices.”  
 
What is the importance of packaging 
sustainability to meal-kit deliveries? 
 
“As well as this aim of reducing plastic we have 
also looked to reduce waste, so for instance 
delivering vegetables loose in the box rather 
than wrapped in plastic. As well as this we 
have developed alternative materials such as 
recycled cardboard to help in this area.” 
 

And are there any key payoffs between 
sustainability and functionality in your context? 
 
“Of course, all businesses should look to use more 
sustainable practices, however economic factors 
need to be considered.  We were able to absorb the 
increase in packaging costs with efficiency savings 
which allowed us to become more sustainable but 
for some businesses more expensive processes will 
undoubtedly lead to price increases for customers. 
However, we are looking to expand our sustainable 
credentials by using water saving technologies. In 
addition, we have developed our own energy 
supplies using air source heat pumps and solar 
panels. Whilst some measures such as packaging 
may cost more, others, such as water saving and 
energy, save costs. And with more consumers 
turning to eco-conscious businesses and brands we 
believe that there is a pay-off. In the future I can see 
this being looked on favourably by finance providers, 
such as banks, which may lead to lower interest 
costs for businesses in the future.” 
 

 
In your view, what does the future hold for 
packaging in your industry? 
 
“Ultimately, we all want to see less plastic clogging 
up our oceans and damaging our environment. 
When we first introduced compostable packaging, 
we hoped that other businesses would follow us.  
So, in future years we hope to see other companies, 
not only in our industry, but in others as well, make 
their packaging more environmentally friendly if not 
fully compostable. Not only in consumer facing 
businesses but in all businesses throughout the food 
production process.”  
 
 

Plastic pollution in our oceans 
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Tax regime in Newland 
 

• The corporate income tax rate to be applied to taxable profits is 20%.  
• Unless otherwise stated below, accounting rules on recognition and measurement are 

followed for tax purposes.  
• The following expenses are not allowable for tax purposes:  

o accounting depreciation  
o amortisation  
o impairment charges  
o entertaining expenditure  
o donations to political parties  
o taxes paid to other public bodies.  

• Tax depreciation allowances are available on all items of plant and equipment 
(including computer equipment) at a rate of 25% per year on a reducing balance basis. 
A full year’s allowance is available in the year that the asset is acquired. Tax 
depreciation allowances are not available for property assets. 

• Where a business sells a property asset, a chargeable gain or loss will arise. A 
chargeable gain can be reduced by indexation allowance, but the indexation allowance 
cannot be used to create a chargeable loss. Chargeable gains are subject to capital 
tax at a rate of 20%. Chargeable losses can be carried forward indefinitely to offset 
against future chargeable gains.  

• Tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely to offset against future taxable profits 
from the same business. 

• Sales tax is charged on all standard rated goods and services at a rate of 15%. Tax 
paid on inputs into a business can be netted off against the tax charged on outputs 
from that business. All businesses are required to settle the amount due on a monthly 
basis.  
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OPERATIONAL CASE STUDY 

MAY & AUGUST 2022 

EXAM ANSWERS 
 

Variant 1 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 1 
 
Flexible budgeting 
 
Preparing flexible cost budgets 
 
The original cost budget shown in Table 1 reflects the costs associated with our 
budgeted level of production of meal-kit boxes sold direct to consumers and excludes 
any production to satisfy corporate sales. To determine a flexed cost budget, we first 
need to establish what we expect our volume of production to be in the period, 
including what is needed to satisfy sales to the corporate customers. Based on this 
volume, we can then determine the level of each type of cost, which will depend on 
whether the costs vary with the level of activity or if there are any step ups in fixed 
costs arising from increased production volumes. 
 
We need to determine which of our production-related costs are variable and which 
are fixed in nature. Variable costs vary with the level of activity, which, in our case, is 
the volume of boxes of meal kits produced. Our variable costs include ingredients and 
packaging, direct labour and the portion of production overheads which are variable. 
The budget for these variable costs can be flexed by multiplying the cost per box for 
each type of box (for which we have standards already established) by the new 
production volume for each type of box sold. Fixed production overheads are, as the 
name suggests, fixed, which means that they will not change with the level of activity. 
However, we need to consider whether there will be any step up in the fixed cost 
arising from, for example, expanding production capacity to cope with the higher 
volume. Such a step in fixed costs may arise from having to invest in new production 
equipment. 
  

These answers have been provided by CIMA for information purposes only. The answers 
created are indicative of a response that could be given by a good candidate. They are not to 
be considered exhaustive, and other appropriate relevant responses would receive credit. 
 
CIMA will not accept challenges to these answers on the basis of academic judgement. 
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Selling, distribution and marketing costs will contain a fixed and variable element, and 
these will need to be split out and quantified separately. For example, the distribution 
cost paid to our external distributor for delivering boxes of meal kits is likely to be 
variable and to vary with the number of boxes delivered. For distribution cost, we will 
need to establish a cost per box delivered and to multiply this by the new number of 
boxes expected to be sold. Marketing costs are likely to be fixed, although there may 
be a step up in these costs to attract new corporate customers, which will need to be 
reflected. Administrative expenses are mostly fixed, although there may be a small 
increase just by having corporate customers. For example, there will be a need for a 
credit controller.  
 
The importance of flexing the original cost budget 
 
Preparing flexible cost budgets allows us to see the impact that the increase in 
production volume arising from new corporate customers will have on total budgeted 
costs. This, in turn, will allow us to see the impact on profit  once we take into account 
the increased revenue. Preparing the flexed cost budget will also allow the different 
managers to plan their actions accordingly. For example, by considering whether there 
are any step ups in fixed costs, Greta Beets, Production Director, will have a better 
idea of whether production capacity will need to be expanded because of the increase 
in production. 
 
Preparing a flexed cost budget for one level of activity can easily be replicated for 
different levels of activity. While we know that there is likely to be demand from this 
type of customer, there is a lot of uncertainty over the number of boxes of meal kits 
that we will be able to sell to them. We know that some companies are already using 
our competitors, and therefore we may struggle to gain a foothold in the market. 
Alternatively, if the price is right, we could see significant growth over the initial period, 
especially as we are already a well-known brand in Newland. Therefore, preparing 
flexed costs budgets at different activity levels would give us insight into the 
possibilities. 
 
Receivables management 
 
Factors to consider when agreeing to initial credit terms  
 
The credit terms that we will need to agree with the new corporate customers have 
two elements: the maximum amount of credit we will extend (which limits the value of 
sales to the customer) and the length of time we allow for payment (the credit period). 
With respect to the credit period, we will need to consider whether there is an industry 
norm, as corporate customers are likely to expect at least these terms.  
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Selling on credit is an accepted part of Business to Business (B2B) trading, and 
therefore we need to consider the balance of the benefits of allowing generous credit 
terms (possibly increased sales) with the potential drawbacks on a customer-by-
customer basis. These drawbacks include having to finance the receivables balances 
and the impact of any increase in the administrative burden on the company because 
customers are given longer to pay.  
 
When setting credit terms, we also need to consider the likelihood that we will supply 
boxes of meal kits to a corporate customer that then does not pay us. The greater the 
maximum level of credit given, the larger the potential impact on profit if this happens. 
Also, the longer the credit period that we offer, the higher the balance owed will be, 
and the greater the chance that the customer falls into financial difficulty and does not 
pay. We will need to assess creditworthiness and risk profile by looking at information 
such as financial statements, press reports and so on, for each potential corporate 
customer. The size and age of a company should also be considered: the smaller and 
newer the company, potentially the higher the risk of non-payment. The higher the 
risk, the lower the credit terms that should be offered. 
 
Managing receivable balances of credit customers  
 
After we start trading with corporate customers, it will be important to ensure that they 
are adhering to their credit terms and the credit period. We may decide to set up a 
specialist credit control function within our Finance Department or utilise existing 
resources to monitor and manage the receivables. It would be a good idea to at least 
engage a specialist credit controller, given that we have not sold on credit before. 
 
Either weekly or monthly, we will need to generate an aged receivables report showing 
all amounts owed by customers, highlighting any amounts that are overdue and how 
overdue these amounts are. Any customer that has an overdue amount should be 
contacted, either by email or by telephone, and asked for payment. Customers that 
are continuously late in paying will be noted and discussed by senior management, 
and, if it is deemed prudent, these customers will have the credit terms adapted, or 
even have their accounts put on stop. 
 
If a customer ignores the initial request for payment, we will need to contact them 
again with a firmer request for payment. Indeed, we may need to have a series of Pro-
forma letters available that become sterner, with the ultimate action being taking the 
customer to court for non-payment.   
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SECTION 2 
 
Costing of new corporate customer app 
 

How to determine the cost per user of the new app   
 
The cost per user of the app will be any direct costs per user, plus the total of any 
other direct costs associated with the app divided by the number of app users, plus an 
appropriate share of any indirect costs associated with all of the company’s apps 
divided by the number of app users. A direct cost is any cost that can be directly 
associated with this specific app, and an indirect cost is any cost that relates to more 
than one app. 
 
To determine the cost per user of the new corporate customer app, we need to 
establish any direct costs associated with a single user of this new app. This will 
include the royalty fee of N$0.10, payable each time the app is downloaded by a user. 
It will also include the fee charged by the platform providers for each download. It 
should be noted that some users may download from multiple platforms on different 
devices. 
 
We also need to establish any direct costs associated with this specific app. This will 
include the up-front cost of N$450,000 paid to the external app development company, 
the future fixed fee payable to the platform providers for the app and the future 
functional and administrative service costs where these costs relate specifically to the 
new corporate customer app.  
 
The indirect costs are those that relate to all apps that we operate and will include 
infrastructure, functional services and IT support services costs, where the cost relates 
to more than one app. This will include a mixture of upfront costs (for example, the 
upgrading of the servers) and ongoing future costs (for example, maintenance of an 
administrative dashboard to manage the app). 
 
The difficulties of determining a cost per user of the app 
 
Lifetime of the app: At this early stage, it is difficult to foresee the lifetime of the app. 
It is possible that the app is superseded by alternative technology or indeed that we 
decide to stop selling meal kits to corporate customers, and therefore the app 
becomes redundant. The uncertainty over the lifetime of the app has implications for 
determining the future ongoing costs of running the app and also how many users 
there will be over the app’s lifetime. 
 
Number of users: Even if we knew the lifetime of the app, it will be difficult to estimate 
the number of users of the app. Currently, we have three large corporate customers 
interested, but presumably, this will increase over time.  
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It will also be hard to estimate how many of each customer’s employees will become 
users of the app, as each employee will presumably have free choice over whether to 
use this option in their salary sacrifice scheme. In addition, a single user may download 
the app more than once, which will affect how we determine the direct cost per user.  
 
Future costs: Many of the direct and indirect costs associated with the app will be 
incurred in the future, and it will be difficult to establish up-front what these costs are. 
Even if we know the lifetime of the app (and therefore how many years of cost to 
include), we do not at this stage know how much work will be required to fix bugs or 
update software as time progresses. 
 
Sharing of costs: The indirect costs that relate to more than one app need to be 
shared between all of the apps. It is potentially difficult to determine what an 
appropriate share might be, as we would need to find a meaningful way to apportion 
these costs that reflects the usage of the shared resources by each app. 
 
Transaction processing decision to outsource or to do in-house 
 
Relevant and irrelevant costs  
 
A relevant cost is a future incremental cash flow that arises as a result of making a 
decision. In this case, the decision is either to outsource or to keep transaction 
processing in-house.  
 
For each of the costs listed for the outsource option: 
 

• The outsources partner fee is relevant because this will be a future cash flow that will 

only occur if we accept the contract and outsource. 

• The negotiation cost is irrelevant. The N$200 of travel expenses, while a future cash 

flow of the business, is a commitment because Ravi has already incurred these 

expenses while undertaking the negotiation. The cost of Ravi’s time is irrelevant as he 

is on a fixed salary, and therefore there is no incremental cash flow. 

For each of the costs listed for the in-house option: 
 

• The employee cost is relevant because we will need to employ two additional people 

if we keep the transaction processing in-house. This is therefore an incremental future 

cost of this decision. 

• The annual lease payment of N$10,000 for the computer equipment is irrelevant 

because this lease has already been signed, and therefore the company is committed 

to incur this cost and is unavoidable. However, the cost of the second lease of 

N$10,200 is a relevant cost because this lease will only be signed if transaction 

processing is done in-house.  

• The annual lease payment for software is a relevant cost because this lease will only 

be agreed if the transaction processing occurs in-house. Therefore, the cost is 

incremental to the decision.   
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• The additional IT support cost of N$8,000 is an irrelevant cost because the IT 

employees are already employed and therefore will be paid their salaries regardless 

of what they will be working on. However, the N$5,000 that will need to be spent on 

the external consultants for the other project is a relevant cost because this will only 

arise if the in-house transaction processing option is taken. 

Other factors to consider 
 
We need our transactions to be processed correctly so that we have timely and 
accurate accounting information available to allow us to prepare both management 
accounts and financial statements. As such, it may be considered a core activity, and 
therefore it may not be appropriate to outsource this work. Robot process automation 
of the work may be a more appropriate alternative.  
 
If we outsource, we are giving an external party access to our data which may lead to 
issues over the security and privacy of the data. We would need to ensure that the 
outsourcing partner chosen has sufficient controls in place to protect the security and 
privacy of our data. 
 
If we outsource now, it may prove difficult to bring transaction processing back in-
house if we later decide in a year that this is what we need to do.  Also, we may lose 
some contact with our customers and suppliers as a result of outsourcing transaction 
processing, which could damage relationships. 
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SECTION 3 
 
KPIs for monitoring the performance of the Corporate Sales Manager 
 
Growth in sales volumes month on month: The Corporate Sales Manager will be 
responsible for securing new customers and managing relationships with existing 
customers, and therefore growth in sales volumes month on month will indicate how 
successful they have been. Growth in sales may result from new customers or may 
result from existing customers buying more boxes, so it will be important to consider 
these separately. Growth in sales volumes month on month should therefore be 
measured in two ways: on a like-for-like basis and on a new customer basis. The like-
for-like KPI could be measured in total or on a customer-by-customer basis. The latter 
would be measured as sales volume this month fewer sales volume last month divided 
by sales volumes last month for each customer. For all measures of sales growth, the 
KPI will need to be compared to a target.     
 
Customer retention rate: The Corporate Sales Manager will be responsible for 
managing relationships with existing customers, and therefore a measure of how 
successful they are at this will be the customer retention rate. This would be measured 
as the number of customers at the start of the month less any of those customers lost 
during the month divided by the number of customers at the start of the month. This is 
an important measure because it is an indication of customer satisfaction with our 
service and is an indicator that the Corporate Sales Manager has developed good 
relationships with customers. 
 
Percentage of discount given by customer: The Corporate Sales Manager has the 
authority to give discounts to corporate customers up to a maximum of 25% off the full 
retail price. While discounts are an important aspect of the pricing of our meal-kit 
subscriptions, a high level of discounts reduces our margins significantly and therefore 
reduces profit. We need to ensure that there is an appropriate balance between giving 
away discounts to gain volume and losing volume as a result of no discount, especially 
given that the Corporate Sales Manager’s commission is based on sales volumes. In 
line with how we treat our direct customers, we might expect the Corporate Sales 
Manager to give away higher levels of discount when a corporate customer is first 
signed up, but for the percentage discount to fall as trading continues. The KPI would 
be measured for each customer as the discount percentage given that month and this 
would be compared to previous months and to a target. This target should be different 
for new and existing customers. 
 
Potential benefits and drawbacks of participation in budget and KPI target 
setting 
 
Potential benefits 
 
While Bina Keo is new to our business, she has experience of selling meal-kit 
subscription services to corporate clients because she worked in a similar role for one 
of our competitors.  
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As a result, she is likely to have a good understanding of the corporate customer 
market in Newland in respect of a number of potential customers as well as things like 
the level of discounts likely to be required to secure and retain customers. Given this 
is a very new market for us, Bina’s experience may lead to more realistic targets and 
budgets.      
Allowing Bina to participate in the budget and target setting process is likely to motivate 
her to strive towards meeting the budgets and targets and for her to take responsibility 
for achieving them. If Ben Jonas were to impose a sales budget and KPI targets 
without any involvement of Bina, it is possible that she would be demotivated and 
would blame any non-achievement of targets on the target setting process.  
 
Potential drawbacks 
 
A potential drawback to allowing Bina to participate in setting her budgets and targets 
is that she may introduce some slack to ensure that the targets are easily achievable 
or manipulate the targets to her advantage. Since Bina will earn a commission based 
on the volume of boxes sold to corporate customers, it will be in her interest to set a 
high threshold for discounts given away, as this will allow her to secure higher volumes 
and therefore a higher commission. The discounting could however be detrimental to 
the overall level of profit earned.  
 
Another drawback is that time and expense may be required to train Bina, and then 
any future Corporate Sales Managers, on how to complete the task. 
 
Decision criteria 
 
Maximax criterion 
The maximax criterion is where the decision-maker takes an optimistic approach. In 
this approach, the alternative that maximises the maximum payoff achievable under 
each of the initial order size options will be selected. In other words, we should select 
the best of the best. The best payoff under Option 1 is N$7,500, under Option 2 is 
N$14,000 and under Option 3 is N$18,750.  Of these, the highest and therefore best 
payoff is N$18,750, and therefore under this criterion, we would choose Option 3.  
 
Maximin criterion 
The maximin criterion is where the decision-maker takes a pessimistic approach. In 
this approach, the alternative that maximises the minimum payoff achievable under 
each of the initial order size options will be selected. Using this approach, we would 
select the best from the worst. The worst payoffs under Option 1 is N$2,500, under 
Option 2 is N$7,000 and under Option 3 is N$5,750. Of these, the highest and best of 
the worst payoffs is N$7,000, and therefore under this criterion, we would choose 
Option 2.  
 
Minimax regret criterion 
Under the minimax regret criterion, the alternative that minimises the maximum regret 
under each of the initial order size options is selected. This is generally used when we 
want to minimise the regret of making a bad decision. ‘Regret’ refers to the opportunity 
loss from having made the wrong decision.  
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Table 2 shows the regret depending on the number of subscribers and the initial order 
option. For example, if the number of subscribers turned out to be low, we would have 
no regret if we had chosen option 1. The regret for each of the other order options is 
the difference between the additional profit of N$7,500 and the additional profit from 
each of the other order options. The maximum regret is N$16,250 for Option 1, 
N$7,750 for Option 2 and N$1,750 for Option 3. To minimise maximum regret, we 
should select Option 3.   
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SECTION 4 
 
Sales variances 
 
Sales price variances: The sales price variance measures the difference between 
the actual selling price achieved and the standard selling price for the actual volumes 
sold. The nil variance for Customer 1 means that there has been no negotiation on the 
original price set. However, the adverse variance for Customer 2 means that Bina Keo 
has negotiated a further discount with Customer 2. This may have been in a bid to 
make it more attractive to Customer 2’s employees to increase the numbers of boxes 
sold, given that there is a favourable quantity variance for this customer (see below). 
However, overall, this attempt to win sales does not seem to have been successful 
given that the adverse price variance outweighs the favourable mix and quantity 
variances for Customer 2. 
 
Sales mix profit variances: The sales mix profit variance measures the change in 
profit due to a change in the mix of meal kits sold. For Customer 1, the favourable mix 
variances mean that we sold proportionately more of the vegetarian boxes (where 
standard profit is higher than the weighted average) and proportionately fewer of our 
meat/fish boxes (where the standard profit is less than the weighted average). The 
adverse variance for combination is because we sold proportionately fewer of this 
type, which has a higher-than-average standard profit. For Customer 2, there is a 
different change in the budgeted mix. Here, the adverse variance for vegetarians 
means that we sold proportionately fewer boxes of this type (which has the highest 
standard profit). The favourable variances indicate that we sold proportionately fewer 
boxes of meat/fish and proportionately more combination boxes. 
 
There is a favourable overall variance for both Customer 1 and Customer 2, which 
means that we generated more profit due to the change in mix. The reason for these 
changes in the mix is likely to be driven by increasing awareness (fuelled in part by 
the recent television series) of the impact of eating meat and fish on the environment. 
Customer 1 employees appear to have opted for a higher proportion of vegetarian 
boxes instead of meat/fish boxes. Customer 2 employees appear to have opted for a 
higher proportion of combination boxes instead of meat/fish boxes. There could be 
many reasons why Customer 1 employees may have reacted more strongly towards 
being wholly vegetarian, including their age profile and location. We need to consider 
going forward whether this trend towards vegetarian meal kits is a permanent feature, 
and whether we need to consider changing our budgeted mix for these customers, but 
also elsewhere in the business. 
 
Sales quantity profit variances: The sales quantity profit variance measures the 
change in profit due to selling more or fewer boxes of meal kits at the standard mix. 
The adverse variance for Customer 1 means that, overall, we sold fewer boxes of meal 
kits than budgeted.  
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A possible reason for this is that maybe the type of people employed by Customer 1 
is less interested in subscribing to a meal-kit service than we anticipated. Maybe the 
employees of Customer 1 prefer to use salary sacrifice schemes for other options such 
as gym memberships or maybe the original price negotiated by the employer made 
the salary sacrifice option unattractive. Another possibility is that because many of 
Customer 1’s employees live in urban settings where they have more opportunities for 
eating out and therefore are perhaps less inclined to subscribe to a meal-kit service 
than the employees of Customer 2. For Customer 2, the variance is favourable, which 
means that, overall, we sold more boxes of meal kits than budget. This could be 
because for the employees of Customer 2, our subscription service was more 
attractive than we anticipated, or it could be that the additional discount negotiated 
made it more attractive. 
 
New herb portioning machine 

IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment states that the cost of an item of property, plant 
or equipment is made up of its purchase price (inclusive of duties and non-recoverable 
taxes) and the total of any costs which are directly attributable to bring the asset into 
working order for its intended use.  
 
Therefore, for the new herb portioning machine, we can capitalise on its purchase 
price of N$850,000. In addition, we can also include the costs of installation and testing 
of N$25,000, as these are directly attributable to being able to use the new machine. 
The asset will need to be depreciated over its useful life from the date that it is bought 
into use which is 1 November 2022. Two months of depreciation will be charged to 
profit or loss for the year to 31 December 2022. 
 
The cost of the 12-month maintenance contract of N$20,000 will not be included as 
part of the cost of the machine asset. IAS 16 specifically states that general 
maintenance and repair costs should be expensed rather than reflected in the asset 
cost. Instead, the N$20,000 needs to be charged to profit or loss over the period of 
the contract, which is 12 months from 1 November 2022. In our financial statements, 
we will have an expense equal to N$20,000 x 2 / 12. The difference between the 
amount paid in advance of N$20,000 and the charge for the year will be recorded as 
a prepayment at the year-end within current assets. 
 
Old herb portioning machine 
 
In accordance with IFRS 5: Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations, a non-current asset, can be reclassified as an asset held for sale if it is 
available for immediate sale in its present condition and its sale is highly probable. A 
sale is highly probable when: management is committed to sell the asset; there is an 
active programme to find a buyer; the asset is marketed at a reasonable price; the 
sale is expected to take place within 12 months, and it is unlikely that the plan to sell 
the asset will change. 
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The old herb portioning machine ceased to be used in production on 31 October 2022. 
However, it was not available for immediate sale in its present condition until it had 
been dismantled, which occurred throughout November. 
 
The machine was advertised for sale on 1 December 2022. Therefore, from that date, 
it could be said that there is a management plan to sell the asset and that a buyer is 
being sought. We also know that there is a good second-hand market for this type of 
machine, and we feel that the price of N$150,000 is realistic. In addition, we expect to 
sell the machine within the next 3 months, which meets the criteria of there being an 
expectation of sale within 12 months from the date of reclassification.  
 
Therefore, it appears that the sale is highly probable from 1 December 2021, which 
means that on that date the machine should be reclassified as a non-current asset 
held for sale. Depreciation of the asset will stop on that date. The machine will be 
recorded in the statement of financial position within a separate component of current 
assets. 
 
The machine will be included in the statement of financial position on 31 December 
2022 at the lower of carrying amount at the date of reclassification (which is N$300,000 
less 11 months of depreciation at N$10,000 a month) and fair value less costs to sell 
(N$150,000 less the dismantling costs of N$15,000). If fair value less costs to sell is 
the lowest, the old herb machine will be recorded at this value, with the difference 
between this value and the carrying amount charged to profit or loss for the year to 31 
December 2022. 
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SECTION 1 
 
Effect of new property on the financial statements  
 
Initially recorded  
 
In accordance with the rules in IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment, we can 
recognise the new property as a non-current asset as long as it is probable that we 
will obtain the future economic benefits from the property, and we can reliably measure 
the cost of the property.  
 
Both conditions are satisfied because we plan to use the property as a new production 
facility, generating future economic benefit, and we know the property cost. In addition, 
the property is a tangible asset that we will use for more than 12 months. Therefore, 
we will recognise the property as part of property, plant and equipment within non-
current assets in our statement of financial position. 
 
IAS 16 states that expenditure on an asset can be capitalised if it is either part of its 
purchase price or is directly attributable to getting that asset ready for its intended use. 
Therefore, the amount that we can initially capitalise as the cost of the property asset 
will include the N$800,000 purchase price, as well as the N$150,000 for the adaption 
work and N$100,000 on the new roof. The latter two expenditures are included 
because these are directly attributable to getting the property ready for its intended 
use as a production facility. 
 
Subsequently measured 
 
The property asset will be depreciated, with depreciation starting from the date from 
which the property is available for use as intended by management.  
  

These answers have been provided by CIMA for information purposes only. The answers 
created are indicative of a response that could be given by a good candidate. They are not to 
be considered exhaustive, and other appropriate relevant responses would receive credit. 
 
CIMA will not accept challenges to these answers on the basis of academic judgement. 
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Given that the intention is to use the property as a production facility, the relevant date 
is 1 September 2022, which is the date from which the facility is expected to be 
operational. Therefore 4 months of depreciation will be reflected in the financial 
statements for the year ending 31 December 2022. 
 
IAS 16 states that each part of an item of property, plant and equipment should be 
depreciated separately, although parts of an asset can be grouped if they have the 
same useful life, and the same depreciation method is to be used. It also states that 
land should not be depreciated. In our case, we will need to establish how much of the 
property cost of N$800,000 relates to the land and how much to the building, as only 
the building cost will be depreciated over its useful life. The adaptation works cost can 
be added to the building cost and treated as one item for the purposes of calculating 
depreciation as, presumably, this will have a useful life of 25 years. However, the cost 
of the new roof should be depreciated separately, as this only has a useful life of 10 
years.  
 
IAS 16 states that depreciation is the systematic allocation of an asset’s depreciable 
amount (cost less any residual value) over its useful life. The depreciation method 
chosen should reflect the pattern of consumption of the benefits expected from the 
asset. In our case, given that the benefits from the property are likely to be consumed 
evenly, the straight-line method of deprecation is most appropriate. Therefore, for each 
part of the asset, the depreciation charge for the year ending 31 December 2022 will 
be calculated as cost less residual value divided by useful life (either 25 years or 10 
years) multiplied by 4/12 to reflect the fact that the property is available for use on 1 
September 2022. These deprecation charges will reduce the amount of the asset in 
the statement of financial position and reduce profit for the year. 
 
Suitability of activity based costing (ABC) 
 
We are planning to use plant-wide absorption rates for our overheads based on 
packing line hours. By doing this, we will be assuming that packing line hours have the 
greatest causal effect on the production facility overhead costs. If we implemented 
ABC, we would need to undertake a detailed analysis of all of the production activities 
in the new facility to identify each activity for which there is a different driver of the 
cost. We would then absorb the cost of each separate activity using the appropriate 
cost driver. As such, ABC is expensive to implement, and therefore we need to ensure 
that it would be beneficial before starting any pilot.  
 
ABC is typically beneficial and therefore a suitable approach to take where: 
 
Indirect costs are high relative to direct costs: Within our current production facility, 
based on the budget for the year to 31 December 2022, overheads account for just 
over 14% of total production cost (with raw materials accounting for nearly 60%). While 
we do not have budgets for the new facility yet, we do know that there will be a higher 
level of automation than our existing facility because a large part of the packing 
process will be undertaken by robots.  
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Therefore, the percentage of overhead costs will be higher, although the raw material 
cost for Party Box is still likely to be the most significant element of production cost. It 
is therefore questionable whether the relative importance of overhead cost to total 
production cost is going to be high enough to warrant the use of ABC.  
 
There is a wide range of products or products that are tailored to customer 
specifications: Party Box will include trays and platters of snacks for 10 different 
themes and will be available as Regular or Gourmet. This means that there will be 20 
different types of Party Box. However, each type of Party Box is essentially the same, 
just combinations of different platters and trays. Given that each Party Box has the 
same numbers of platters and trays, there is unlikely to be a great deal of difference 
in terms of the resources consumed to pack each type of box. Therefore, absorbing 
overheads on a volume basis such as packing line hours is likely to be reasonably fair. 
 
The production process is complex: Party Box will be packed on a single packing 
line. Some of the processes are automated (for example, packing of trays) and others 
manual (for example, quality control and packing of platters), but the process is 
straightforward. There may be some complexity added to the process if, for example, 
production batch sizes were to vary significantly between the different types of boxes. 
Presumably, each production batch would require setting up of the packing line to 
ensure that the correct platters and trays were available for packing, and therefore it 
might be fairer for a type of Party Box with a large batch size to absorb a smaller 
amount of setting up cost than a type of Party Box with a small batch size. 
 
Overall, considering the above, it would appear that the new Production Facility would 
not be suitable for an ABC pilot.    
 
Digital costing system 
 
How the use of a digital costing system would improve costings 
A digital costing system involves linking our digital systems (production, inventory, 
purchasing and sales ordering systems) with those of our suppliers, customers and 
the market. In a digital costing system, data is gathered to give up-to-date cost 
information which reflects current information. For example, our production system 
could give us up-to-date information about the time taken to pack a Party Box, and 
purchasing and supplier systems could give us current input prices for trays and 
platters.  
 
The benefits of improved costings   
 
Using our current approach, we would update our standard costs twice a year. This 
means, for example, that our standards for the cost of bought in trays or packaging 
may be out of date quite quickly. Using a digital costing system means our standards 
would be continuously updated when new information emerged and hence costings 
would more accurately reflect expected current operating conditions and market 
prices.  
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A benefit of having more up-to-date standards is that variance reporting will potentially 
be more meaningful. If standards are continuously updated to reflect current expected 
operating conditions and market prices, variances will be the result of deviations from 
this, rather than deviations from the current operating environment.  
 
Another benefit is that there will be better information for pricing purposes. Having a 
standard cost based on up-to-date operating conditions and supplier prices means 
that management has a better idea of how profitable different types of Party Box are 
and can make more informed pricing decisions.   
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SECTION 2 
 
Options for supplier of platters  

Cost structures  
 
Chart 1 shows that if we produce these platters in-house then fixed costs will be around 
N$3,000 per month, as this is the cost for 0 platters. There will be a step up in the fixed 
costs of around N$2,000 if we produce more than 5,000 platters in a month 
(presumably hiring additional equipment or extra supervision required). The variable 
cost per platter appears to be consistent at all levels, as the gradient of the line is the 
same across the range, and this is lower than outsourcing up to 7,000 platters (as 
shown by the shallower gradient of the line). 
 
The chart shows that if platters are bought in from the supplier then the supplier will 
charge a fee per platter. The origin of the line starts at zero, and therefore there is no 
fixed cost element associated with this option. The cost per platter is constant until 
3,000 units when the slope of the line becomes shallower. This will be due to a 
reduction in the fee charged per platter above 3,000 units. There also appears to be a 
further reduction in the cost per platter at 7,000 units. These reductions will be due to 
bulk discounts. 
 
Two reasons why not to base the decision on the expected value of demand  

The expected value represents the long run average outcome based on a weighted 

average of the possible outcomes, weighted by the probability of that outcome 

occurring. The expected value of 5,400, therefore, represents a weighted average 

rather than a possible level of demand and may not be a possibility given that we 

produce Party Boxes in batches. At 5,400 platters, the graph indicates that using the 

supplier would be the cheapest option, but if the actual outcome were between 2,500 

to 5,000 platters, this decision would be reversed. However, given that the cost 

structure is not linear, we need to be careful: the cost at the expected value of demand 

is not the same as the expected value of cost. 

There is likely to be seasonality with Party Box in that we might expect demand to be 

higher in the festival and holiday periods, such as for new year celebrations in 

December. This means that demand in each month could vary significantly, which 

means that for different times of the year there will be different probabilities associated 

with the outcomes, and therefore potentially different expected values relevant for 

different times of the year. Given that we need to make a decision now and cannot 

make a new decision each month, using the expected value of demand is not suitable.    
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Factors to consider 

One factor we should consider is the lead time and reliability of the potential supplier. 
If we produce in-house, we have control over our production schedules and therefore, 
assuming we have a flexible capacity, can scale production up and down as required. 
This potential supplier is a relatively small business and therefore may not have 
flexibility in its production schedules to deal with varying levels of demand, which could 
lead to delays in receiving supplies. 
 
Another factor is the quality of the platters. If we produce ourselves, we can ensure 
that the quality of the products that our customers receive is high-quality as part of our 
normal prevention and appraisal processes. We will need to ensure that the quality 
provided by this supplier is in line with our expectations, and that there is adequate 
recourse to the supplier throughout the contract period if there are quality issues. 
 
We also need to consider the accuracy of the information used in the chart and 

whether there may be changes throughout the contract period, either to supplier prices 

or to our fixed and variable costs. There is not a huge margin between the two lines 

on the chart, but once 5,000 platters are required, the supplier option is always 

cheaper than the in-house option because of the step in fixed costs and the significant 

bulk discounts offered by the supplier. 

Working capital review of potential suppliers  

Gem Catering 
 
Gem Catering has lower inventory and receivable days and higher payable days than 
the industry norm, indicating a short working capital cycle. Indeed, Gem Catering’s 
working capital cycle is negative, as it holds minimal inventory (due to it being a food 
producer) and receives money from its customers much more quickly than it pays its 
suppliers.  
 
Gem Catering’s receivable days of 26 days are lower than its standard credit terms. 
This indicates that Gem Catering either chases for payment aggressively or offers 
generous prompt payment discounts, or possibly both. Prompt payment discounts 
would be something that we may be able to take advantage of, as this would potentially 
lower our overall cost of supply, given that we currently have a healthy cash balance.   
Gem Catering’s payable days are significantly higher than standard terms from its 
suppliers. It is possible that the company has negotiated extended terms with 
suppliers, but it is more likely that Gem Catering takes an aggressive approach to 
deliberately paying late. If so, this is an unethical approach to paying its suppliers, 
which is a practice that we may not wish to be associated with. In addition, it could 
damage Gem Catering’s relationship with its suppliers which may mean that it 
struggles to source ingredients for its trays. 
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Having an aggressive approach to working capital management is clearly good for 
cash flow, as evidenced by the high cash balance compared to the industry norm but 
may be detrimental for business. Gem Catering’s revenues fell by 2% last year despite 
growth in the industry, and this could be the result of customers being dissatisfied with 
being aggressively chased for payment. Alternatively, it could be that it has not been 
able to meet demand because some suppliers do not want to deal with a company 
that takes so long to pay. 
 
Snack Excel 
 
Snack Excel has lower inventory days, but higher receivable and payable days 
compared to the industry average. Its working capital cycle is short but is positive 
rather than negative like Gem Caterings. Snack Excel had even lower inventory days 
than Gem Catering and half that of the industry. This may indicate that Snack Excel 
ensures only the freshest ingredients are used and has an efficient ordering policy. 
Alternatively, it could be that purchases have to be timed with the availability of cash 
and smaller quantities are purchased as and when required and timed to fit with the 
availability of cash to pay the supplier.  
 
Snack Excel has high receivable days in comparison to the industry average and 
compared to the standard credit terms given to its customers. It is possible that the 
company has given extended terms to some customers, although it is more likely that 
it has lost control of its receivables collection. 
 
Snack Excel’s payable days are also high in comparison to the industry average, which 
given the size of the overdraft could indicate that it is struggling to pay its suppliers. 
Indeed, this, together with the high level of receivables and significant growth in 
revenue, could indicate that the company is overtrading. It is therefore possibly a 
relatively new company and has not managed its working capital adequately alongside 
its significant growth. This could affect its ability to continue to trade. 
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SECTION 3 
 
Linear programming: purchase of additional snack trays 
 
It has been identified that the optimal production plan is where lines A and B on Graph 
1 intersect. At this point, both trays and packing line hours are binding constraints. 
While we are unable to increase packing line hours, we could potentially buy additional 
trays from our supplier as an emergency order at three times the normal price.  
 
To determine whether it is worthwhile to do this, we need to consider the maximum 
price that we would be willing to pay for each tray, which would be its shadow price 
(which is the amount of additional contribution from having one more tray) plus its 
normal price. We know that the shadow price for a tray is N$22.25, and that it normally 
costs N$1.50. Therefore we would be prepared to pay up to N$23.75 for each 
additional tray. Given that the price for the emergency order is only three times the 
normal price, it is worthwhile to buy additional trays. 
 
To determine the amount that we should buy, we need to consider Graph 1. As we 
purchase additional trays, line A on the graph will move away from the origin and will 
change the shape of the feasible region. Given the slope of the iso-contribution line 
(which indicates the relative contributions of the Regular and Gourmet boxes), the 
optimum point would move to where lines B and D intersect. Since we cannot increase 
packing line hours, it would not be sensible to buy any additional trays beyond the 
point where lines B and D intersect. At this point, there will be a new optimal production 
plan of 2,500 Gourmet Party Boxes and around 2,500 Regular Party Boxes. This 
compares to the original optimal production plan of 2,000 Gourmet Party Boxes and 
3,000 Regular Party Boxes. The number of additional trays to order will be the 
difference between the number required for the new optimal solution and the number 
required for the old optimal solution.  
 
Zero based budgeting (ZBB) 
 
The first stage of applying ZBB will be to decide on the decision units, which are the 
activities that generate cost. In this instance, the activity is machinery maintenance. 
For each activity, an objective is established: for example, the objective of machinery 
maintenance could be to ensure that machinery breakdowns are limited or that the 
machinery operates at an optimum speed. 
 
For each activity, there will be potentially different ways in which its objective can be 
achieved or different levels of expenditure that could be incurred. These choices are 
reflected in decision packages that can be mutually exclusive (different ways of 
achieving the objective) and/or incremental (different levels of service to achieve 
slightly different outcomes). For machinery maintenance, mutually exclusive decision 
packages could be developed for different types of maintenance or for different 
machinery to continue to outsource or to have our team. 
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Decision packages can be developed for each option, starting with the base package, 
which is the minimum level of machinery maintenance required. We could decide with 
respect to the base package that we budget to only have an annual maintenance 
check because the machinery is new.  
 
Incremental packages will then build on this and add additional maintenance time and 
different activities that should be performed. For example, maybe monthly 
maintenance checks are performed on key machinery. While this will generate 
additional cost, it will help to ensure that the new robot packers keep working at their 
optimal speed.  
 
After the decision packages have been fully developed with all costs quantified, a 
cost/benefit analysis needs to be performed, with benefits identified and quantified. 
One benefit of spending money on machinery maintenance is to reduce the risk of 
machinery breakdown, which if it happened would have a detrimental effect on our 
ability to assemble Party Boxes.  
 
However, there are other benefits to maintenance in terms of keeping the machinery 
working optimally. These include safeguarding throughput so that we can satisfy 
demand and ensuring that, for example, our machinery does not damage any of the 
contents included in the Party Box. Regular maintenance of machinery could also 
prolong its useful life. Each decision package would need to be considered against 
these benefits and then ranked in order of preference. 
 
Benefits and challenges of using a ZBB approach 
 
Benefits  
 
A benefit of using ZBB to create a budget for machinery maintenance costs in the new 
production facility is that it would force management to focus on both the costs and 
benefits of different maintenance options through the development of decision 
packages. This would help management to focus on the effectiveness of these 
different options and to ensure that resources are allocated to the most effective 
option, which might well be to continue to outsource.  
 
This approach would also help to ensure that machinery maintenance is viewed as an 
important function by all managers, rather than just a drain on resources. Quantifying 
and then discussing the benefits of spending money on machinery maintenance would 
help managers to appreciate the need for the activity. 
 
Challenges 
 
A key challenge of applying a ZBB approach is the amount of time that will be required 
to implement it. Creating decision packages that are fully costed and justified is time 
consuming. In addition, as we have not used ZBB before, training will be required and 
it’s possible that the production managers that would need to be involved in the 
process may resent being asked to do it, if they do not foresee any personal benefit. 
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Another challenge is that establishing some of the benefits of the decision packages 
can be difficult. For example, we can probably estimate the impact of avoiding a 1-day 
machinery breakdown in terms of lost production for that day, but what is harder to 
quantify is the impact of lost sales on customer goodwill and therefore future sales. 
The intangible nature of many of the benefits also leads to issues when ranking 
decision packages because quantitative information is much easier to compare than 
qualitative information. 
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SECTION 4 
 
Production variances 
 
Raw material variances 
 
The raw materials price variance is N$8,400 adverse, which means that we paid more 
for the trays, platters and packaging than we purchased compared to our standard 
prices for each of these. The supplier of platters was changed during the month 
because of quality issues, and therefore we may have ended up paying more per 
platter than standard to ensure better quality. 
 
The raw materials usage variance is N$35,420 adverse, which means that we used 
more raw materials than we should have (based on our standard) to create 32,000 
Party Boxes. We know that there were issues with the packing robots which resulted 
in damage to some trays, and therefore there was higher wastage than standard.  
 
Indeed, the KPI dashboard shows that raw materials wastage was above target for the 
entire month. The levels of raw materials wasted in weeks 1 and 4 are consistent with 
each other and only just above the target, which may well indicate that our target is 
slightly unrealistic. The issue with the robots did not manifest until week 2 (as seen by 
the significant peak in wastage for that week) and continued into week 3. However, 
the robot issues seem to have been resolved by week 4, given that wastage in week 
4 appears to be back to a more normal level.  
 
Direct labour variances 
 
The direct labour rate variance is N$1,225 favourable, which means that, on average, 
we paid less per hour than we expected to, based on our standard. We employed 
additional trainees during the month, and it appears that we paid these employees at 
a lower hourly rate than our standard.  
 
The direct labour idle time variance is N$1,500 adverse, which means that we paid 
our direct employees for hours when they were not being productive. There could be 
a range of reasons for this, including: 
 

• The high levels of packing line downtime in weeks 2, 3 and 4, as shown in the 

KPI dashboard, which will have stopped employees from being productive as 

the packing line had to be shut down. 

• The need to train the new trainees on company processes and procedures. 

  



May & August 2022 12 Operational Case Study Exam 

 

The direct labour efficiency variance is N$4,000 adverse, which means that our direct 
employees took more productive time than we expected them to, based on our 
standard time, to complete the production of 32,000 Party Boxes. We employed new 
trainees in the month, and therefore it is possible that these trainees took longer than 
our standard time to pack platters while they were learning the processes. Additionally, 
it could be that the disruptions caused by the issues with the robots resulted in direct 
employees working more slowly than expected. Alternatively, given the high level of 
raw materials wastage as shown by the KPI dashboard, it is possible that direct 
employees were deliberately more careful packing, which slowed them down. The 
standard may need to be revised if a new norm has been established.  
 
Variable overhead variances 
 
The variable overhead expenditure variance is N$8,800 adverse, which means that 
we spent more on variable production overhead than we should have for the robot 
packing hours worked. The following are reasons for this: 
 

• We had to source a greater share of power from the national grid, which will 

have cost more than our self-generated power.  

• There was a significant overtime premium paid during the month as a result of 

the issues with the packing line and to cope with the additional demand (we 

produced 2,000 more Party Boxes than budget).  

The variable overhead efficiency variance is N$8,160 adverse, which means that it 
took more robot packing hours than standard to produce 32,000 Party Boxes. During 
the month, the robot packers were recalibrated as a result of issues with the robots 
damaging trays and packaging. This meant that the robot packers and the automated 
line were slowed down, and this is the reason for the adverse variance. If this is a 
permanent change in operating speed, we need to amend our standard for robot 
packing hours because otherwise there will be adverse variances in the future. As 
shown in the KPI dashboard, there was significant packing line downtime during the 
month, which was due to clearing the line and also recalibrating the robot packers. 
This is not captured within the variable overhead efficiency variance given that this is 
based on productive hours only and hence the KPI gives us additional information. It 
would appear that downtime peaked in week 3 and has since improved. 
 
KPIs for sustainability 
 
Percentage of raw materials waste sent to landfill each week: This could be 
measured as kilograms of raw material waste sent to landfill divided by the total raw 
material waste in a week. An important aspect of sustainability is to limit waste, and 
we already have a KPI which measures raw material wastage as a percentage of total 
raw materials used.  
  



May & August 2022 13 Operational Case Study Exam 

 

However, it is also important that any waste is eliminated in a sustainable manner and 
sending it to landfills is the least sustainable way to do this. The target for this measure 
should be as low as possible. Any packaging waste should be sent for recycling rather 
than to a landfill. Any food waste (within trays and platters) should ideally be sent for 
re-distribution, assuming that the food is not outside of its use by date.  
 
Percentage of total power consumed in a week that is self-generated: This would 
be measured as self-generated kilowatt hours (kWh) divided by the total kWh used in 
the production facility each week. Generating and using power from sustainable 
sources, such as our turbine and solar panels, is better for the environment than using 
power from non-sustainable sources such as coal. We know that our self-generated 
power comes from only sustainable sources, while power purchased from the national 
grid, will be from a range of sources. The greater the proportion of self-generated 
power we use in production, the better for sustainability. 
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SECTION 1 
 
The components of time series analysis 
 
‘Time series analysis’ describes the technique of examining a time series (a series of 
results recorded over time) to determine whether there is an underlying historical trend 
and, if there is, using the data to forecast the trend into the future. A time series is 
made up of four components: 
 

• The trend: The trend is the general direction of results and can be estimated by using 

moving averages. The graph shows that, based on our sales volume of meal-kit boxes, 

there is an upward trend, showing a pattern of continual growth in demand (although 

growing at a faster rate of growth in the later years compared to the earlier years). This 

estimated trend can then be subjected to regression analysis to produce a trend line 

that will allow us to predict future sales volumes. 

 
• Seasonal variations: The analysis can also be used to identify whether there are any 

seasonal variations around the trend and where there are, to measure the variations 

and apply them to a trend line to create seasonal forecasts. We can see clearly see 

from the graph that sales of meal-kit boxes are seasonal, with higher sales over 

quarters 4 and 1 (which may be associated with the colder weather), and a drop in 

sales in quarter 2 (corresponding with the arrival of the late spring and summer). These 

seasonal changes in demand can be measured and built into future forecasts.  

 
• Cyclical variations: As well as seasonal variations, a trend will also be affected by 

cyclical variations. These are medium-term or long-term influences, usually associated 

with the economy. Since these are often of inconsistent lengths and can only be 
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be considered exhaustive, and other appropriate relevant responses would receive credit. 
 
CIMA will not accept challenges to these answers on the basis of academic judgement. 

 
 



May & August 2022 2 Operational Case Study Exam 

 

recognised over many years of data, cyclical variations are not usually built into trend 

line forecasts. The graph provided only shows sales of meal-kit boxes over the past 

nine years, which is unlikely to be long enough to identify any cyclical variations. 

 
• Random factors: Another influence on results are random factors. These are factors 

which cannot be predicted, such as the arrival of new competitors into the market, and 

so are usually ignored by the analysis, although in practice they can have a significant 

impact on the outcomes. 

Limitations of using this data and time series analysis to forecast our sales 
volumes 
 
In an industry such as ours, there are likely to be multiple random variables that impact 
final sales volumes. For example, lifestyle changes and sudden trends arising from 
news stories or social media influencers, which, since they cannot be predicted far in 
advance, are not taken into account by the forecast.  
 
Additionally, Meals@Home has been experiencing high growth rates since we started, 
but growth often slows down as a company matures. It will be important to consider 
whether our past growth rate will be a good indicator of our growth rate in the future. 
This growth may also be affected by cyclical changes which are not incorporated into 
the forecasts. When producing a trend line for predictive purposes, it may be better to 
use only the data collected over the past few years, as this may be a better predictor 
of the future. 
 
Finally, since the current predictions are based on the total volume of meal-kit boxes 
sold (and do not split this down by type of meal kit), the information provided is limited 
in scope and does not provide many opportunities for us to tailor our systems to the 
demand forecasts. Obtaining more granular forecasts would help us to tailor our 
production systems and ideally, time-series analysis should be carried out at this more 
granular level if more detailed sales data is available.  
 
Choice of supplier for AI software 
 
Using the decision tree 
 

The decision tree provided is a diagrammatic representation of the decisions we need 
to make when selecting a supplier for the AI software needed: Firstly, which 
subscription package (Option 1 or Option 2) offered by Supplier 3Ri should be selected 
if they are the chosen supplier (shown at decision point C), and secondly, which 
supplier, 3Ri or Robo Solutions, provides the optimum solution. 
 
There are different possible outcomes for each subscription plan, and we have 
estimated the probabilities associated with each of these. Looking at Option 1 for 
example, there is a 90% chance of profits of N$4,980,000 in Q3 2022, but also a 10% 
chance of profits of N$4,010,000. We can take account of this by calculating a 
weighted average outcome, using the probabilities as weightings. This provides us 
with an expected value of N$4,883,000 for this option. 
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To make a decision using the decision tree, we need to work from right to left, starting 
with the decision at point C. The expected value at point A is N$4,833,000, however, 
the cost of the subscription of N$25,000 would need to be deducted from the expected 
value. The expected value at point B is N$4,786,000, and the subscription of N$15,000 
should be deduced from that figure. The option with the highest expected value after 
deduction of the relevant subscription cost is the option that should be selected, if 3Ri 
is chosen as a supplier. 
 
We then work backwards to the decision about whether to select 3Ri or Robo 
Solutions. This is at decision point E. To make this decision, we need to compare the 
expected value from the best 3Ri option to the expected value from Robo Solutions 
(shown at point D) which is N$4,482,500 less the N$10,000 subscription fee. We must 
then select the option with the highest expected value. 
 
Limitations of using decision tree methodology 
 
The expected value alone gives no indication of the range of possible outcomes. The 
expected value is not the most likely result, rather, it is the long run average outcome 
if the same event was to be repeated over and over, which is not the case here as 
each quarter will be different. It is important to remember that the profit earned in any 
one quarter may be much lower than the expected value. Even with Option 1 for 
example, there is a 10% chance that the profit earned will be only N$4,010,000. This 
is considerably lower than the least profitable outcome of N$4,250,000 if Robo 
Solutions is selected. In addition, since our sales have been affected by seasonal 
factors, using only one quarter may not give an accurate indication of the impact over 
the course of a year. However, by working with 3Ri (irrespective of the option chosen), 
there is at least an 80% chance that profits (based on Q3) will be substantially more 
than if Robo solutions are chosen. 
 
When using expected values, there is an assumption that the decision maker is risk 
neutral and therefore is not interested in the range of possible outcomes. However, in 
practice, this is unlikely to be true. If we only earned the lower predicted profit figure 
over several quarters, the impact on our annual profits could be significantly damaging. 
This is likely to be unacceptable if the SMT takes a more risk-averse view. 
 
It should also be borne in mind that the probabilities used in the calculation of the 
expected value for each option are subjective in nature. While the estimates have been 
produced by independent reviews, they will be based on previous success rates with 
other businesses, and we do not know closely these rates will be mirrored if the AI is 
used by Meals@Home. So, while they are useful when evaluating the decision to take, 
they are unlikely to be accurate and the chance of low profits may in fact be even 
higher. 
  



May & August 2022 4 Operational Case Study Exam 

 

SECTION 2 
 
Multi-product break-even chart 
 
The information is shown in the break-even chart 
 
Fixed cost line: The horizontal line shows the new higher level of fixed costs 
(approximately N$2.5 million per quarter) which will not change over the activity levels 
shown. 
 
Weighted average contribution line: The straight dotted line from 0 to point F is the 
weighted average contribution line at different sales levels; this assumes that the 
expected sales mix remains constant, and we continue to sell the different box options 
in the same ratios as we do now. Point X2, therefore, shows the break-even point on 
the weighted average contribution line. Based on the average contribution to sales 
ratio, we can see that, in order to break even, we would need to achieve sales revenue 
of just over N$4 million. 
 
Line 0, A, B, C, D, E, F: The 6-part line that connects points 0, A, B, C, D, E and F 
represents the relationship between contribution and sales, based on the assumption 
that we sell the products in order of their contribution to sales (C/S) ratio. S2 has the 
highest C/S ratio at 0.70 and is therefore assumed to be sold first. The fact that it has 
the highest C/S ratio is indicated by the fact that the part of the line showing S2 
contribution (from point 0 to point A) also has the steepest slope. L4 has the lowest 
ratio (0.55) and is therefore assumed to be sold last (point E to point F). Its low 
contribution margin explains why it has the least steep slope of all six box options. 
Since products S2 and L2 have higher C/S ratios than the weighted average ratio, the 
breakeven point (Point X1 on the chart) is lower (and therefore reached sooner) on 
this line than on the weighted average contribution line, that is if we did sell only S2 
meal-kit options first, then L2 meal-kit options next etc., we would require a lower 
overall revenue to break even. 
 
Benefits of using the data to analyse the break-even position 

The introduction of the robot packers will cause fix costs to rise and variable costs to 

fall. This will have caused the C/S ratios to rise as well. This is good news when 

demand is high but not good when volumes are low. The chart is therefore useful 

because it gives us an idea of the level of sales revenues required to cover the 

increased level of fixed costs, given the higher C/S ratios the company is facing. Once 

the break-even position is established, we can determine our margin of safety. This is 

the amount by which revenue can fall from the forecast level before a loss is made. 

The chart shows expected revenues of approximately N$23 million, suggesting a 

significant margin of safety of over N$18 million. Even if the forecast revenue over the 

next quarter is hugely optimistic, the investment in AI is not going to put us at risk of 

making a loss.  
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Limitations of the data to analyse the break-even position  

In practice, we are unlikely to sell our box options in order of C/S ratio, and we cannot 

be sure that we will continue to sell the options in the ratios we do at present (it would 

be useful to compare ratios over the past nine years to see how consistent they have 

been). If the weighted average C/S ratio is lower than shown inline 0F, because more 

of the low margin boxes are sold relative to the high margin boxes, then the break-

even point will be higher than indicated by the line. In this instance, however, it will not 

be a major problem for the analysis because the high margin of safety suggests that, 

even with a different proportion of box sales, we will still break even relatively soon 

into our sales figures. 

Another limitation is that the figures used are estimates only and assume a linear 
relationship over the whole range of production. The analysis also assumes that we 
can define costs as fixed or variable. In reality, even fixed costs are variable in the long 
term and in fact, in this case, we are only committing to a six-month contract for the 
robotic packers in the first instance. Furthermore, many short-term costs described as 
variables are fixed in practice, because employment contracts cannot be easily 
terminated. The existing labour costs which are being replaced by the cost of the 
robotics may fall into this category. 
 
Activity based costing (ABC) 
 
How ABC would change the current costing system 
 
If we were to use ABC, there would be a number of differences to the approach we 
take now. Firstly, we would look at our overhead costs in a lot more detail. We would 
break down production into each separate element such as herbs & spices mix 
production, meal-kit bag production and box packing, and then we would consider 
each element and break it down into the different activities carried out.  
 
In the herbs & spices mix production department, the current absorption rate is based 
on blending time. This assumes that all overhead costs of the department producing 
the mixes are related to the time that the differing flavours/products spend in the 
blender. This assumption does not take account of the causality of the cost and what 
it is that causes costs to be incurred at differing parts of the process. 
 
There appears to be four major parts to the process: moving, tipping, blending and 
cleaning. It is clear to see that blending time is not representative of the time needed 
to clean for example. Irrespective of the time that differing herbs and spices spend 
being blended, the machine would still need to be cleaned to the same level. 
 
To implement ABC, we need to identify activities within the process and then identify 
what causes costs to be incurred (cost drivers). Costs that have the same cost driver 
can be grouped into the same cost pool. 
  



May & August 2022 6 Operational Case Study Exam 

 

Moving: there are two main activities here. Sacks would need to be loaded onto the 
transporter and then moved. Each sack needs to be loaded, and therefore the cost of 
loading the transporter would have a cost driver of per sack loaded. The cost of 
physically moving the sacks would be determined by the number of sacks that are 
mixed together. If all the sacks needed for a batch can be moved together then ‘batch’ 
could be the cost driver, otherwise, it could be ‘movements’. More information is 
needed here. 
 
Tipping: there are two activities here – loading and tipping. Both are carried out one 
sack at a time, and therefore an appropriate driver would be ‘per sack’.  
 
It can be seen that we would set up a cost pool that includes the costs of loading the 
transporter, loading the tipper and tipping. All of the costs in that cost pool would have 
the driver of ‘per sack’ because all of the costs in the pool are incurred on a sack-by-
sack basis. 
 
Blending: the time that the product spends being blended is determined by the 
nature/flavour of the product being made. The blending costs (for example, power, 
which is variable, and machine depreciation which could be fixed) could be absorbed 
using mixing time. This is no different to what we do now other than the costs are 
limited to the specific costs incurred by the blending machine.  
 
Cleaning: it appears that the costs of cleaning the blending machine arise when the 
flavour is changed. Therefore the ‘flavour change’ would be an appropriate cost driver. 
 
Potential benefits 
 
The increased proportion of fixed production costs that will arise from the introduction 
of robots to replace labour means it will be vital for management to understand and 
control them, and the detailed information arising from implementing ABC should 
assist with this. Knowing what each separate element of cost is within each production 
department and then establishing what drives each element of cost means that 
management can more easily identify where cost savings are possible by controlling 
the cost driver. For example, after establishing that flavour changes cause cleaning 
costs, we should try to organise the production runs so that the number of flavour 
changes is minimised. We should try to limit the number of flavour changes by 
ensuring that possible consecutive batches of products are similar. If we assume that 
we have to make three batches for flavour A and three batches of flavour B, it would 
be better to organise production runs in batches of AAABBB rather than ABABAB 
which would entail just one clean as opposed to five.  
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SECTION 3 
 
Fixed production variances  

Expenditure variance 
 
The fixed production overhead expenditure variance is the difference between the 
actual fixed production overhead incurred during August and the fixed production 
overheads originally included in the budget for the period. The variance is adverse, 
which means that we incurred N$15,450 more fixed production overhead than we had 
budgeted. This represents the increase in fixed overhead costs since the budget was 
drawn up and has arisen because we expanded production capacity to respond to the 
growth in the meal-kit market. Specific reasons for this are: 
 

• We took on an additional business unit to increase production capacity and 

hired additional warehouse space to increase storage, both of which will have 

increased rental payments.  

• We purchased additional machinery which will have led to increased 

depreciation charges.  

• It is likely that these events will have led to an increase in our insurance costs. 

• Finally, we took an additional supervisory staff which will have increased fixed 

labour costs. 

Capacity variance 
 
The fixed production capacity variance reflects the difference between the original 
number of budgeted direct labour hours and the actual direct labour hours worked 
(multiplied by the standard absorption rate per hour). The fact that the variance 
(N$7,524) is favourable only indicates that we have increased our production levels 
so that more direct labour hours were worked than originally budgeted (reflecting an 
increase in the capacity of direct labour). This is to be expected as more direct 
employees were taken on and utilised during the month than had been originally 
budgeted for. However, it does not indicate that workers were fully utilised, nor that we 
achieved our goal of running the facility 24 hours a day. We could have had significant 
amounts of downtime which are not evident from this variance, as it only compares 
actual hours with the original budget rather than with what we may have hoped to 
achieve given our increased investment in capacity. 
 
Efficiency variance 
 
The efficiency variance is the difference between the standard hours that we would 
expect to see for actual production and the actual hours that were worked (multiplied 
by the standard absorption rate per hour.) This variance is adverse (N$6,785), which 
means that we used more direct labour hours to pack the boxes than we should have. 
In other words, direct labour was not as efficient as it should have been.  
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This may be because new and inexperienced employees were employed to cope with 
the increased demand, and they took longer to complete each task than the regular 
experienced staff would have done. 
 
Total variance 
 
The total of the three variances represents the extent to which overheads have been 
over or under absorbed in the calculation of profit. It is the difference between the 
amount spent on production overheads and the amount we absorbed (the standard 
number of hours needed for the actual output multiplied by the standard absorption 
rate per hour). The fact that the variance is adverse simply means that we have under 
absorbed N$14,711 of production overhead. 
 
The absorption rate was based on the original budgeted labour hours and the original 
budgeted fixed overheads. During the period, the expenditure has been considerably 
higher than the original budget, but the standard hours needed for the actual output 
(even with the increased capacity) have not absorbed enough overheads at the current 
rate to cover the increase. 
 
 
Key Performance Indicators 
 
Three KPIs that could be used to assess the performance of the robotics supplier are 
as follows: 
 
Adherence to maintenance schedules – percentage completed on time: 
Maintaining the robots will be a challenge given the need to run the machines almost 
24 hours a day. Since the production schedules are designed with specific stoppages 
for maintenance work, it is essential that the suppliers turn up when they are expected 
and can complete the work within the agreed time frames, for example, carrying a full 
complement of spare parts so that any replacements can be fitted immediately. 
 
Packing defect rate – the percentage of items damaged/boxes rejected: The 
packing process is almost entirely automated, with even the delicate items such as 
fruit and vegetables handled by robots. There is always a risk that some items will be 
damaged during the packing process, for example, bags could be punctured, or fruit 
bruised, and it will be vital that such damage is kept to a minimum. This is important 
not just because damaged items mean increased waste and additional replacement 
costs but also, it delays the completion of the meal-kit production and could have an 
impact on delivery schedules. The packing defect rate identified before products are 
dispatched to customers represents a form of quality assurance and an appraisal cost. 
 
Speed of response to machine breakdowns – the time from call out to 
completion of repair: We are currently running our facilities 24 hours a day, and any 
breakdown will have a knock-on effect on the rest of the production line. It could affect 
our ability to meet demand and damage our brand if we are unable to deliver boxes 
which have already been ordered.  
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The suppliers are responsible for maintaining the equipment, and we would therefore 
expect the suppliers to offer a fast and efficient remedial service in the event that a 
robot malfunctioned. 
 
Right of use asset 
 
Under IFRS 16 Leases, right-of-use assets are initially recognised at cost. The initial 
cost of a right-of-use asset comprises the amount of the initial measurement of the 
lease liability; lease payments made at or before the commencement date of the lease; 
any initial direct costs and the estimated costs of removing or dismantling the asset.  
For this lease, payments will be made in advance. Therefore, the right-of-use asset 
will be initially recorded at a value which includes: 
 

• The initial measurement of the lease liability, which is the present value of the 

future annual lease payments on 1 October 2022. This will be the present value 

of the four annual payments of N$1,300,000 starting on 1 October 2023, 

discounted at 10% which is the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

• The lease payment is to be made on the first day of the lease, which is 

N$1,300,000. 

• The lease arrangement fee of N$40,000. 

In our financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2022, this right-of-use 

asset will be measured at its initial cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses. In this case, as ownership does not transfer to us (the lessee), depreciation 

will be charged to the statement of profit or loss over the shorter of the useful life of 

the underlying asset and the lease term. This is therefore the lease term of 5 years. 

The depreciation charge for the first year will be for 3 months from October to 

December 2022 and will reduce profit for the year. The right-of-use asset will be 

included as part of non-current assets in the statement of financial position.  
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SECTION 4 
 
What if analysis 
 
How changing each of the four variables will affect the budget for the period 
If sales volumes decrease by 5%, both the revenue earned and the variable costs will 
decrease by the same proportion, that is, the contribution margin (contribution 
expressed as a percentage of revenue) will remain the same. This is demonstrated by 
the 5% reduction in contribution for a 5% fall in sales volumes shown in the schedule. 
However, the effect on gross profit is greater than 5% because, since the fixed costs 
will not change, a decrease in sales volumes means a higher fixed cost per unit. 
 
If selling prices fall by 5%, this will have the greatest effect on both contribution and 
profit. This is because a 5% reduction in the selling price leads to a fall in the 
contribution margin, as revenue will fall, but there will not be a corresponding fall in 
variable costs in absolute terms. This can be seen in the 8.5% reduction in 
contribution. Fixed costs will stay the same, but represent a greater percentage of the 
contribution, and so profits fall by even more (10.4%). 
 
Increasing variable cost per unit by 5% also reduces contribution margin. However, it 
will have less impact than a 5% reduction in selling price (a 3.5% fall in contribution 
compared with an 8.5% fall). This is because when the selling price falls, it causes a 
5% drop in revenue which in absolute terms is larger than a 5% increase in variable 
costs. As fixed costs again remain unchanged, gross profit is affected by a greater 
amount than the contribution. 
 
A 5% increase in fixed costs has the least impact on the estimated budget. It has no 
effect on contribution because it is calculated before fixed costs are considered. And 
since fixed costs are the smallest element of the budget in absolute terms, a 5% 
increase only reduces profits by 1.1%.  
 
Limitations of this what-if analysis 
 
This what-if analysis only considers the impact of a change in a single variable at a 
time. It, therefore, ignores the interdependency of variables and assumes that a 
change in one variable would not impact another. However, in practice, this is unlikely. 
For example, in a highly competitive market such as ours, a decrease in selling prices 
is likely to lead to a large increase in demand and therefore volumes sold. It is possible, 
using software, to prepare what-if analysis that model multiple changes to variables at 
the same time, but this has not been done here. 
 
In addition, although this what-if analysis shows the impact of a change in each 
variable it does not tell us anything about the likelihood that it will change.  
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The model here has analysed the impact of a 5% change, but in practice, a change of 
10% or even 15% may be more likely. It would be helpful to know the probability of the 
percentage change in each of the variables so that we could plan more effectively. 
 
The suitability of the EOQ model and adaptations to the assumptions  
 
In principle, the EOQ model is useful because it calculates an order quantity that 
minimises the total of the holding and ordering costs associated with carrying 
inventory.  
 
However, some of its underlying assumptions reduce its suitability for managing the 
inventory of the outer boxes. For example, the model assumes that: 
 

• Annual demand for each size of the box can be determined with a reasonable 

level of certainty, and that this demand is constant throughout the year. This is 

unrealistic; demand levels are growing but the current growth rate is difficult to 

predict and demand for the boxes is seasonal.  

• The lead time between order and delivery is constant or zero. However, 

suppliers are currently unable to meet promised lead times and are unreliable.  

• Purchase costs are constant with no bulk purchase discounts. However, current 

purchasing patterns involve buying high quantities and taking advantage of the 

bulk discounts offered. 

• Holding costs vary with the level of inventory held. This is unlikely to be true 

because a significant proportion of the holding costs for packing boxes are likely 

to be the cost of running the warehouse and therefore fixed in nature. 

To deal with some of these issues, the following adaptions can be made to the model: 
 

• Both uncertainty in demand and variable lead times can be adjusted by setting 

a safety or buffer level of inventory. This will increase overall holding costs but 

provide a degree of flexibility where demand is higher, or lead times are longer 

than we anticipate. The downside of holding buffer inventory is that the longer 

the boxes are stored, the greater the chance they could become damaged, and 

need to be thrown away. 

• The model can be expanded to take account of purchase discounts; it is 

possible to calculate the level of inventory that minimises the sum of holding, 

ordering and purchasing costs after deduction of any discounts. 

How issues should be treated in the financial statements:  
 
Since the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 are still being 
finalised, it is possible to make adjustments for events that happen after the reporting 
period, as long as they are adjusting events in accordance with IAS 10: Events after 
the reporting period. 
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Issue 1: Payment to the cyber attackers 
 
The payment of the ransomware demand on 5 January 2022 represents an adjusting 
event. It is adjusting because payment of the N$60,000 gives evidence of a condition 
(the size of the potential loss) that existed at the reporting date of 31 December 2022 
but could not be quantified at that point. 
 
Since this is an adjusting event, the N$60,000 paid to the attackers should be debited 
to profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022.  
 
Issue 2: Mixing machine damage 
 
The leak in the Production Department happened on 12 January 2023, which is after 
the end of the reporting period. It is a non-adjusting event because the leak is 
independent of any condition which existed at the reporting date of 31 December 2022.   
Any impairment as a result of the damage caused will be charged to profit or loss in 
the year ending 31 December 2023 rather than 2022. However, as it only relates to 
one mixing machine, the impairment is unlikely to be significant enough to disclose in 
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 as a non-adjusting 
event. 
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SECTION 1 
 
The importance of budgets 
 
Preparing budgets for the new Ready@Home production facility is important for the 
following reasons. 
 
Planning: Budgets are a plan for the future and will be driven by the principal budget 
factor, which, in this case, is going to be sales volume (given that outsourcing will be 
used when production capacity is reached). Preparing budgets for the new facility will 
force you to look ahead and, based on anticipated sales volumes, help to determine 
the amount and nature of the resources required in the new facility. The budgeting 
process will help to plan for the equipment that will need to be purchased and whether 
outsourcing some production may be required. Knowing that outsourcing is a 
possibility allows you to plan ahead and negotiate contracts with outsourcing partners 
in good time.   
 
Co-ordination: Budgets will also allow you to coordinate activities within the new 
production facility. Starting with the sales budget, production budgets are then 
prepared which will help to determine the amounts of raw materials (ingredients for 
the smoothies, soups and sauces) and packaging that will need to be purchased and 
the amount of direct and indirect labour that will be required in the new facility. Without 
coordinated budgets, individual managers within the facility may each make their own 
decisions about purchasing or recruitment believing that they are working in the best 
interests of the business.  
 
Communication and motivation: Budgets provide targets and are therefore a form 
of communication, as they allow managers within the facility to understand what is 
expected of them.  
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For example, if the budgets identify that some production needs to be outsourced, you 
know that you will need to set up arrangements and communicate with outsource 
partners.  Budgets can also be a useful device for influencing managerial behaviour 
and motivating managers to perform in line with the company’s objectives, especially 
if the achievement of the targets in the budgets is linked to some form of reward.  
 
Control: Budgets also provide the plan against which actual results can be compared 
in the future. For example, if we budget to produce 500,000 smoothies but we find that 
because of demand we need to produce 800,000 smoothies, we can flex our original 
budget to this level of production and perform variance analysis. By flexing the budget 
to the actual level of production, the variances will show planned performance against 
actual performance. For example, we could establish if we paid more or less for the 
800,000 bio-degradable pouches needed for the production of the smoothies. If we 
paid more, we could then investigate if this is the result of poor purchasing decisions 
and take corrective action if necessary.  
 
Sources and types of big data to create a sales forecast for Ready@Home 
 
Big data refers to structured and unstructured data, usually in digital form, created 
outside of an organisation and available to everybody. Big data comes in two main 
forms: structured data, which is deliberately produced and collected for a specific 
purpose, and unstructured data, which is captured passively without a clear purpose 
(for example, social media posts and ‘likes’). The sources and types of big data that 
will assist with creating a sales forecast for the new Ready@Home range include the 
following: 
 

• Social media such as Facebook and Twitter. Unstructured data from these 

platforms can give us insights into customer preferences and changing trends. 

This will help us to assess the mix of products that we may sell. For example, 

if soups are waning in popularity, but smoothies are increasing, this will 

influence the demand that we might expect for each, and we can forecast 

accordingly. 

• The web. There is a vast amount of data on the web, much of which will be 

structured. Relevant types of data will include: 

o Long range weather predictions will help us to determine when hearty 

and warming soups may be in higher demand. 

o Industry briefings and reports give data about the size of the market in 

general. 

o Government reports about levels of disposable income and possible 

factors that might affect this, such as future interest rate rises or changes 

in the national minimum wage. 

• Machine generated information from home devices. These sorts of devices 

capture unstructured data about items that have been searched for (for 

example, types of recipes or suppliers of vegan products).    
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Limiting the impact of selling to retailers on our cash flow 
 
One way in which we could limit the impact of selling to retailers on our cash flow is to 
have sound credit control procedures in place. We do not currently have a credit 
control department, as all our sales are direct to subscribers rather than through 
retailers, and therefore we will need to employ a credit controller. Their job will be to 
ensure that invoices are sent promptly on dispatch of goods, invoice queries are dealt 
with promptly and that the retailers are chased for payment if they do not pay within 
their credit period. 
 
As well as making sure that we have a credit control function, we could also offer the 
retailers a prompt payment discount. For example, we could offer a 0.5% or 1% 
discount on the invoice value for payment within 20 days. This will mean that we 
receive cash into the business more quickly, but only if the retailers take advantage of 
it. The discount percentage and the reduced credit period expected will need to be 
attractive enough for the retailer to want to accept it. Given that retailers all operate 
nationally, they are large businesses with significant influence over their suppliers. 
Therefore, the level of discount may need to be significant. We will need to weigh the 
cost of giving this discount against the benefit of receiving the cash earlier. 
 
Alternatively, we could consider factoring in our receivables. A factoring arrangement 
would result in a factor taking over the management of our receivables ledger. It would 
advance a percentage (usually somewhere between 60% to 80%) of the value of 
invoices raised at the point that they are raised, which means that we would receive a 
significant proportion of the invoice value straight away. However, there would be 
significant costs associated with this as the factor will charge an administration fee as 
well as a finance charge for the funds advanced. However, it would not be necessary 
to set up our credit control function, which would save cost. 
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SECTION 2 
 
Promotional campaign decision 

What the measures in Table 2 mean 
 
The expected value for each campaign is the weighted average of all possible 
outcomes, weighted by the probabilities associated with each outcome (20% chance 
that the market reaction is very good, 50% that the market reaction is good and 30% 
that the market reaction is poor). This represents the average result for each 
campaign, assuming that it is repeated many times. Table 2 indicates that Campaign 
3 has the highest expected value and Campaign 1 the lowest.  
 
The standard deviation for each campaign is a measure of the variation of the possible 
outcomes from the expected value and is, therefore, a measure of volatility. The 
greater the spread of the possible outcomes, typically the greater the standard 
deviation. Table 2 indicates that Campaign 2 has the greatest volatility of possible 
outcomes and is therefore potentially the riskiest.  
 
The coefficient of variation for each campaign is its standard deviation divided by its 
expected value. This gives the relative size of the risk when compared to the expected 
return and so enables comparison between the campaigns in respect of risk. Table 2 
indicates that Campaign 2 has the highest risk per N$1 of expected value, and 
Campaign 1 the lowest. 
 
The decision under different risk attitudes  
 
A risk-neutral decision maker will choose the campaign that maximises the expected 
value. Thus, a risk-neutral decision maker would select Campaign 3. This type of 
decision maker ignores risk and therefore would not be concerned that, for Campaign 
3, there is a 30% chance of not making any additional profit from the campaign.  
 
A risk-seeker decision maker is interested in the best outcome no matter how small 
the likelihood that it will occur. Campaign 2 has the highest of all of the nine possible 
outcomes of N$975,000, and a risk-seeking decision maker would therefore choose 
this campaign, despite the fact that there is only a 20% chance of this occurring, and 
it is the only campaign that could result in a loss. 
 
A risk-averse decision maker will choose the campaign which given the same level of 
return has the lowest level of risk. Such a decision maker will choose the lowest 
coefficient of variation because this is a measure of risk for each N$1 of expected 
return. Such a decision maker would therefore choose Campaign 1, despite the fact 
that this has the lowest expected value and has a maximum outcome of only 
N$525,000, which is considerably lower than the best outcomes for the other two 
campaigns. The low expected value is countered by the low spread of the values as 
shown by the standard deviation.  
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Accounting treatment of the lease 
 
In accordance with IFRS 16: Leases, we will need to initially record a right-of-use asset 
and a lease liability. The right-of-use asset represents the fact that we have the right 
to use the cooking vats for the lease term. The liability reflects the fact that we have a 
future obligation to pay the lease payments over the lease term.  
 
Lease liability 
 
The liability will initially be measured and recorded at the present value of the lease 
payments that are unpaid at the commencement of the lease and which are due over 
the lease term. IFRS 16 defines the lease term as the period of non-cancellable 
payments plus any optional period if the option is reasonably certain of being 
exercised. For this lease, there is an initial lease term of 4 years and an option to 
extend the lease term for a further 3 years, which we expect to exercise. Therefore, 
the lease term is 7 years.   
 
The initial lease liability will be measured as the present value of the four payments of 
N$50,000 starting on 31 August 2023 and the three payments of N$10,000 a year 
after that. The discount rate used to calculate the present value should be the interest 
rate implicit in the lease which is 10%.   
   
For the year ending 31 December 2022, the lease liability will be increased by a 
finance charge of 10% of the initial lease liability, pro-rated to reflect the fact that 4 
months of interest will relate to this financial year. This will be charged to profit or loss 
and reduce profit for the year. On 31 December 2022, the lease liability will be split 
into a current liability and a non-current liability.   
 
Right-of-use asset 
 
The right-of-use asset will initially be measured at the initial measurement value of the 
liability plus any lease payment made at the start of the lease. As the first payment for 
this lease is due on 31 August 2023, the initial value of the right-of-use asset for this 
lease will be the same as the initial value of the lease liability. 
 
The right-of-use asset will need to be depreciated in line with the principles of IAS 16: 
Property, Plant and Equipment. Since the lessor will own the underlying assets at the 
end of the lease term, the depreciation period will the lower the lease term and the 
useful life of the asset and therefore 7 years. For the year ending 31 December 2022, 
this will result in 3 months of depreciation being charged to profit or loss with the initial 
value of the right-of-use asset reduced by the depreciation. Depreciation will be 3 
months rather than 4 months because the assets will not be available for use until 1 
October 2022. The right-of-use asset will be included as part of non-current assets. 
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Accounting treatment of purchasing the cooking vats outright 
 
If the cooking vats are purchased outright, we will still recognise an asset. These 
assets will initially be recorded at cost, which is the purchase price (N$105,000) plus 
any costs which are directly attributable to getting the assets ready for their intended 
use. This will include the delivery costs of N$1,000 and the installation costs of 
N$2,600 because without these expenditures the cooking vats will not be ready for 
use. The initial value of the assets will be different compared to leasing but will still be 
included within non-current assets in our statement of financial position. 
 
These assets will be depreciated over their useful life of 10 years, which is longer than 
the depreciation period for the lease. The annual depreciation on a straight-line basis 
will be calculated as an initial cost less residual value of N$10,000 divided by 10. 
However, in line with the treatment for the lease, only 3 months’ worth of depreciation 
will be charged for the year ending 31 December 2022 to reflect the fact that the 
cooking vats will be available for use from 1 October 2022.   
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SECTION 3 
 
What Chart 1 indicates  

The multi-product profit-volume chart is a graphical representation of budgeted profit 
or loss about budgeted revenue, assuming that we either sell the Ready@Home 
products in order of c/s ratio (the line ABCD) or sell the products in the budgeted mix 
(the straight-line AD).  
 
Chart 1 indicates that budgeted fixed costs (which included fixed production overhead 
for the new production facility and the cost of the initial advertising campaign for the 
new range) for the 3-month period are around N$480,000. This is shown at point A on 
the chart. At point D, Chart 1 indicates that the total budgeted revenue is around 
N$1,170,000 and the budgeted profit is around N$130,000 for the period.  
 
Assuming that we sell our smoothies, soups and sauces in the budgeted mix, Chart 1 
indicates that we will break even (that is make enough contribution to cover all of our 
fixed costs) at a revenue of approximately N$920,000. This gives us a margin of safety 
of around 21% because total revenue in the period would need to fall from around 
N$1,170,000 to K$920,000 before a loss is made.  
 
For line ABCD, AB represents sales of soups, BC represents sales of smoothies and 
CD represents sales of sauces. Line AB has the highest gradient, which reflects the 
fact that soups have the highest c/s ratio. With this assumption, break even is reached 
earlier (at revenue of approximately N$880,000), and therefore the margin of safety is 
slightly larger at around 25%. This line also indicates, based on the length of each part 
of the line, that we expect to earn the largest absolute amount of revenue from soups 
and the least from sauces.     
 
How the chart and break-even position would be affected by changes to the 
budget  
 
If there is a change in the budgeted sales mix, this will change the weighted average 
c/s margin. For example, if the mix changed so that we budgeted to sell proportionately 
more of our lowest c/s ratio sauces and proportionately less of our highest c/s ratio 
soups, this would reduce the weighted average c/s ratio. The effect of this on the chart 
is that the gradient of line AD would become shallower, resulting in an increase to the 
break-even point and a reduction in the margin of safety. For line ABCD, section AB 
would become shorter, and section CD would become longer, again resulting in an 
increase in the break-even point and a reduction in a margin of safety. 
 
An increase in the proportion of sales through our website will increase the average 
selling price because retailers pay a lower price than our website customers. This will 
therefore increase the c/s ratios for each product. The effect of this on the chart is that 
both lines AD and ABCD will become steeper. This means that it will take less sales 
volume to break even and therefore increase the margin of safety.   
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Activity based costing (ABC) 

In ABC, an activity is an event or task that consumes resources and for which cost is 

incurred. To help us define the activities and associated costs within our new 

production facility, we can use the following hierarchy. 

Unit-level activities  

Unit-level activities are activities that are performed (and therefore generate cost) each 

time that an individual unit of a product is made. As such, unit-level activities are those 

where the consumption of resources is strongly linked to the level of output. In our 

case, this would be any activity that generates cost and occurs when we produce a 

pouch of smoothie, soup or sauce. Examples of costs within the new facility that would 

be categorised as unit-level include any overhead costs associated with activities that 

generate cost in proportion to the level of output. This is similar to the traditional view 

of costs being classified as “variable” when they vary in proportion to the number of 

units produced. Given the machine-intensive nature of some of the production 

process, this will include energy costs. It could be thought that power could be batch 

level but some batches will need more power because of the volume in the batch, and 

therefore the driver of power is more likely to be the number of units produced than 

the number of batches. 

Batch-level activities 

Batch-level activities are activities where resources are consumed in proportion to the 

number of batches produced rather than on a unit basis. In the new production facility, 

we will be producing each of our separate products, and each new batch will require 

the raw ingredients to be moved into production from the warehouse and for the 

cooking vats and blending machines to be cleaned. Therefore, examples of batch-

level activities will include cooking vat and blending machine cleaning and raw 

ingredient movement. 

Product-level activities  

Product-level activities are activities where resources are consumed to support 

individual products (rather than units of product). These activities are undertaken 

irrespective of the number of units of the product that will be made, and the cost of 

these activities therefore cannot be directly linked to the number of units of production. 

In our case, we will be constantly developing new recipes and flavours for our 

smoothies, soups and sauces and possibly also changing existing recipes to deal with 

changes in the availability of raw ingredients. Therefore, recipe development is an 

example of a product-level activity. 
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Facility-level activities 

Facility-level activities are activities where resources are consumed to support the 
business but cannot be traced to individual products. These activities are performed 
to support the production facility as a whole and are common to all products. 
Examples of facility level costs within our new production facility are general 
production management costs (such as Victor Long’s salary), property maintenance 
and property depreciation. 
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SECTION 4 
 
Sales variances for website sales of smoothies for October to December 2022 
 
Sales price variances: The sales price variance for every day is adverse, which 
means that, across the 3-month period, the actual selling price per unit was lower than 
the standard selling price per unit. The standard price excludes the impact of the 
discount authorised by Ben Jonas in response to the competitor launching its range of 
smoothies. The every day adverse variance is therefore the result of this discount. The 
variance for Superfood is favourable, which means that, across the 3-month period, 
the actual selling price for this range was higher than standard. We launched a new 
Superfood flavour in November that was extremely popular. It could be that the 
popularity meant that we did not need to discount the price. The absence of any other 
information about changes to retail prices will be the reason for this variance. 
 
Sales mix variances: The adverse and favourable sales mix profit variances indicate 
that for our actual level of sales we sold proportionally less every day, proportionately 
more Superfood and proportionately less Premium compared to our standard mix. This 
change in the mix has resulted in N$2,343 of additional profit during the quarter. The 
following are potential reasons for this change in the mix: 
 

• A competitor launched a smoothie range at a price 20% lower than our 

Everyday range. Given that Everyday is our lowest price range, it is likely that 

the competitor smoothies are a direct competitor to our Everyday range, 

although possibly less so for our other ranges. This will have led to a reduction 

in the proportion of Everyday sales compared to the other ranges.  

• The celebrity endorsement of the Superfood range has likely boosted its 

popularity compared to our other ranges. Given the price variance for 

Superfood, it would also appear that the new flavour that was launched was 

particularly popular with customers, which may have affected the mix. 

• The unavailability of some flavours in our Premium range may have resulted in 

some customers ordering from our Superfood range instead.  

Sales quantity profit variances: The sales quantity profit variance is best considered 
in total and is adverse, which means that in total we sold less smoothies than budgeted 
in the standard mix. This overall decrease in sales volumes will be the result of the 
combination of influences on the price and mix variances which are explained above. 
The launch of a range from a competitor at a lower price may have taken sales away 
from us, and the unavailability of some flavours may have resulted in lower total sales. 
It is likely that without the celebrity endorsement for the Superfood range, the sales 
quantity variance would have been considerably worse. 
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Planning and operational variances 
 
Our standards for the new Ready@Home range are based on our assessment of what 
we expected the environment to be and the actions that we expected to take. For 
example, our standard selling price for Everyday smoothies reflects the price that we 
expected to sell this product for. However, sometimes the environment changes or our 
planned actions change, and therefore it is important that we can reflect this in the 
variance analysis.  
 
Identifying planning variances (which typically are not controllable) will give us useful 
information on the accuracy of our initial planning and could help us to improve the 
accuracy of future plans, should we launch another new range. However, there can 
be difficulties associated with determining what is a planning issue and what is an 
operational issue. 
 
For example, it could be argued that the effect of the discount for the Everyday range 
should be identified and separated as a planning price variance. This is because our 
plans changed because of a competitor launching a new range of smoothies which we 
had not anticipated when the budget was set. Alternatively, we could take the view 
that management should have anticipated a competitor launching a competitor 
product, and that this should have been reflected in our original budget. In which case, 
the impact of the discount would be considered an operational issue. 
 
Key performance indicators: 
 
Percentage of meal-kit subscribers ordering Ready@Home: This would be 
measured as the number of our Meals@Home meal-kit subscribers making a 
Ready@Home purchase divided by the total number of subscribers, measured as a 
percentage each week or month. We are actively promoting this new product range 
on our subscription pages, and therefore this measure would help us to see how 
effective these promotion messages are. To some extent, our existing subscribers are 
already loyal to our brand, and therefore we might expect a reasonably high level of 
interest in this new product range from them. 
 
Percentage of Ready@Home customers placing repeat orders: This would be 
measured as the number of customers making a repeat order divided by the total 
number of customers, measured as a percentage each week or month. It is important 
that we build some brand loyalty with the new range and having customers making 
repeat orders is an indication that this is happening. If the measure declines over time, 
this could indicate that maybe customers are not happy with the range of flavours or 
the quality of our products, both of which could be addressed. 
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Click through rate from social media posts: This would be measured as the number 
of people clicking through to our website shop page divided by the number of people 
viewing the social media post, measured as a percentage. Social media posts will be 
designed to reach as wide an audience as possible, and it’s important that the content 
of these posts is engaging enough to encourage potential customers to click the link 
to our website to make a purchase. This measure would give us an idea of how often 
this is happening and therefore how engaging and enticing social media posts are. 
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SECTION 1 
 
Time series analysis  
 
Explanation of Table 1 and Chart 1 
 
Table 1 shows us the number of vegan meal kits sold each quarter in Newland during 
2019 to 2021, and this is also reflected in the solid line in Chart 1. From this raw data, 
we can see that there is growth in this market over this period because sales volumes 
in 2021 are significantly higher than those in 2019.  
 
This raw data shows that there is a seasonal effect to demand across a year, as sales 
are always highest in the first quarter of the year. It should be noted though that this 
seasonal effect is not uniform across the period. For 2019 and 2021, quarter 4 has the 
lowest sales of the year, while for 2020, it has the second highest. It is likely that Sara 
Hink’s cookery show in the final quarter of 2020 had an impact on sales demand for 
that quarter which has disrupted the pattern of the data.  
 
Table 1 shows the centered 4-point moving average in the final column. To arrive at 
281,000 in quarter 3 of 2019, the sales for quarters 1 to 4 2019 were averaged, then 
the sales for Q2 2019 to Q1 2020 were averaged and then an average was taken of 
these two averages. This represents the long-term movement in sales through the 
period and excludes the impact of seasonality on sales. It is represented by the dotted 
line in Chart 1. 
 
From this dotted line in Chart 1, we can see that the centered 4-point moving average 
shows minor growth during 2019 and into 2020 and then stronger growth from 2020 
onwards.  
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This significant growth is likely driven, certainly initially, by the massive popularity of 
Sara Hink’s vegan cookery show, although it is unclear whether this continues to have 
an impact given that, presumably, the programme is no longer on air. However, we do 
know that there is an increasing view that being vegan is healthy and good for the 
environment, and this is now likely to be driving some of the growth. 
 
Difficulties in using this information to create a forecast 
 
The difficulties of using this information to create a forecast include: 
 

• Only three years worth of sales information is available and within this, the rate 

of growth in the market has changed considerably, as shown by the centered 

4-point moving average line. This is partly because of a television show and 

partly because of increasing awareness of the health and environmental 

benefits of veganism. Any trend line based on this three years worth of data is 

likely to lack accuracy because it will average out the growth.  

• Even if we focused on the later part of the period to determine our trend line 

(from period 6 or 7 onwards), this would be problematic because there is 

insufficient data to establish whether the cookery show will have a permanent 

impact, or whether the popularity of veganism will wane over time. 

• We need to create a forecast for quarter 4 2022 onwards which is three full 

quarters away from the last actual data and five quarters away from the last 4-

point moving average information. This makes it difficult to extrapolate,  

whichever method we decide to determine the trend. 

• Using the actual sales volume data is problematic because of the wide 

fluctuations in the data over the period. However, using the centered 4-point 

moving average to determine the trend will help to deal with this because the 

fluctuations are smoothed out. 

• It will be difficult to determine seasonal variations given that the television show 

has created a distortion in the seasonal pattern within 2020. The 2021 data 

seems to indicate a similar seasonal pattern to 2019, indicating that this may 

be the norm, although without further information, this is difficult to establish. 

• It will also be difficult to determine our share of the market. The information 

given is for the whole market in Newland, and we will need to determine our 

share of this. This will be made more difficult potentially, as there are companies 

that specialise in vegan meal kits, which could mean that they take a 

proportionately greater share of the market than we will be able to. 
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Costing of videos 
 
Direct and indirect costs of a specific video  
 
The direct costs will be any costs which relate to a specific video, and these may be 
incurred up-front or during the lifetime of the video. The up-front direct costs include 
the fees paid to the video production company for creating the video and the fee paid 
to Sara Hinks for appearing in the video. It will also include any direct costs borne by 
us and associated with creating the content of the specific video, such as the cost of 
ingredients used and the cost of any of our own employee time used or any additional 
costs such as energy incurred within our development kitchen. The lifetime direct costs 
will include the royalties paid to Sara Hinks and the fees payable to the video hosting 
website each time a specific video is viewed. 
 
The indirect costs will be any costs which relate to the making of the series of videos, 
but which cannot be assigned to a specific video. Again, some of these indirect costs 
will be incurred up-front and others over the lifetime of the video series. The up-front 
indirect costs include the costs of upgrading our development kitchen and the one-off 
fee payable to the video hosting website. There may also be costs incurred to upgrade 
our website or app to ensure that the videos can be hosted. In addition, we will be 
using our development kitchen as the location of the videos, and therefore it could be 
argued that the indirect costs for the video series should include a share of the costs 
of operating this. The ongoing lifetime indirect costs will include any costs associated 
with maintaining and supporting the viewing of the videos on our website and through 
the app. 
 
Potential problems of determining a cost for each specific video 
 
The total cost of a specific video will include the royalties to be paid to Sara Hinks and 
the ongoing fees payable to the video hosting website, both of which will depend on 
the number of times a specific video is viewed. Therefore, one potential difficulty will 
be to estimate how many times a video will be viewed. This will presumably depend 
on the popularity of the recipe for the meal kit being demonstrated as well as the length 
of time that we expect the meal kit to be in our portfolio. The more popular the meal –
kit, the higher the royalties and fees will be. 
 
Another potential difficulty will arise in determining how much of the indirect cost 
should be apportioned to each video. For example, the one-off fee payable to the video 
hosting website will apply to all of the videos and therefore should be shared among 
all videos. The issue though is that at this stage we do not know how many videos will 
be hosted and therefore how many videos to split this cost over. While there will be 10 
initially, more will be filmed and hosted as new meal kits are developed.  
 
In addition, some of the indirect costs that will be incurred will benefit more than just 
the videos. For example, the upgrade of the development kitchen will presumably 
benefit the normal development work of the kitchen as well as the videos. We will 
therefore need to share the upgrade cost between the two functions, and it will be 
difficult to determine an appropriate basis for this. 
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SECTION 2 
 
Maintenance contract decision 

Table 1 and risk-neutral approach to decision making 

Table 1 shows us the possible cost of each maintenance contract option for each of 

four different situations. The first situation is the worst-case position where both the 

number of call outs and the maintenance hours required on each call out is at the 

highest level of Greta’s estimates. The fourth situation shows the best-case position 

where both the number of calls out and the maintenance hours required on each call 

out are at the lowest level of Greta’s estimates. The second and third situations are 

combinations of the highest and lowest number of call outs and the number of hours 

required per call out.  

Table 1 indicates that Greta has estimated that there is a 60% chance of the highest 

level of call outs and a 40% chance of the lowest level. It also indicates that there is a 

30% chance of the highest number of hours required per call out and 70% of the 

lowest. The joint probability column represents the probability for each of the four 

situations. For example, the joint probability of 0.18 for the highest call outs and highest 

hours required is the product of multiplying each of the separate probabilities.  

The expected value of each option represents the weighted average outcome, 

weighted according to the joint probabilities associated with the possible outcome of 

each of the four situations given. Using a risk-neutral approach to decision making, we 

will select the option which gives us the best expected value. Given that this is about 

cost, we would therefore select the option which gives us the lowest expected value 

for the cost. This is Option 2 at an expected value of N$30,450. 

Limitations of using the information and a risk-neutral approach 

One limitation of using this approach to decision making is that it ignores the risk 

associated with the decision. As noted above, we would select Option 2 using this 

approach, which ignores the fact that there is a 28% chance of the best-case scenario 

(lowest number of call outs and lowest number of required hours per call out), where 

the cost of Option 2 is the highest of the options.  

Another limitation is that we are basing this decision on probabilities which have been 

estimated for the best-case and worst-case positions for both the number of call outs 

and hours required per call out. This is oversimplifying the possible situations, as 

presumably the level of call outs could be anywhere between the lowest and the 

highest estimates. The same will be true for the hours required per call out: indeed, in 

reality, the hours required will vary from call out to call out.   
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Old herbs & spice machinery 
 
We first need to consider whether the old herbs & spice machinery meets the criteria 
to be reclassified as an asset held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, or whether it will remain as a non-
current asset.  
 
To be reclassified as an asset held for sale, an asset needs to be available for 
immediate sale in its present condition, and its sale must be highly probable. A sale is 
highly probable when: management is committed to sell the asset; there is an active 
programme to find a buyer; the asset is marketed at a reasonable price; the sale is 
expected to take place within 12 months, and it is unlikely that the plan to sell the asset 
will change. 
 
The old herbs & spices machinery will cease to be used on 1 November 2022. 
However, it will not be available for immediate sale in its present condition until it has 
been fully dismantled, which will occur at the end of November. It would therefore 
appear that the old herbs & spices machinery will be available for immediate sale in 
its present condition from the end of November.  
 
The machinery will be put up for sale on 1 December, indicating that there is a 
management plan to sell the asset and that a buyer is being sought from that date. 
There is a good second-hand market for this type of machinery and therefore, 
presumably, the price of N$35,000 is reasonable. We expect to sell the machinery 
within 6 months, which indicates that we will achieve the 12-month criteria.  
 
Therefore, it appears that the sale is probable from 1 December 2021, which means 
that the old herbs & spices machinery will be reclassified as an asset held for sale on 
that date. We will depreciate the asset up until this date, even though it will not be 
used in November.  On 31 December 2022, the asset held for sale will be recorded in 
the statement of financial position within a separate component of current assets.  
 
The value included for the asset held for sale will be the lower of its carrying amount 
at the date of reclassification (which is its depreciated cost at 1 December 2022) and 
fair value less costs to sell (N$35,000 less N$1,200 for the dismantling cost). If a fair 
value less cost to sell is lower than the carrying amount, the difference will be charged 
to profit or loss, which will reduce profit. If fair value less costs to sell is higher than the 
carrying amount there will be no adjustment affecting profit. 
 
Disposal of warehouse property  
 
The sale of one of our warehouse properties will give rise to a chargeable gain or loss. 
A chargeable gain will be subject to capital tax at a rate of 20% and a chargeable loss 
can be carried forward to offset against future chargeable gains.  
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The amount of the chargeable gain or loss in this case, will be the proceeds of the sale 
of N$350,000 less than the property’s original cost of N$120,000 less the N$50,000 of 
expenditure to extend the warehouse less the indexation allowance available. The 
indexation allowance will be available on the original cost from the date of original 
purchase until the date of sale and will also be available on the extension expenditure 
from the date of that expenditure until the date of sale. The indexation allowance will 
reduce the chargeable gain and is effectively an allowance for the impact of inflation. 
Assuming that we have a chargeable gain, then our tax payable will increase by the 
chargeable gain multiplied by the capital tax rate of 20%.  
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SECTION 3 
 
Fixed production overhead variances for the Herbs & Spices Department for 
December  
 
Expenditure variance: The expenditure variance is the difference between the actual 
overhead incurred in December and the amount of overhead expected to be incurred 
based on the revised budget. This variance is N$1,400 adverse, which means that 
more was spent than we had expected to spend. Fixed overhead includes a wide 
range of expenditures, but given that these are fixed costs, we would usually expect 
this to be consistent for a given level of activity. The reasons for this adverse variance 
will be the additional costs that were not anticipated when the budget was revised 
which include the employment costs for the additional supervisor and the cost of 
having the new equipment recalibrated.  
 
Efficiency variance: The efficiency variance is the difference between the standard 
machine hours needed for the actual output of herb & spices packets and the actual 
machine hours worked multiplied by the standard absorption rate per hour. This 
variance measures the efficiency of the absorption base, which is machine hours. The 
N$7,450 adverse variance means that we used more machine hours to produce the 
actual number of herbs & spices packets produced than we should have based on the 
revised standard. The main reason for this will be the fact that the equipment was 
recalibrated, which resulted in it operating at a slower rate. If this change in pace is 
permanent, this would indicate that the standard needs to be revised again. 
 
Capacity variance: The capacity variance reflects the difference between the 
budgeted machine hours (based on the revised budget) and the actual machine hours 
worked multiplied by the standard absorption rate per hour. This variance is N$3,675 
favourable and indicates that more machine hours were worked than budgeted, 
reflecting an increase in the capacity of the machinery. This increase is due to the 
additional shifts that have been worked as a result of the machinery being slowed 
down, resulting in more machine hours worked. Note: the efficiency and capacity 
variance added together give an adverse volume variance. This is due to the lower 
production of herbs & spices packets than expected during December.   
 
Total variance: The total variance reflects the difference between actual expenditure 
and the amount of fixed production overhead absorbed. This variance is adverse, 
which means that actual expenditure is higher than the amount absorbed, and we 
have therefore under-absorbed fixed production overhead. The reasons for this are as 
explained above in respect of the individual variances. 
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KPIs for Herbs & Spices Department  
 
Percentage of machine idle time: This is a measure of how much available machine 
time is idle during a month. While some idle time is inevitable to allow for routine 
maintenance, cleaning and resetting of the machinery, it is important that this is kept 
to a minimum so that the machinery is productive. If the machinery is idle, then herbs 
& spices packets are not being produced, which could potentially affect the production 
of meal-kit bags and ultimately limit the meal-kits available for sale and affect customer 
goodwill if orders for specific meal-kits cannot be satisfied. For December, the level of 
idle time is double what it should be, which is likely the result of the machinery having 
to be recalibrated. In addition, given the newness of the machinery, it could be that it 
has taken longer to clean or reset than it should have because of the inexperience of 
the staff with this machinery. This may also have been compounded by the lower staff 
retention rate which indicates that there were more new staff than normal in the 
department during December. 
 
Percentage of wasted production: This is a measure of how much production is 
scrapped during the month, and our target is zero scrappage. Any scrapped 
production is a cost to the business in respect of the herbs and spices used as well as 
the conversion costs incurred for this scrapped production such as energy and labour 
costs. More than that, scrapped production has an environmental cost in that this is a 
waste of natural resources. Therefore, it is important that scrapped production is 
monitored, so that any reasons for this occurring can be eliminated going forward. For 
December, the level of scrapped production is 4%, which is potentially quite 
considerable. This is due to the issues with the machinery at the start of the month but 
may also be due to the machinery not being correctly set up by new or inexperienced 
staff.  
 
Staff retention rate: This is a measure of the level of staff remaining within the 
department. This is an important measure of staff satisfaction in their work, their 
working environment and the level of pay and benefits that they receive. We might 
always expect there to be some staff movement (because of promotion or moving to 
a different location), which is why we have a 95% target rather than a 100% target. 
However, a lower level, such as shown for December, indicates that there are 
potentially some issues within the team. Perhaps staff were unhappy about the new 
machinery, perhaps they didn’t feel that they had adequate training or guidance. 
Maybe staff were not happy about the additional shifts, perhaps having to work 
unsocial hours. The reasons for staff leaving must be investigated (possibly by 
conducting exit interviews) and action is taken if necessary to boost staff satisfaction 
and morale.   
 
  



May & August 2022 9 Operational Case Study Exam 

 

Factors to consider when making short-term investments 
 
Liquidity: Liquidity in this context refers to how quickly the investment can be 
converted back into cash, which may be an important consideration if we wanted the 
chance to bring forward our expansion project again. Some investments such as 
Treasury Bills or Certificates of Deposit are marketable, which means that they can 
quickly be converted back into cash by selling the investments on the market to 
another investor. These types of investments, therefore, have high liquidity and will 
enable us to quickly deal with changing plans. Other investments, such as some bank 
deposit accounts, can tie the cash up for a period, and such investments are therefore 
less liquid and reduce our flexibility. 
 
Risk: Risk in this context refers to the safety of the investment or the chance that the 
investment may lose value in the short term. Investing in the stock market is perhaps 
the most risky form of investment we could take, as there is a high chance that we 
lose some of the value of the capital invested. At the other extreme, placing the funds 
in a bank deposit account is one of the safest or least risky ways of investing the funds 
because we can expect to get our capital back plus interest. There may be an element 
of default risk in respect of the bank becoming bankrupt, but this is highly unlikely in a 
developed economy such as ours where banking is regulated. Given that we will be 
using these funds in 4 months on another expansion project, the safety of the capital 
amount is likely to be a high priority. 
 
Return: Usually, the lower the risk of an investment, the lower the return (that is, the 
profit) and vice versa, hence the risk is a key factor in how much return will be 
generated. In addition, the liquidity of the investment will also play a part, as the more 
liquid the investment is, the lower the level of return usually. We also need to factor in 
the administrative costs of investing which will affect the overall profitability of the 
investment. Typically, marketable investments such as Treasury Bills will have higher 
administrative costs than bank deposit accounts. 
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SECTION 4 
 
Relevant and irrelevant costs and revenues of the decision to continue with the 
vegan roadshow 
 
The relevant costs and revenues to be considered in the decision will be the future, 
incremental cashflows which will arise as a result of organising and holding the 
roadshow. This excludes any costs which have already been incurred, even if they 
relate to the conference. It also excludes any costs which have already been 
committed to. In terms of each of the items identified in Table 1: 
 
Revenue: We will charge N$30 per attendee and have a maximum capacity of 2,000 
attendees. The N$30 per attendee is relevant revenue because this is a cash flow that 
will happen in the future and only arises if the roadshows go ahead. The total amount 
of relevant revenue to include though will depend on our assessment of how many 
tickets we expect to sell in the end. To date, we have sold 1,000 tickets, however, it is 
possible that more could be sold right up until the date of the roadshows. We will 
therefore need to establish how many more tickets we realistically expect to sell.  
 
Hire of venues: The non-refundable deposit of N$5,000 is not a relevant cost because 
this has already been paid and cannot be claimed back if we cancel the roadshows. 
This is a sunk cost. However, the additional cost of N$7,000 is relevant because this 
is a future cash flow which will occur only if the roadshows happen. However, given 
the low ticket sales, it maybe is possible to reduce the number of roadshow events, 
and therefore we may make a saving on the hotel cost, depending on the deal that 
has been negotiated.  
 
Ingredients: The ingredients will be taken from our inventory when the roadshow 
occurs. Most of these are currently used in our meal –kits, and therefore we will need 
to replace the inventory if the roadshow goes ahead. As a result, the relevant cost for 
these ingredients is the cost of replacing them, which may well be different from our 
standard cost and will need to be established. The coconut milk, which is currently in 
inventory, is not used in our meal kits and will be thrown away if the roadshow does 
not happen. The relevant cost of this ingredient is therefore nil because the original 
purchase is a sunk cost, and there is not an alternative use for it. Using the coconut 
milk at the roadshows means that we will not have to incur any costs of throwing it 
away, and those savings are a relevant cash inflow here.  
 
Sara Hinks: The fee payable to Sara Hinks of N$10,000 will only be a relevant cost if 
we do not allow her to sell her cookery books at the roadshow. Given that allowing this 
is unlikely to cost us anything, it would make sense to accept this offer, in which case 
the relevant cost for Sara Hink’s involvement is nil because there will be no future cash 
flow. We do need to consider though whether Sara will still be interested in appearing 
at the event, given the low number of tickets sold to date or whether this will impact 
her decision to waive the fee. 
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Internal employee time: The share of employee salary to reflect the time needed for 
the roadshow will be irrelevant because salaries will be paid regardless of the 
roadshow going ahead. However, the cost of the additional overtime paid will be 
relevant as, presumably, this will only occur because of the roadshow. 
 
Gift bags: The gift bags will only be purchased if the roadshow happens, and therefore 
there will be a relevant cost for this. Since there is a minimum order of 3,000 gift bags, 
we should include the full cost of all 3,000 bags as the relevant cost for this decision, 
as any excess will be given away for free afterwards.  
 
Beyond budgeting  
 
The features of beyond budgeting  
 
A feature of a beyond budgeting approach is the use of rolling forecasts on a monthly 
or quarterly basis, rather than an annual budget. This means that the budget will 
always look 12 months ahead and will be regularly updated to reflect the latest 
conditions and trading environment. It also allows us to review and revise standards 
as necessary to reflect, for example, the latest prices for ingredients and efficiencies 
gained from further automation of the packing process. 
 
Another feature is that instead of just evaluating performance against budget targets 
(through variance reporting), the focus is on a wide range of performance measures 
or key performance indicators (KPIs). We already do this to some extent, but beyond 
budgeting would expand this to include measures that focus on what our competitors 
do and set targets that drive competitiveness. We can also harness the information 
generated from our systems to focus at a granular meal-kit level on popularity and 
customer satisfaction.   
 
A final feature of beyond budgeting is that budgets will be prepared with participation 
from all parts of the business. Currently, we take a central approach to budgeting 
where the annual budget is set by senior management with little input from the rest of 
the business. Under a beyond budgeting approach, this would change as the people 
within the business with detailed knowledge would be involved in creating the rolling 
budgets.  
 
Benefits to our business 
 
A beyond budgeting approach would give us more up-to-date budgets than we 
currently have because they will be prepared on a rolling basis. This will allow 
management to be more forward-looking, leading to better resource allocation 
(because our plan will be more informed) and will allow us to adapt to changes more 
quickly.  
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With a beyond budgeting approach, there is a greater focus on looking ahead and 
forecasting what might happen rather than looking backwards at what has happened. 
For example, benchmarking ourselves against our competitors will give us greater 
insight into what they are doing and help us to foresee where we can get ahead. For 
example, if competitors are offering changes to meal-kit orders the day before 
dispatch, we could aim to do so 12 hours before. If our competitors aim to launch 10 
new meal kits a month, we could aim to better this and, in the process, potentially gain 
a competitive advantage.  
 
Assessing manager’s performance against appropriate KPIs measured over time will 
encourage them to strive for continuous improvement within the business and should 
also improve performance against competitors, as managers focus on key metrics 
linked to customer satisfaction.  
 
Involving all parts of the business in setting budgets and performance targets 
potentially means that those budgets and targets are more realistic. In addition, 
participation in the process should motivate our managers by giving them clear 
responsibilities and targets that they will have been involved in setting. 
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SECTION 1 
 
How the features of a digital costing system can benefit our business 
 
Digital costing systems gather information from the internet in real time, allowing 
automated systems to review the whole market to find suitable products.  
 
As we can see from the food industry data, companies using digital costing systems 
use an average of 251 suppliers compared to the 140 we currently use. Links to larger 
numbers of suppliers can ensure access to the cheapest ingredients available in the 
market and reduce costs. Targeting cost savings is important, as we have fixed 
product sales prices, meaning cost control is required to maximise profit. A digital 
system also allows cost analysis to be taken at a granular level (for example, on a 
cent-by-cent basis), which can be effective where large quantities of products, such 
as dry spices, are purchased. However, this may work most effectively for our meal 
kits rather than OSHB, because for the latter, we are looking for a premium organic 
product where quality may be more important than price. Therefore, looking for strong 
supplier relationships may be better for the business rather than solely judging 
suppliers on price.  
 
Having access to more suppliers can also improve lead times. Given that we supply 
customers at short notice, we effectively operate Just-in-time (JIT) production. The 
biggest impact could be on purchasing, as we currently do not use a JIT inventory 
system. If introduced, JIT purchasing might result in an average reduction in lead time 
from our current 6 days to the industry average of 2 days. Not only would this increase 
production flexibility, so allowing for quick recipe changes, but could also potentially 
reduce inventory holding costs and positively impact on working capital levels. 
  

These answers have been provided by CIMA for information purposes only. The answers 
created are indicative of a response that could be given by a good candidate. They are not to 
be considered exhaustive, and other appropriate relevant responses would receive credit. 
 
CIMA will not accept challenges to these answers on the basis of academic judgement. 
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Within the business, greater automation will also reduce hard copy paperwork through 
automated integrated systems linking departments, leading to more efficient flow-
through of products and less bureaucracy. Externally, digital costing will lead to direct 
supplier links which will increase the accuracy and efficiency of ordering. This should 
also drive more accurate cost drivers, which, in turn, should improve sales price 
forecasting. Both internally and externally, digital systems will provide our organisation 
with the ability to scale up the system as the business grows.   
 
Furthermore, the 3% food waste level seen with the digital costing system is currently 
half the 6% level of food waste that we generate. Reducing our food waste levels will 
not only improve profit levels but also help us to meet our sustainability goals.  
 
The built-in analytics and artificial intelligence within the systems can also allow us to 
better understand the nature of changing costs in production and buying behaviours 
in customers, meaning we have a more accurate understanding of changes and an 
increased ability to understand how the business can be developed to take account of 
the changing conditions. Despite this, it will be difficult to evaluate the packages from 
different departments, and high-level judgements in this area will be required. There 
may also be some rivalry between departments which may lead to higher quality 
proposals but also dysfunctional competition in some cases, with the potential for 
reduced morale where funding bids are unsuccessful.  
 
While the implementation costs of such a system should not be underestimated based 
on the data provided, there is some evidence that the increased automation of a 
successfully installed digital costing system should lead to savings in excess of costs 
over the longer term.   
 
Zero based budgeting (ZBB) 
 
Using ZBB to prepare the promotional marketing budget for our new OSHB 
range 
 
ZBB takes a radically different approach to other budgeting methods, evaluating each 
activity in full each time a budget is prepared. For each activity, a decision package 
should be prepared by those who are closest to the activities. Decision packages 
answer questions such as whether the activity, here marketing, should be undertaken 
at all and if undertaken how it should be done.  
 
It is important to identify objectives for the promotional campaign and then identify 
different packages to help you achieve those objectives, for example, base packages 
and add-ons that fulfil the objectives. Such decision packages can be mutually 
exclusive, so for the promotional campaigns, this would be provided by either the in-
house marketing department or the external marketing company. Alternatively, they 
can be incremental, and here we can see that once a decision has been made about 
internal or external provision, each method provides a base package with potential 
add-ons coming at extra costs, such as the celebrity chef endorsement.  
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Decision packages should then be ranked to ensure contribution to OHSB objectives 
for the pilot and later Meals@Home are maximised. Currently, the different methods 
of promotion (the likely decision packages) have not been ranked against the 
organisation’s objectives, and this would need to be done to lead to the best outcome 
against those original objectives. After this has been completed, the top-ranked 
promotional campaign would be chosen and ranked against other projects in the 
company, with the highest-ranked being funded until all available funds were used.   
 
Limitations of using ZBB across the business 
 
Using ZBB to budget for the new promotional campaign will take more time than using 
a traditional budgeting system. This is because ZBB will require time to assess if the 
promotion should take place and to ensure that each cost can be justified. This is 
different to incremental budgeting where it would be accepted promotions would be 
part of the current year’s budget as it formed part of the previous year, although the 
amount may change.  
 
While the Sales & Marketing Director has put together different promotional packages, 
additional training is likely to be required to ensure accurate decision packages are 
produced.  
 
Additional training may also be required to ensure all factors are considered in 
decisions when ranking the different campaigns. This should include both quantitative 
measures, such as the cost of each campaign and qualitative factors, such as 
comparative service levels provided by the in-house marketing team and the external 
company.  
 
ZBB can also distract from strategic thinking, as it can lead to short-term decision 
making with each decision reviewed in detail each year. It can also become a 
mechanical exercise with managers using the same arguments each year to justify 
their requests. This can be overcome by just using ZBB in areas of discretionary 
expenditure such as promotions/marketing for instance and using it on a rotational 
basis over a 3–4-year cycle.  
 
If ZBB is carried out over the whole business, individual departments could be asked 
to justify their spending and produce decision packages, however, the decision 
packages would not necessarily be judged solely against other packages from within 
that department. There could also be competition for funds/resources from other 
departments and their decision packages. 
 
In addition, there can be a tendency to continue to think about costs on a traditional 
functional department basis rather than through inter-related functions across 
departments.  In this case, promotion is being used to increase sales, however, if 
promotions are used as an activity under ZBB, then the aim is likely to become the 
provision of the same level of promotional output at a reduced cost, whereas the aim 
of promotions should be to produce proportionally more sales than the cost of 
provision.   
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SECTION 2 
 
Decision Tree 
 
How to use the decision tree 
 
The decision tree allows us to break down the complex decision process regarding the 
potential different marketing campaigns into a series of simple steps. The complexity 
of the decision is due to the different combinations of ideas that we may consider. So, 
we can choose between whether to carry out market research and then whether to 
use our internal marketing department or external consultants or use our internal 
marketing department without doing preliminary research. To evaluate the tree, we 
would need to work from right to left, back through the probability and decision points. 
Working back through the tree from the top, we come to the circle, EV1. EV’s show 
probability points where there are issues outside our control. To the right of the EV, 
circles are the estimated probabilities of contribution levels occurring (shown on the 
arrows). In this case, there is an expected probability of 0.75 for high contribution to 
be achieved and 0.25 for low contribution. 
 
The contribution earned at the end of a particular route is shown in the end column.  
Contributions are rolled back from right to left through the tree, and the costs of actions 
(shown as negative figures on the arrows) are netted off to enable us to choose from 
a financial perspective based on expected values (EV), the best decision at each 
decision point.  EV1, like all other EV points, is calculated by summing the sales 
outcomes multiplied by their probabilities. For EV1 that is: 
 

 (N$600,000 x 0.75) +(N$300,000 x 0.25).  
 

The squares on the decision tree show places where we can influence the next steps 
by making a decision. So, at decision point A, we are faced with the choice of obtaining 
outcomes EV1 or EV2. Getting to EV1 and EV2 would cost N$350,000 and 
N$380,000, respectively. So, to decide between the specific internal marketing 
campaign and the external consultant’s marketing campaign, we net the costs of the 
EV against their outcome. The highest net EV should be chosen, which in this case is 
EV1, the specific internal marketing campaign, with a net EV of N$175,000.  
 
A similar analysis will be undertaken at C. This shows the highest net EV is the one 
associated with the general campaign at N$225,000, which is higher than the 
N$20,000 generated by the specific campaign.  
 
The final decision that we will then make is at C. Here, we chose between doing 
preliminary research (costing N$25,000) or moving directly to an internal campaign. 
The net EV for the preliminary research route at A is N$150,000 (EV1 which generates 
N$175,000–N$25,000). This is compared to decision B, the general campaign, which 
generates N$225,000. On this basis, the preliminary research should not be 
undertaken; rather the general campaign should be immediately started by the internal 
marketing department as it generates a higher EV.  
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Issues we should consider before making decisions based on this information 
 
Firstly, it assumes we are going to base the decision on the expected value. Expected 
values assume that the decision maker has a risk-neutral attitude. Risk-neutral 
decision makers will not consider all outcomes and instead will select the strategy 
which is based on expected value. This may not be the case for the SMT, and they 
may not consider expected value at all.   
 
We would also need to be certain of the accuracy of probabilities, as there is a 
considerable difference in the probabilities of high sales which can range from 0.5 to 
0.75 depending on the circumstances since the probabilities drive the outcomes, as 
opposed to different branches generating different sales levels.  
 
In addition, the external consultants have only given us one outcome. This suggests 
they have 100% certainty that they will achieve a contribution of N$540,000, whereas 
the Internal marketing department is only giving a probability of 0.75 of achieving a 
high contribution of N$600,000. Before we agree to this path, it would be prudent to 
understand why they are so certain of these sales levels.  
 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
 
Shrink ratio 
 
The shrink ratio is calculated as the total, by weight, of wasted spices and herbs as a 
% of inventory value. The definition of shrink can vary but it often refers to finished 
goods which manufacturers cannot or will not sell. For OSHB, this may include loose 
or pouched herbs and spices or finished boxes. Losses can be due to herbs being 
spoiled, passing a use-by date; or boxes being damaged in transit or poor demand 
forecasting leading to oversupply. This KPI measures the effectiveness of our 
inventory management systems and production schedule with a high percentage 
indicating an area for improvement.  
 
Recovery ratio 
 
Food recovery relates to the action that business can take to prevent or divert “food” 
waste, which for OSHB, would relate to herbs and spices. This can include diverting 
potentially waste herbs and spices to food banks, for use as animal feed or for 
composting and energy production.  The Recovery ratio is calculated as a percentage 
by weight or value of waste spices and herbs diverted into one of these projects. This 
KPI feeds into Meals@Home’s sustainability and food waste reduction initiatives by 
reducing goods sent to landfills and increase socio-economic good. A low recovery 
ratio suggests an area where we can improve, while a fluctuating ratio suggests that 
additional training is needed to maximise return in this area.  
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Inventory turnover 
 
Inventory turnover is calculated as sales value divided by the inventory value, which 
gives the number of times the total inventory of spices and herbs is sold or replaced 
over a given period.  This KPI will help us to manage our more perishable items and 
therefore reduce waste levels. As well as this, the higher inventory turnover represents 
higher sales.  
 
Processing yield 
 
We cannot sell incorrectly filled pouches (particularly if they are lighter than they 
should be) and therefore their contents would be wasted. We can measure the amount 
of filled spice and herb pouches produced for OSHB, however, calculating yield is 
more specific. This is because it tells us the percentage of filled pouches produced 
correctly. Yield is calculated as the amount of filled pouches correctly produced divided 
by the total amount of filled pouches produced and reported as a ratio. If we have a 
low yield, then one of the machines or processes may not be operating correctly. 
Therefore, monitoring the process yield can help us to identify potential issues before 
they become breakdowns or other scenarios which lead to waste and therefore higher 
operating costs.  
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SECTION 3 
 
Sales variances 
 
Sales price variances 
 
Sales price variances arose for only two of the six options. Small and Large 4-meal kit 
boxes both have adverse price variances. This is expected due to the 20% discount 
available on the 4-meal Small and Large size boxes in November.  
 
Sales mix variances 
 
The sales mix variances for Small OSHB suggest proportionately more 2 and 3 meal 
OSHB’s and proportionately less 4-meal OSHB’s were sold than expected. Overall, 
the Small OSHB mix variance is favourable, suggesting increased profits compared to 
the budgeted mix of the actual quantities sold. This change in the mix for the Small 2 
and 3 meal boxes seems to have been influenced by the special recipe available in 
those boxes in November. The special recipes, only available for 2 and 3 meals, may 
have been more attractive than the 20% reduction on 4 meals and appear to have 
pulled sales away from the 4 meal boxes. 
 
For Large OSHB’s, proportionally less 2 meal and 4 meal and proportionately more 3 
meal boxes were sold compared to the standard mix. As the overall variance is 
adverse, this suggests a reduced profit compared to the budgeted mix of the actual 
quantities sold. This change in mix for the Large box is likely to have been influenced 
by the lack of packaging available for the Large size boxes, which will have affected 
the different meal sizes. Given the lack of availability of the Large 4 meal option, it 
appears customers have opted for the closest alternative offered the 3-meal kit. This 
may suggest that customers have stretched ingredients to cover four meals rather 
than the recommended three meals or the price differential of 2 x 2 meal kits compared 
to 1 x 4 meal kits is too much.  
 
The impact of the discount is difficult to evaluate. The special recipes appear to have 
been more attractive than a discount in the small range. In the large range, the impact 
has been negated by the lack of availability, so it is impossible to say if it would have 
worked. Changing too many variables (and inflation) makes it very difficult to isolate 
the impact of the discount.  
 
Sales quantity variances 
 
The sale quantity variance for the Small boxes was favourable, while for the Large 
boxes, it was adverse. Where the variance is adverse, fewer boxes of that size were 
sold in the standard mix than expected compared to the original budget. The 20% 
discount might have been expected to lead to an increase in sales, however, this has 
not been the case.  
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Lower sales may be partly due to the rise in interest rates which will directly affect 
discretionary spending on luxury items. This may be due to reduced cash flow, for 
example, due to increases in mortgage repayments. Such cash flow issues may affect 
families more acutely, as they are likely to have less disposable income, and this may 
be reflected in the adverse variance for sales quantity in Large boxes.  
 
It would have been helpful to have the Sales quantity profit variances for each of the 
options so that we could gauge the overall volume change for each of the options. The 
mix variances show how their respective volumes have changed in relation to the 
standard mix of actual quantities sold, but the individual quantity variance would have 
linked the standardised mixes to the budget. 
 
Overall sales performance 
 
Overall, both the Small and Large OSHB sales variances indicate profits will not be as 
high as expected, despite introducing the 20% discount for Small and Large 4 meals 
box sizes. The level of profit reduction for the Small box has been slightly offset by the 
favourable mix variance and the larger overall volume of Small boxes sold, but this did 
not happen for Large boxes. It is disappointing that the 20% discount on the 4-meal 
boxes didn’t encourage more sales of both Small and Large 4-meal options. In fact, 
actual results for Small and Large showed a move away from four meal choices.   
 
It appears the packing problem led to lost sales of Large boxes but unfortunately, the 
information reported does not allow us to see what those customers bought instead. 
They could have bought two or three sized Large meals or switched to multiple Small 
meals: the variances calculated show possible substitutions within large and Small not 
between them. The impact of interest rates on disposable income, which are beyond 
our control, could have had a larger impact on families, who are more likely to buy 
Large boxes.   
 
Explanation of working capital cycle information in relation to budget 
 
The working capital cycle represents the cost to OSHB of financing the time it takes 
goods to move through the production process and ultimately for customers to 
purchase the meal kits, while this working capital cycle information in the table does 
not put a value on the amount of working capital used and therefore its cost. We can 
say that the longer our working capital cycle, the more working capital is used which, 
in turn, increases costs of financing such as interest payments on overdrafts used for 
example. As we have budgeted for working capital of 10 days, and we currently have 
a cycle of 49 days, we are financing an extra 39 days of cashflow over what we 
budgeted for which requires investigation.  
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Actual raw material days are very similar to budgeted figures. Especially when 
considering actual calculations are only for 2 months of trading compared to the 
budgeted figures which cover a year and therefore average raw material inventory for 
the whole period which includes, for example, seasonal variations. In addition, if stored 
correctly, spices have a shelf life of more than 2 months. On this basis there doesn’t 
seem to be any cause for concern currently.  
 
Work-in-progress (WIP) is over 50% higher than budgeted, and while this only 
amounts to 5 days, the cause should be investigated.  It is possible that OSHB sales 
have not grown as quickly as anticipated in the budget, leaving the unused stock of 
packeted spices and recipe cards in inventory. While WIP should be minimised to 
ensure working capital is minimised, the life span of the spices means this can be 
managed through production adjustments.  
 
Trade payable days are currently only half what was expected at 30 days compared 
to a budgeted 60 days. Trade payable days are effectively a period of credit for us and 
reduce the amount of finance used, therefore having a 50% shorter credit period 
means we are using considerably more finance than budgeted. 
 
Receivable days currently stand at zero in both budgeted and actual figures, this is to 
be expected as we do not currently have credit customers, with all retail customers 
paying for goods when ordered.  
 
Actions (based on the information in table 3) which will improve the working 
capital cycle 
 
Assuming there is no change to existing policies governing holding periods, neither 
raw material adjustments nor receivable days can be used to materially affect the 
amount of working capital currently being used. If the company decided to change its 
inventory holding policy, which led to reduced inventory being held, then this would 
lead to lower amounts of working capital being used to finance inventory. Small 
adjustments to production schedules may be possible to reduce the expected days to 
the budgeted figures for raw materials. Bearing in mind there needs to be sufficient 
WIP to allow all orders to be met in the required timescale.  
 
The main item which may help improve the working capital cycle is to delay supplier 
payments so they reflect budgeted expectations.  Delaying to 60 days is likely to 
improve cash flow significantly, as cash will remain in the bank for approximately 30 
days longer than currently. However, there are some risks of using such a policy. 
Extending payments to 60 days will mean we lose the 0.5% payment discount. 
Therefore, before the decision is made, we should consider the relative cost of the lost 
discount versus the reduction in finance costs. That said, it should be possible to 
extend the payment terms to 45 days without losing the discount, which would still be 
a 50% improvement.    
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As well as financial costs, as a major supplier of the new product, we need to ensure 
we maintain a good relationship to ensure consistent quality supplier, and this 
relationship may be affected if we allow payment terms to drift.  
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SECTION 4 
 
IAS 2: Inventories 
 
The spices, boxes and pouches will be included in the closing inventory figures, as 
they will only be collected as part of OSHB’s food recovery programme in January 
2023. Closing inventory value will affect the year-end statement of profit or loss and 
the statement of financial position. In the statement of the financial position, closing 
inventory will form part of current assets, while in the statement of profit or loss closing 
inventory will be part of the cost of goods sold.  
 
Inventory value included in the financial statements will, in line with IAS 2, be recorded 
at the lower of cost or net realisable value (NRV), which is the price the inventory can 
be sold for.  
 
Historically, the inventory was recorded at its cost of N$363,497 in line with IAS 2. Due 
to the water damage, each item’s NRV has fallen below its original cost. So, to meet 
IAS 2 criteria, the asset value in the financial statements will need to be reduced from 
their cost of N$363,497 to their NRV of N$26,581.  This will reduce the value of closing 
inventory in current assets in the statement of financial position and in cost of goods 
sold in the profit or loss account.  
 
In addition to the change in the value of the financial statements, adjustments will also 
be needed to the notes to the financial statements. In the notes, each category of 
inventory will be identified separately. This means that spices and boxes will be 
included in raw materials, while filled pouches will be included in work in progress.  
 
The notes to the financial statements will also include the value of inventory carried at 
NRV, and there will be an explanation of the circumstances of the leak and water 
damage which led to the inventory being written down to its NRV.  
 
IAS 10: Events after the reporting period 
 
While the leak occurred in November 2022, which is before our year-end, the 
insurance claim receipt will not be received until January 2023 which is after our year-
end.   
 
IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period states that material events which occur 
between the year-end date (31 December 2022) and the date that the financial 
statements are approved (which will be later in 2023 and presumably after the receipt 
of the insurance monies) can be classified as either adjusting or non-adjusting events. 
An adjusting event is one which gives evidence of a condition that existed at the 
reporting date.  
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In this instance, the insurance receipt will give us evidence of a condition at the report 
date, that being the outstanding insurance claim for the leak. As an adjusting event, 
we can record the insurance receipt in our financial statement statements for the year-
end 31 December 2022.  The effect of this will be to increase profit for the year and 
increase current receivables, which will mitigate the impact of the inventory write off.   
 
Stress Test Drill 
 
To test the effect of a cyber-attack on the production scheduling system in the 
business, we could isolate the production scheduling system to ensure it is unavailable 
for use.  We would then continue with business as usual for a set period, for example, 
a month, without using this system. This would indicate whether the loss of the system 
would affect our ability to trade at budgeted levels and the stress it would place on the 
business’ budgeted cash flow.   
 
For example, we would have to use backup production scheduling systems to allow 
us to continue with production. We may also have to adapt systems, for example, 
using paper-based systems where expected alternatives are not available. This will 
place additional operational stress on the business and may require overtime from 
staff or external specialist contractors which would mean expected costs would rise in 
a short period.   
 
However, the scenario may also identify new areas of efficiency, such as new, more 
flexible scheduling methods. This may mean an improvement in expected budgeted 
figures.  
 
We can then look at the overall effect on the related budget areas such as sales and 
cash flow to establish how such items will affect sales and cash flow allowing us to put 
in place additional, more flexible sources of finance to make the business more 
resilient in the future.  
 
Relevant costs of accepting a contract with Solid promotions 
 
Relevant costs are those which will vary due to the decision taken. To be relevant, 
costs must be in the future, affect cash flow rather than just be accounting entries and 
be incremental or different depending on whether the Solid Promotions contract is 
taken or normal production completed.   
 
Relevant costs 
 
The following costs are relevant and should be included in the costing for the project: 
The N$20,000 contribution lost, due to completing the contract and being unable to 
complete “normal” production for two weeks, is an opportunity cost and is relevant, as 
it is a real cash flow that will occur in the future. Since it will be lost if the new contract 
is taken, it will change depending on which decision is taken.   
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The cost of the Keluwak spice will also be relevant, as this is a specific cost of putting 
together the promotional boxes for Solid Promotions Inc, which would not otherwise 
be incurred.  
 
Non relevant costs 
 
Costs which do not meet the above criteria and therefore should not form part of the 
costing for the project: 
 
The design team costs will not be relevant as these are sunk costs. This means they 
have already been irrevocably incurred so will not vary according to whether the Solid 
Promotions contract is completed or not.   
 
The machine depreciation of N$5,000 is not relevant, as it is an accounting adjustment 
used to spread the machine’s cost over its lifetime, rather than an actual cash flow.  
 
More information required 
 
To decide if the head office costs are relevant, we will need further clarification. If the 
costs are general costs that are being apportioned to this project, then they will not be 
relevant. However, if they are specific head office costs that are only incurred due to 
the project, then they will be relevant.  
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Operational level case study – Examiner’s report 

May 22 – August 2022 exam session 

This document should be read in conjunction with the examiner’s suggested answers and marking guidance. 

General comments 
The OCS examinations for May 2022 and August 2022 were based on Meals@Home, a company that sells meal-kits direct to 

customers through a digital subscription service. A meal-kit includes the ingredients for a single meal for a set number of portions that 

meal and a recipe card that gives instructions on how to prepare and cook the meal at home. The company is based in Newland, a 

country in Europe. During the year to 31 December 2021, the company’s revenue was N$62.5 million, and its operating loss was N$3.7 

million. For the year ending 31 December 2022, sales revenue is budgeted to be N$75.8 million, and the company is expected to make 

its first operating profit of N$2.1 million. 

Six variants were written based on Meals@Home. The focus of each variant was as follows: 

• Variant 1: expansion into corporate sales market. 

• Variant 2: launch of a new Party Box product. 

• Variant 3: the Production Facility and increasing digitalisation. 

• Variant 4: launch of a new range of smoothies, soups and sauces. 

• Variant 5: expansion of the Production Facility and launch of a range of vegan meal-kits. 

• Variant 6: launch of an Organic Spice & Herb Box product. 
 

Each variant was based on the OCS case study blueprint and covered all core activities in accordance with the weightings prescribed. 

A levels-based approach was used for marking candidate answers. Each variant consisted of four tasks, and each of these tasks was 

broken down into between two and four elements. Each element of a task was then broken down into between one and five traits for 

marking. For each trait, there was a detailed marking guide that split the total mark available into three levels: level 1, level 2 and level 

3. It was also possible to achieve a score of zero for a trait if there was no rewardable material.  

To achieve a level 3 for most traits, it was expected that a candidate would demonstrate a good technical understanding of the topic 

being tested, through a clear and comprehensive explanation, and apply this technical understanding to the Meals@Home business 

and the particular scenario within the task.  
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If a candidate scored only at a level 1 on a trait, they likely did some or all of the following: 

• Demonstrated some technical understanding, but with gaps in knowledge. 

• Identified issues and points rather than explained. 

• Explained issues too briefly or with a lack of clarity. 

• Failed to relate their answer to the task scenario and the specifics of Meals@Home. 
 

It must be stressed that demonstrating good technical understanding is not enough on its own to pass. Candidates need to demonstrate 

technical understanding in the context of the scenario and the particulars of the issue being addressed. Information given to candidates 

as part of the task is there for a reason and should be, as far as possible, incorporated into answers, along with relevant information 

from the pre-seen. Application to the scenario is key to achieving high level 2 and level 3 scores. Clearly, where there are gaps in 

knowledge, the application is not possible, and therefore the importance of candidates ensuring that their knowledge base is complete 

needs to be stressed. 

One other area worthy of mention is the candidates’ ability to explain. At the operational level, many of the tasks require explanation 

and, to achieve high level 2 and level 3, it is expected that this will be clear and comprehensive. It should also be an explanation or 

justification rather than a description, identification or simple statement.  

Candidate Performance  

Candidate performance was more varied compared to the previous session. There were some high-scoring answers across all variants 

where candidates demonstrated their technical understanding in the context of the business and the situation given. These candidates 

fully utilised the information given in the pre-seen and the case itself when applying technical knowledge and answered the task set 

comprehensively. There were also a significant number of very low-scoring answers across all variants where candidates appeared 

wholly unprepared for this examination. Some of these candidates produced answers for all tasks, but did not have the technical 

knowledge to be able to write anything relevant. Most candidates though were in the mid-range, often because of a combination of 

gaps in technical understanding in some topic areas, a lack of application to the scenario and a lack of clarity and depth in answers. 

Specific topic areas where candidates typically demonstrated good technical understanding (and usually good application) included 

relevant costing, profit-volume charts, decision making under conditions of uncertainty, expected value, sales price variances, digital 

costing systems, general working capital management and decision trees. There were however, several topic areas where candidates 

demonstrated a lack of technical understanding and also a lack of application. These included activity based costing, zero based 

budgeting, direct and indirect costs in the context of digital cost objects, sales mix and quantity variances, fixed overhead capacity 

variances and flexible budgeting. 
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There continues to be a lack of explanation or justification in some of the tasks, especially in relation to financial reporting tasks on IAS 

16, IFRS 5 and IFRS16 and relevant costing. Remember, an explanation requires more than a short sentence on a point or simple 

identification of a rule in a financial reporting standard or identification of a relevant cost. Application to the specifics of the scenario 

and the situation at hand was also lacking at times.  

With respect to the core activities, candidate performance was typically best for B (budgeting), F (working capital), E (decision making) 

and C (performance evaluation). The less competent core activities continue to be (costing) and D (financial reporting), but this often 

depended on the topic area that the task was based on. Most answers were clearly laid out, with headings and sub-headings. 

To sum up, the difference between a fail / bare pass and a good pass is often the candidates’ ability to apply their technical 

understanding to the scenario and to incorporate this application into their answers consistently. Candidates should also pay attention 

to their clarity of explanation and ensure that they have addressed all parts of the sub-task. The same general advice to candidates 

applies to this session as much as all the previous sessions: answer the sub-task set (not what you wish had been set based on your 

pre-prepared answer), answer all parts of the sub-task and demonstrate technical understanding within the context of the business 

and the sub-task, referring as much as possible to the information given to you. 
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Variant 1 Comments on performance 

 

Task 1 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of how to revise a cost budget for the second half of 2022 using a flexible budgeting 

approach. It also asked for an explanation of why it was important to flex this original cost budget. This tested core activity B. The 

quality of answers here was reasonably good, with many candidates scoring high level 2 and above for the first part of this sub-task. 

Most candidates demonstrated an understanding of how the fixed and variable costs would react to changes in volume and made good 

use of the information given in the attachment to the email to apply their answers to the scenario. Where candidates scored poorly, this 

was either because of a lack of reference to the costs given or because of confusion over what flexible budgeting is (some candidates 

talked about revising the budget for changes in standards rather than flexing the budget to reflect changes in volumes). The explanation 

of the importance of flexing the budget was often limited to better cost control and variances. Therefore, scores for this part were not 

as good. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of the factors to consider when agreeing to initial credit terms with corporate customers 

and the actions that the company would need to take to manage the receivables balances of these customers after starting to trade 

with them. This tested core activity F. When explaining the factors to consider in agreeing initial credit terms, many candidates explained 

whether selling goods on credit was a good idea. This was not answering the task and scored no marks. Some candidates did focus 

on the potential corporate customers and made sensible comments about the risk of non-payment and how to determine the 

creditworthiness of these customers. Very few candidates focussed on the credit terms (the amount of credit to give and the period to 

allow for payment), which was disappointing. Regarding managing receivables most candidates recognised the need for a credit control 

function. However, many then suggested debt factoring or invoice discounting and explained how settlement discounts would 

encourage customers to pay more quickly, rather than focus on actions such as chasing for payment, issuing statements and reviewing 

aged receivables reports. Answers here tended to be generic rather than applied to the scenario and as such scores were often limited 

to low level 2. 

 

Task 2 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of how to determine the cost per user of a new app. It also asked for an explanation of the 

difficulties associated with doing this. This tested core activity A. It seemed that a significant number of candidates did not know how 

to answer the first part of this sub-task and instead answered the task that they had prepared for, which was to explain what each of 

the costs were and how they would arise. Some candidates did comment on the nature of costs (fixed / variable, direct /indirect) but 
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failed to elaborate on how this would impact calculating the cost per user. Some excellent answers scored at level 3, where candidates 

clearly explained how to determine a cost per user of the app and provided sensible comments about each of the costs given in the 

scenario to support their answer. The difficulties given were often generic and not linked to the scenario, which meant that many 

answers scored low level 2 for this part.  

The second sub-task asked for identification, with a justification of whether each of the costs in Table 1 was relevant of irrelevant when 

deciding which option was better financially. It also asked for an explanation of other factors that should be considered before deciding 

whether to outsource transaction processing. This tested core activity E. Many candidates scored at level 3 for the identification and 

justification of the relevant and irrelevant costs. Candidates that didn’t score well here typically did so because they failed to adequately 

justify why a cost was either relevant or irrelevant. Regarding other factors, answers were mixed. There were some excellent answers 

where candidates explained other factors relevant to outsourcing of transaction processing including factors such as the security of 

customer data. However, some candidates failed to expand on the factors given or failed to consider outsourcing factors in the context 

of transaction processing. Indeed, some candidates explained factors to consider in the context of a physical product rather than 

transaction processing, perhaps as a result of not reading the scenario carefully enough. 

 

Task 3 

The first sub-task asked for suggestions of three KPIs that could be used to monitor the performance of the new Corporate Sales 

Manager, including an explanation of how each KPI would be measured and why it would be appropriate. This tested core activity C. 

Although the explanation of useful KPIs is a topic that appears in all OCS exams, this was not answered well. Candidates often gave 

KPIs that measured the performance of the business’s sales activity generally and not of the sales manager. Explanations of how the 

KPI would be measured was also often not clear. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of the potential benefits and drawbacks of involving Bina Keo in setting budgets and 

KPI targets for corporate sales. This tested core activity B. There were lots of explanations of the benefits and drawbacks of participative 

budgeting, but they read as textbook answers with poor application to the new sales manager, Bina Keo. Such answers scored mid-

level 2 at best. Some candidates did comment on how Bina had worked in the industry and could bring that knowledge with her and 

that because she was being paid a bonus on volume meant she would potentially build in slack. Both applied points which often resulted 

in a high level 2 or level 3 score. 

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of the maximax, maximin and minimax regret decision criteria and how each of these 

should be used to decide which initial order option to choose. It also asked for identification of the option that would be chosen under 

each criterion. This tested core activity E. These decision criteria have been examined many times, but the candidates’ description of 



 

Operational level case study – Examiner’s report – May – August 2022 exam session  6 

each decision-making criteria was sometimes poor, lacking detail and clarity. Also, even those who could describe each one, sometimes 

struggled to identify the correct options.  

 

Task 4  

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of what each of the variances in Table 1 and Table 2 meant and possible reasons for their 

occurrence. This tested core activity C. Most candidates were able to explain the sales price variance and the reason for the adverse 

variance with clarity, demonstrating a good understanding of this variance. However, many candidates could not explain what the sale 

mix and quantity variances meant and the reasons for the favourable and adverse variances. This was especially the case for the sales 

mix variance, which had been calculated using the weighted average method. Very few candidates identified that the reason why the 

Meat/fish boxes gave a favourable variance was because the weighted average profit was bigger than the Meat/fish box profit and 

therefore proportionately less of this type of box must have been sold. Most candidates interpreted the sales mix variances as if they 

had been calculated using the individual units method, demonstrating either a lack of understanding or poor reading of the task. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of how each of the items of expenditure in Table 3 should be recorded in the financial 

statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. This tested core activity D. This was not always answered well. Most candidates 

successfully explained the conditions for IAS 16 capitalisation, but the reasons for expensing the maintenance were often omitted. 

Many candidates did not explain the prepayment and the depreciation and therefore did not provide a full answer to the task. 

The final sub-task asked for an explanation of whether the old herb portioning machine met the criteria to be reclassified as a non-

current asset held for sale in the financial statement for the year ended 31 December 2022 and an explanation of how the asset would 

be treated in those financial statements. This tested core activity D. In many cases, the explanation of the IFRS 5 criteria for 

reclassification were good but the application was often missing or vague with little use of information from the scenario. For the 

treatment, most candidates knew to stop depreciation and to reclassify the asset, but many answers tried to add the selling and 

dismantling costs to the carrying amount. A good number of candidates also thought the asset would be treated as held for sale from 

November not December, having missed that fact that it could not be held for sale until it had been dismantled. As a result, many 

answers here scored only at mid-level 2.  

 

 

.   
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Variant 2 Comments on performance 
 

Task 1 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation and justification of how the new property would be initially recorded and subsequently 

measured in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. This tested core activity D. The initial recording of the 

new property was reasonably well answered by many candidates who demonstrated sound knowledge and understanding of IAS16. 

Some candidates though concluded that the expenditure on the roof should be expensed as a repair rather than capitalised (and then 

treated as a separate asset for depreciation purposes). Subsequent measurement was also reasonably well answered by many 

candidates, who recognised that the roof should be depreciated over 10 years, with the property over 25 years. The fact that any land 

within the property value should not be depreciated was rarely commented on by candidates. A common error was to depreciate from 

1 March 2022, when the property was acquired, rather than from 1 September 2022, when the facility came into productive use.  

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of the suitability of the new production facility as a pilot for the introduction of ABC. This 

tested core activity A. Most candidates failed to answer the task and as a result scored poorly. What was expected was an explanation 

of when ABC would usually be beneficial, for example, when indirect costs are relatively high, and the production process is a complex 

one: neither of these points being relevant to the scenario given. Candidates instead explained the basic principles of how ABC worked, 

such as creating cost pools and identifying cost drivers, which scored no marks and wasted time.  

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of how the use of a digital costing system could improve the costing information and why 

this would benefit the business. This tested core activity A. Although this sub-task was reasonably well attempted by some candidates, 

marks were lost by not focussing on how a digital costing system would improve the company’s costing system and the benefits of this. 

Some candidates correctly discussed issues such as continuously updating of product costs leading to benefits in pricing decisions 

and variance analysis. However, many candidates in contrast only discussed external issues, for example, linking in with suppliers or 

monitoring competitors’ prices.  

 

Task 2 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of what Chart 1 indicated about the cost structure of the two options for the supply of 

platters. It also asked for two reasons why the decision about which option to take should not be based on the expected value of 

demand. This tested core activity E. Most candidates answered this reasonably well by explaining the difference in cost structures 

between the two options and providing sensible comments about why the decision should not be based on expected values. However, 
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some candidates took the opportunity to explain the three common risk attitudes that managers may take, which was not required, and 

not many candidates commented on seasonality of demand over the next 12 months. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of three factors that needed to be considered before making a final decision about 

whether to buy-in from the supplier or produce the platters in-house. This tested core activity E. Again, this section was reasonably 

well answered, although not many candidates were able to put forward three relevant points, which often resulted in level 2 rather than 

level 3 scores. Candidates that did score at level 3, recognised that the potential supplier was only a small company and commented 

on relevant issues such as quality, lead time and reliability of deliveries. 

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of what the information contained in Table 2 indicated about how each supplier managed 

its working capital and its suitability to be the tray supplier. This tested core activity F. This was well answered by most candidates. 

From the information given, most candidates were able to make sensible comments on each suppliers working capital management, 

often leading to the valid conclusion that Snack Excel would probably be too risky a supplier for Meals@Home. Many candidates 

scored high level 2 and level 3 for this sub-task. 

 

Task 3 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of whether it would be worthwhile buying additional trays with an emergency order and how 

to determine, based on the graph provided, how many trays should be ordered. This tested core activity E. This was probably the worst 

answered section of this variant. Many candidates demonstrated that they understood what the shadow price meant but failed to explain 

how the linear programming graph could be used to determine how many trays to order. Some candidates simply ignored this part of 

the sub-task or explained the current feasible region or the AB intersection point, neither of which addressed the task given. What was 

expected was an explanation of how the iso-contribution would move up to a new optimum point of BD, which would still be constrained 

by the number of packing line hours available. Overall, very few candidates scored at more than level 1 for this sub-task. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation how a ZBB approach could be applied to create a budget for machinery maintenance 

costs in the new production facility. This tested core activity B. There were very few good answers to this sub-task. Many candidates 

struggled to explain the principles of how decision packages could be developed for machinery maintenance, for example, some 

consideration of incremental and mutually exclusive packages. This was surprising because ZBB has been examined in several past 

Case Studies, but many candidates are still not picking up on this. Too many candidates just compared traditional incremental 

budgeting with what read more like activity-based budgeting or bottom-up budgeting. 

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of two benefits and two challenges of using ZBB to prepare the machinery maintenance 
cost budget. This tested core activity B. Most candidates were able to make some valid suggestions, but points made were often 
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rather generalised in nature. For example, for challenges, many candidates just said this was the time required to implement a ZBB 
approach. As a result, many candidates only scored at mid-level 2 here. 

 

Task 4  

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of what each of the variances shown in Table 1 meant and possible reasons for their 

occurrence, based on the information from Greta and the extract from the KPI dashboard in Table 2. This tested core activity C. This 

was generally well answered by most candidates. Although there was occasionally some misunderstanding of what the variances 

meant (especially with respect to the variable overhead variances), the explanations of the reasons for the variances were usually 

accurate. A common weakness in candidates’ answers was a failure to use and refer to the extract of the KPI dashboard, which had 

been specifically asked for. Also, many candidates’ answers needed to be clearer with the use of the word “budget” because this could 

be read as either the original budget or the flexed budget for the actual activity levels in the period. 

The final sub-task asked for suggestions of two suitable KPIs relating to sustainability that could be added to the dashboard for the 

Party Box Production Facility, and to explain why each KPI would be appropriate and how it would be measured. This tested core 

activity C. Many candidates made a reasonable attempt at suggesting KPIs that would be useful for sustainability for Meals@Home, 

however, not many candidates explained for each KPI how it could be measured. Some candidates either omitted to explain why their 

suggested KPIs were appropriate, or sometimes proposed KPIs that were too similar to the current wastage KPI used by the company 

(the sub-task was for KPIs that could be added to the dashboard). Some candidates also proposed cost related KPIs rather than 

sustainability ones. 

 

 

.   
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Variant 3 Comments on performance 
 

Task 1 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of the components of a time series analysis. This tested core activity B. This was reasonably 

well answered. Most candidates could explain the meaning of the trend and interpret it well, although few candidates commented that 

sales had risen more steeply in recent years. Candidates also explained what seasonal variations were and correctly identified the 

seasonal variations impacting the sales of meal-kit boxes. Fewer candidates offered reasons why these seasonal variations may have 

occurred in the context of the case.  

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of the limitations of using the data and time series analysis to forecast sales volumes. 

This tested core activity B. The quality of answers here was mixed. Many candidates explained the problems of relying on past data 

and the issues with the time series analysis in a general way, which limited scores to mid-level 2. However, there were some excellent 

answers where candidates utilised information from the pre-seen and the scenario to provide application.  

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of a decision tree and how it could be used to select which AI supplier would be the best 

financially. It also asked for an explanation of the limitations of using this data and the expected value to make the decision. This tested 

core activity E. Again, the quality of answers here was mixed. Most candidates commented on how the tree was drawn and the meaning 

of the various elements of the tree such as the circles and the squares as well as how the expected value figures had been determined. 

Some candidates merely stated what they could see, therefore simply repeating the information in the task and not addressing how to 

use the tree. Good candidates explained each stage of using the tree working from right to left, clearly articulating the decisions at 

each square. Many candidates were able to recommend the correct decision of AI supplier, however, sometimes this was purely based 

on an assessment of the highest expected value as opposed to from analysis from right to left. Most candidates addressed the 

limitations well. However, as in other questions of this type, to score well application to the scenario was required for higher level 2 and 

level 3 scores. 

 

Task 2 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of the information shown on a multi-product break-even chart and the benefits and limitations 

of using this data to analyse the break-even position. This tested core activity E. Most candidates did well here and were able to explain 

the fixed cost line, the two product mix lines (referring to the individual products) and the breakeven points, explaining why these were 

different depending on the line. Fewer candidates mentioned the relative gradients of the lines. Some candidates either had not 

prepared for this topic and did not know the meaning of the lines or lacked clarity in their explanation. Most candidates understood the 
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relationship between C/S ratios and the ability of the company to breakeven. Candidates were not able to articulate the benefits and 

limitations very well and unfortunately, these were, far too often, vague at best. Again, the application is key here to score a good mark.  

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of how adopting an ABC approach would change the way in which production overheads 

were absorbed by Herbs & Spices products and how using ABC could improve overall cost control in that department. This tested core 

activity A. Most candidates gave an explanation of ABC (cost drivers and cost pools) without applying this to the available information 

given about the blending process. Some candidates did successfully identify the specific activities from the blending process, however, 

few candidates attempted to then identify appropriate cost drivers for those activities and even fewer how this would then impact the 

distribution of overheads. Case tasks on ABC are highly applied and, as such, candidates would benefit from taking time to think about 

the scenario before launching into their answer. Regarding cost control, most candidates were able to explain that a better 

understanding of what drives the costs would focus management, although only a few candidates gave examples. Some candidates 

discussed other benefits of ABC, such as more accurate cost-based pricing, however, these did not address the task which focussed 

on cost control.  

 

Task 3 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of the meaning of each of the fixed production overhead variances sown in Table 1 and the 

possible reasons why each variance had occurred. This tested core activity C. Candidates should be reminded that if they are asked 

to explain the meaning, this does not mean they should state how the variance is calculated, rather what the adverse or favourable 

attached to the variance, tells us. For example, the adverse overhead expenditure variance means that more was spent on fixed 

overheads than budget. Most candidates were clear on the meaning of the fixed overhead expenditure variance and articulated well 

the reasons this had occurred. Many candidates could also explain the meaning and the reasons for the efficiency variance. Many 

candidates did however struggle to explain the meaning of the capacity variance or indeed the reasons for it specifically. The total fixed 

overhead variance represents over or, in this case, under-absorption. Few candidates commented on the total variance at all, and 

fewer correctly identified this as under-absorption. Rote learning formulae for variances are not that helpful for the Case Study where 

the emphasis is on meaning and interpretation and not calculation. 

The second sub-task asked for a suggestion and justification of three KPIs that were appropriate for inclusion in the service level 

agreement in relation to the performance and maintenance of the robots. This tested core activity C. Candidates that scored at a high 

level 2 or level 3 did so because they broke this sub-task down to firstly identify SMART KPIs and then secondly, justify why these 

were appropriate. However, for many candidates, marks were lost because of a lack of clarity over the measure and a lack of detail 

regarding the justification.  
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The third sub-task asked for an explanation of how a right-of-use asset would initially be measured and how it would impact the financial 

statements for the year ending 31 December 2022. This tested core activity D. Most candidates seem to have a reasonable 

understanding of the rules in IFRS 16 for initial measurement of a right-of-use asset. However, this was not the case for the subsequent 

measurement rules, as many candidates either missed this out altogether or provided only limited commentary. Even when there was 

evidence that candidates understood the treatment by showing the journal entries, there were limited explanations around this. The 

emphasis should be on the ability to communicate to a non-financially minded individual, and unfortunately showing just the journal 

entries would not be understood by such a person. Some candidates wasted time in explaining the treatment of the lease liability which 

was not required. 

 

Task 4  

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of why changing the initial assumption about each of four variables adversely by 5% would 

impact budgeted contributions and profits for the period as shown in Table 2. It also asked for an explanation of two limitations of using 

this what-if analysis. This tested core activity B. Candidate answers were generally quite poor, and many candidates scored at low or 

mid-level 2. Most candidates demonstrated an understanding of the contribution and profit and how changing the sales volume, selling 

price and variable costs would impact these. Very few candidates explained the scale of change referring to the impact of the relative 

absolute values on contribution and profit. Many candidates just re-wrote what was presented to them in the question, which was 

disappointing. Explanations in respect of fixed costs were poor. Many candidates were able to explain limitations of the what-if analysis, 

however, some answers were too vague and not specific to the scenario. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of the suitability of the EOQ model for use in managing the inventory of outer boxes and 

whether the model could be adapted by relaxing some of its underlying assumptions. This tested core activity F. For a level 3 answer, 

candidates required a good knowledge of not only the purpose of the model, but also its underlying assumptions. Therefore, candidates 

needed to explain each assumption of the model and how this may or may not be suited to the situation regarding supply of the outer 

boxes. For example, the economic order quantity requires that the lead time be constant, or the demand be known. Neither situation 

was possible from the scenario. Many candidates explained inventory management in a more general way. Candidates were expected 

to comment on whether the model could be adapted. Many candidates commented however on the adoption of economic order quantity 

rather than the adaptation of it. This lack of focus in answering the sub-task given resulted in lower scores. 

The final sub-task asked for an explanation of how each of the two issues should be treated in the financial statements for the year 

ended 31 December 2022. This tested core activity D. Both issues concerned IAS 10. Most candidates answered this well. Most were 

able to correctly identify whether the event was adjusting or non-adjusting. Clarity of explanation is key to this type of task, and this is 

where some candidates lost marks.  
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Variant 4 Comments on performance 
 

Task 1 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of the importance of preparing budgets for the new Ready@Home production facility and 

how these budgets would assist Victor in this management of the new facility. This tested core activity B. Many candidates were able 

to explain the importance of preparing budgets in relation to planning, control, co-ordination and so on, but often scores were limited 

to a lower level 2 because answers lacked application to this specific scenario. A significant number of candidates failed to explain how 

the budget would assist Victor which also limited the marks given. Some candidates clearly didn’t know how to answer this and took 

this as an opportunity to write what they knew about incremental and zero-based budgeting. This approach scored no marks and was 

a waste of the candidate’s time.  

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of the sources and types of big data that would assist with creating a sales forecast for 

the new Ready@Home range. This tested core activity B. Most candidates demonstrated a general understanding of the basic concept 

of big data, but often could not explain how this would be helpful in creating a sales forecast. To score at a higher level 2 or level 3, 

candidates needed to explain both sources and types of big data relevant for a sales forecast for the new Ready@Home range. For 

example, long range weather forecasts or industry reports from the internet. Very few candidates did this. 

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of how, by managing receivables, the company could limit the impact that selling to retailers 

could have on cash flow. This tested core activity F. Those candidates that had read the task properly, generally scored well here. 

Unfortunately, a significant number of candidates failed to identify that this task was focussed on the management of receivables.  

These candidates explained how to improve the company’s cash flow by, for example, taking longer to pay suppliers, introducing JIT, 

or obtaining more loan finance. None of these are about receivables management, and therefore no marks could be awarded. 

Candidates that focussed on factoring, prompt payment discounts and good credit control practices often scored at level 3.  

 

Task 2 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of what each of the statistical measures in Table 2 meant in the context of the information 

given. It also asked for an explanation of how the decision about which promotional campaign to choose would be made using a risk 

neutral, risk seeking and risk averse approach, stating the choice under each approach. This tested core activity E. Most candidates 

did well here, with many level 3 scores. Common reasons for not achieving a level 3 score were a lack of technical accuracy and clarity 

when explaining the statistical measures and applying the maximin decision criterion for the risk averse approach. Again, candidates 

are reminded that maximax and maximin decision criteria are not appropriate in risk situations where probabilities are given. 
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The second sub-task asked for an explanation of how the lease for the cooking vats will be initially recorded and then subsequently 

measured in the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2022. This tested core activity D. This was either answered 

very well or very poorly, indicating that candidates either had the technical knowledge, or did not. How to account for leased assets is 

a common task at OCS and therefore it is surprising that there are still so many very poor answers.  

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of how purchasing outright would affect the way that the cooking vat assets are reflected 

in the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2022. This tested core activity D. Most candidates were able to accurately 

and fully explain the accounting treatment for purchasing the assets outright, which was good to see. However, very few candidates 

actually commented on how this treatment differed to the lease treatment and as a result lost marks. 

 

Task 3 

The first sub-task asked for explanation of what the information shown in Chart 1 indicated. This tested core activity E. This was well 

answered by most candidates, with many achieving a level 3 score, indicating good preparation for this type of task. Candidates that 

didn’t score well here usually did so because their answers only identified information from the chart with little or no explanation or 

limited their answers to just one of the lines. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of how the chart and break-even position would be affected by a change in the budgeted 

mix of products sold (with a higher proportion of sauces and a lower proportion of soups) and a change in the mix of sales channels 

(with a higher proportion through the website compared to through retailers). This tested core activity E. Most candidates were able to 

accurately explain the impact of the changes in the mix to the break-even position. However, far fewer candidates explained the impact 

on the chart. What was expected here was an explanation of how the gradients of the lines would change as well as an explanation of 

the changes to the lengths of the segments AB and CD. 

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of what was meant by unit, batch, product and facility level activities in the context of the 

Ready@Home range and the new production facility. It also asked for examples of overhead costs for each of these categories. This 

tested core activity A. There were very few good answers here, and most candidates scored at level 1. It was apparent that most 

candidates had little knowledge of the hierarchy and, as a result, struggled to provide examples of activities and overhead costs for 

each level, other than in the most basic of terms. To do well, candidates were expected to demonstrate understanding that unit-level 

activities were ones where the consumption of resources was linked to the level of output, batch-level activities where resources were 

consumed in proportion to the number of batches and so on. They were also expected to give sensible examples of overheads in the 

context of this business. 
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Task 4  

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of what the sales price, sales mix profit and sales quantity profit variances in Table 1 meant 

and possible reasons for each variance. This tested core activity C. Most candidates were able to explain the meaning of the sales 

price variance with accuracy and to give appropriate reasons for both variances. However, only a small number of candidates explained 

the mix and quantity variances with accuracy. Regarding the mix variance, some candidates explained the variances as if they had 

been calculated using the weighted average method rather than the individual unit methods. Other candidates explained the mix 

variances as meaning either more or less of a range had been sold, rather than a higher of lower proportion of a range had been sold. 

Regarding the quantity variance, most candidates explained the meaning of this variance as if it was a volume variance and failed to 

recognise that both the actual and budgeted volumes were in the standard mix and that therefore this variance should be considered 

in total. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of whether it would be beneficial to split the Everyday sales price variance into its 

planning and operational elements and any possible problems faced when doing so. This tested core activity C. Most candidates 

demonstrated an understanding of planning and operational variances in a general sense but failed to reference this to the Everyday 

sales price variance. Many of the possible problems given were generic rather than applied to the scenario. As a result, many 

candidates failed to score higher than a low level 2. 

The third sub-task asked for suggestions of three KPIs that would be appropriate for the dashboard for Ready@Home website sales. 

It also asked for an explanation of how each KPI would be measured and why it would be appropriate. This tested core activity C. 

Whilst most candidates demonstrated an understanding of KPIs, their suggestions were not always focussed on the success of social 

media marketing or for measuring customer buying behaviour. Some candidates gave KPIs linked to the website itself, which were not 

really relevant in this context. There was generally also a lack of clarity in how the proposed KPIs could be measured. 

 

 

 

.   



 

Operational level case study – Examiner’s report – May – August 2022 exam session  16 

Variant 5 Comments on performance 
 

Task 1 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of what Table 1 and Chart 1 showed and why using this information to produce a forecast 

of demand for vegan meal-kits for quarter 4 of 2022 onwards would be difficult. This tested core activity B. To score well here, 

candidates were required to apply their knowledge of time series and forecasting to the information given in the scenario. Most 

candidates were able to explain the general features of the trend and the seasonal variations within the data as well as explain how 

the data in the table had been determined. However, many candidates ignored the clues in the scenario and did not discuss the 

complexities in the data, for example, the impact of the TV show on the data in 2020. Most candidates could identify difficulties but 

sometimes these were generic and not well articulated. Few candidates mentioned the difficulty in establishing market share. 

Candidates are reminded that application is key for a higher level 2 or level 3 mark. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of the direct and indirect costs associated with a specific video and the potential 

difficulties of determining a total cost for each specific video. This tested core activity A. The few candidates that scored well for the 

first part of this sub-task gave a clear explanation of direct and indirect costs in the context of the video series. Most candidate 

explanations were often too vague, lacked application and seemed to be based on a preprepared generic answer about the costing of 

digital products. It was surprising how many answers included costs that the candidate had made up, as opposed to those already 

given in the scenario, which was then ignored. As these answers were not applied and not wholly relevant, they did not score well. It 

should be noted that a list with no explanation or justification will also not be sufficient for a higher level 2 or level 3 mark. In explaining 

the difficulties of establishing a cost for a specific video, there were far too many generic answers such as ‘up-front costs are substantial 

and marginal costs are near to zero’. Not only was this not applied, but it was also not wholly correct here. Good answers thought 

about the problems relating to costing one specific video and used the information they had been given to base their answers. 

 

Task 2 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of information shown in Table 1 and which option should be chosen using a risk neutral 

approach to decision making. It also asked for an explanation of one limitation of using this approach and one limitation of using this 

information to make the decision. This tested core activity E. Most candidates did well in explaining the decision, and most were able 

to correctly identify the lowest cost option of contract 2 (some chose the highest). However, most candidates did not explain the 

information in the table very well. This should be relatively straightforward but candidates in many cases either ignored it and went 

straight to the decision or gave a brief account of joint probabilities. There were a small number of answers that discussed the best-

case scenario and worst-case scenario and the four potential scenarios modelled in the table, which was required for level 3. The part 
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of the sub-task about limitations was very specific, and candidates did not gain additional credit if they identified more than one. In this 

type of task, answers need to be well applied and expanded to gain the maximum marks for each point made (as opposed to listing 

several brief bullet points). Some candidates did not offer a limitation of both the method and the information so again did not gain high 

marks. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation, with appropriate justification, of how the old herbs & spices machinery would be reflected 

in the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2022. This tested core activity D. Many candidates were able to identify 

most of the IFRS 5 criteria, however, some candidates did not apply the information they had been given in the scenario to the criteria. 

To score well, candidates should start by explaining the criteria and then how it is applied in the case they are dealing with. In explaining 

the accounting treatment of the asset, many candidates became confused with the date at which depreciation should cease, otherwise 

this part of the sub-task was done well.  

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of how the disposal of the warehouse property would affect the amount of capital tax 

payable by the company for the year ending 31 December 2022. This tested core activity D. Most candidates had a good idea of how 

the capital gain would be calculated. However, many confused their answer by talking about depreciation, and there was very little 

knowledge of how indexation allowance would be applied. 

 

Task 3 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of what each of the variances in Table 1 meant and possible reasons for their occurrence. 

This tested core activity C. Candidates are reminded that explaining the meaning of a variance is different from explaining how a 

variance is calculated and, although an explanation of the calculation involved may help to explain the meaning, it is not sufficient 

unless the meaning is also clear. For example, some candidates correctly explained that the fixed overhead expenditure variance 

compares actual fixed overhead spend to budget. However, to infer meaning, they needed to explain that an adverse variance means 

that the actual was more than budget. In explaining efficiency and capacity, many answers did not make clear that the overhead rate 

was based on machine hours and hence the meaning of the variance was not always clear. Most candidates did correctly identify the 

reasons for the variances. However, some candidates tried to throw every possible reason into each variance in the hope of covering 

the correct reason. These answers lacked clarity and therefore lost marks. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of why each of the KPIs in Table 2 was appropriate for measuring the performance of 

the Herb & Spices Department Manager and the reasons why each measure had either been achieved or had not been achieved. This 

tested core activity C. Most candidates did well here and scored a high level 2 / level 3. Weaker candidates often failed to explain the 

appropriateness of the measures and did not relate their answers to the information in the scenario, instead discussing each more 

generically.  



 

Operational level case study – Examiner’s report – May – August 2022 exam session  18 

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of the factors to be considered when choosing a type of short-term investment of these 

funds. This tested core activity F. Most candidates were able to identify liquidity, risk and yield as factors, but only some candidates 

expanded on each factor using examples of relevant financial products as well as applying their answers to the scenario.  

 

Task 4  

The first sub-task asked for an explanation, for each of the items in Table 1, which were relevant, and which were irrelevant to the 

decision on whether to proceed with the roadshow. It also asked for indication, where appropriate, of further information that would be 

required to quantify the relevant costs and revenues. This tested core activity E. As is common in these types of tasks, candidates did 

themselves no favours by failing to explain the reason why the costs were relevant or not. This needed to be done for each cost or 

element of cost. It is not sufficient to include a definition of relevant costs at the start of an answer and then list relevant costs based 

on this underneath. It was clear in some cases that candidates knew whether a cost was relevant but did not justify it and therefore did 

not score many marks. There were a few good answers that articulated the additional information well. Some candidates did try to 

comment on other information, but this was more about the general success of the roadshow and not about the information needed to 

establish the relevant cost. 

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of the features of a beyond budgeting approach and how it might be applied. It also 

asked for an explanation of the benefits to the business of using a beyond budgeting approach. This tested core activity B. Most 

candidates did well here and were able to explain the features of the approach. However, fewer managed to really explain how these 

could be applied. In explaining benefits, it was sometimes hard to determine what the actual benefit was as many answers were quite 

generic. Candidates are encouraged to state the benefit clearly before then expanding their answer. This avoids overlap between 

points given and helps students articulate their points more clearly. 

 

 

.   



 

Operational level case study – Examiner’s report – May – August 2022 exam session  19 

Variant 6 Comments on performance 
 

Task 1 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation, based on the information in Table 1, of how the features of a digital costing system could 

benefit the business. This tested core activity A. This was answered well by most candidates, with good use of the scenario material. 

Application of case material and answering the task set are key to success at OCS, and the majority of candidates achieved both with 

the data provided for the digital costing system. However, one weakness frequently demonstrated in this task was the tendency to 

repeat the information without adding any value. It was expected that candidates explain how and why the various features in the table 

amounted to a benefit for the company: not to simply to assert that it was.  

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of how the promotional budget for the launch of the new OSHB range would be prepared 

using a ZBB approach. It also asked for an explanation of the potential limitations of using a ZBB approach across the business. This 

tested core activity B. This sub-task was less well answered. Many candidates provided a truncated rote-learned approach to ZBB 

without any specific application to the exhibit material or applied the data in the exhibit material to budgeting in general, often concluding 

that the inhouse cost was lower than the outsourced cost.  In more than a few instances, candidates confused ZBB with activity-based 

budgeting which earned them very little credit. The general quality of candidate answers was disappointing for this sub-task with very 

few scoring at mid-level 2 or higher. 

 

Task 2 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of how to use a decision tree to decide which marketing option should be chosen. It also 

asked for an explanation of the issues with using the information in the decision tree to make this situation. This tested core activity E. 

Although there are no marks for calculations in the OCS examination, using the figures presented in order to explain the relevant 

technique is always going to be the most concise and complete approach. There were some excellent answers, but a significant number 

of candidates presented little more than a description of the decision tree and how it had been constructed from left to right. This was 

not answering the task set and earned little credit. With regard to the issues with the information, almost all candidates gave a 

mechanical repeat of the textbook limitations of expected value. Few candidates considered that one of the outcomes was considered 

to be 100% certain or that the probabilities associated with “high sales” demand were significantly different. 

The second sub-task asked for suggestions of three KPIs which measured food waste and one KPI which measured food recoverability. 

It also asked, for each of the four KPIs, an explanation of how it would be calculated and why it would be appropriate. This tested core 

activity C. KPIs are examined in every OCS variant, and it should be no surprise to any candidate that they are required to compile 
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these. Most candidate answers were quite poor, with no explanation of how they should be calculated and limited justification. Often, 

a justification was simply restating the title of the KPI but using more words, this was not enough value added to count as a justification. 

Frequently, the KPIs were outside the scope of the definition given in the scenario for food waste or recoverability. Some answers 

applied the KPIs to the existing meal-kits rather than the new product. Candidates must be careful to read the task carefully, as answers 

that address tasks that have not been posed earn no marks.  

Task 3 

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of what each of the variances in Tables 1 and 2 meant, giving possible reasons why the 

variances had occurred and what the variances indicated about the overall sales performance for the new OSHB range in November 

2022. This tested core activity C. Whilst most candidates were competent with the sales price variance, few could explain the meaning 

of the sales profit mix or sales profit quantity adequately. The majority of candidates believe that the sales volume variance is the sales 

profit quantity variance (it isn’t) and few could attribute the facts presented in the scenario to the correct variance with any conviction. 

This subject is core to the P1 syllabus, and it is disappointing that so few candidates appear to understand sales variances. Candidates 

were also asked to explain what the variances indicated about overall sales performance and practically no candidates addressed this.  

The second sub-task asked for an explanation of what the working capital cycle information in Table 3 indicated about the actual level 

of working capital compared to budget, including any potential effects on cashflow and any limitations of the available information. This 

tested core activity F. The first part of this task was answered quite well, as most candidates appear to have a good understanding of 

the working capital cycle, although weaker candidates simply described the data given rather than explaining what it meant. For 

example, “raw material days are three days higher than budget” without any further comment or judgement, is not enough to earn 

marks.  

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of any actions that could be taken to shorten the actual working capital cycle. This tested 
core activity F. Most candidates presented more than one reasonable action to shorten the working capital cycle, but a few 
suggested that the company should start offering customers credit which would have had the opposite effect. 

Task 4  

The first sub-task asked for an explanation of how the different items of inventory in Table 1 would affect the financial statements for 

the year ending 31 December 2022. This tested core activity D. Candidates appear to have limited knowledge or understanding of IAS 

2: Inventory. It was disappointing to see so few answers that addressed the effect of a simple inventory write-off on both the statement 

of financial position and the statement of profit or loss.  
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The second sub-task asked for an explanation of how the insurance claim receipt in Table 1 would affect the financial statements for 

the year ending 31 December 2022. This tested core activity D. Again, it was disappointing how few candidates were able to explain 

the impact of a relatively straightforward accrual for income on the financial statements. 

The third sub-task asked for an explanation of how stress test drills following a simulated cyber-attack on the production scheduling 

system would improve awareness of the short-term impact of such an attack. It also asked for examples relating to the achievement of 

budgeted output levels and cashflows. This tested core activity B. This was answered well by the vast majority of candidates, even 

though this is an area that has not been examined extensively before. Most candidates demonstrated an understanding of what a 

stress test drill was and were able to explain its benefits comprehensively within the context given.  

The fourth sub-task asked for an explanation of why each of the costs in Table 2 and the accompanying notes was relevant, or not, to 

the decision regarding the acceptance of an offer from Solid Promotions. This tested core activity E. Similar questions have been posed 

in almost every OCS examination and candidates who had taken the trouble to attempt past papers scored highly. Unfortunately, there 

were a significant number of candidates who did not read the exhibit evidence carefully enough. For example, the design work had 

already been undertaken and was therefore a sunk cost and not, as many suggested, a future incremental cost. Furthermore, some 

candidates had no understanding of relevant costs at all and were not able to secure any marks.  
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Operational Level Case Study May and August 2022 

Marking Guidance 

Variant 1 
 

About this marking scheme  
 
This marking scheme has been prepared for the CIMA 2019 Professional Qualification Operational Case Study [May–August 
2022].  
 
The indicative answers will show the expected or most orthodox approach; however, the nature of the case study 
examination tasks means that a range of responses will be valid. The descriptors within this level-based marking scheme are 
holistic and can accommodate a range of acceptable responses.  
 
General marking guidance is given below, and markers are subject to extensive training, standardisation activities and 
ongoing monitoring to ensure that judgements are being made correctly and consistently.  
 
Care must be taken to not make too many assumptions about future marking schemes on the basis of this document. While 
the guiding principles remain constant, details may change depending on the content of a particular case study examination 
form.  
 

General marking guidance  
 

• Marking schemes should be applied positively, with candidates rewarded for what they have demonstrated and not 
penalised for omissions.  

• All marks on the scheme are designed to be awarded, and full marks should be awarded when all level descriptor 
criteria are met.  
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• The marking scheme and indicative answers are provided as a guide to markers. They are not intended to be 
exhaustive, and other valid approaches must be rewarded. Equally, students do not have to make all of the points 
mentioned in the indicative answers to receive the highest level of the marking scheme.  

• An answer which does not address the requirements of the task must be awarded no marks. Markers should mark 

according to the marking scheme and not their perception of where the passing standard may lie.  

Where markers are in doubt as to the application of the marking scheme to a particular candidate script, they must 

contact their lead marker.  

 
 

How to use this levels-based marking scheme 
 
1. Read the candidate’s response in full  
 
2. Select the level  

• For each trait in the marking scheme, read each level descriptor and select one, using a best-fit approach.  

• The response does not need to meet all of the criteria of the level descriptor – it should be placed at the level when it 
meets more of the criteria of this level than the criteria of the other levels.  

• If the work fits more than one level, judge which one provides the best match.  

• If the work is on the borderline between two levels, then it should be placed either at the top of the lower band or the 
bottom of the higher band, depending on where it fits best.  

 
3. Select a mark within the level  
 

• Once you have selected the level, you will need to choose the mark to apply.  

• A small range of marks may be given at each level. You will need to use your professional judgement to decide which 
mark to allocate.  

• If the answer is of high quality and convincingly meets the requirements of the level, then you should award the 
highest mark available. If not, then you should award a lower mark within the range available, making a judgement on 
the overall quality of the answer in relation to the level descriptor.  
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Summary of the core activities tested within each sub-task 
 

Sub Task Core Activity Sub task 
weighting 
(% section 

time) 

Section 1 
(a) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 52% 

(b) F Prepare information to manage working capital. 48% 

Section 2 

(a) A Prepare costing information for different purposes to meet the needs of 
management. 

52% 

(b) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 48% 

Section 3 

(a) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 36% 

(b) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 28% 

(c) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 36% 

Section 4 

(a) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 40% 

(b) D 
 

Apply relevant financial reporting standards and corporate governance, ethical 
and tax principles. 

24% 

(c) 36% 
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SECTION 1 

Task (a): Explain how to revise the cost budget for the second half of 2022 using a flexible budgeting approach. Please 
also explain why it is important to flex this original cost budget. 

Trait  

Cost budget Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of flexible budgeting. The 
explanation of how to prepare a flexible cost budget is limited 
and lacks clarity, completeness and application to the scenario. 

1 – 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of flexible budgeting. 
The explanation of how to prepare a flexible cost budget lacks 
some clarity, completeness and/or application to the scenario. 

4 – 6 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of flexible budgeting. The 
explanation of how to prepare a flexible cost budget is mostly 
clear and complete, with application to the scenario. 

7 – 8 

Importance Level  Descriptor Marks 
 No rewardable material 0 
Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of the importance of flexing 

the cost budget. The explanation lacks clarity and application to 
the scenario. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of the importance of 
flexing the cost budget. The explanation lacks some clarity or 
application to the scenario. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of the importance of flexing 
the cost budget. The explanation is mostly clear and applied to 
the scenario. 

5 

  



 

©CIMA 2022. No reproduction without prior consent.  

   

SECTION 1 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain the factors to consider when agreeing initial credit terms with corporate customers and the actions we 
will need to take to manage the receivables balances of these customers after we start trading with them. 

Trait  

Credit terms  Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Identifies factors to consider when agreeing initial credit terms 
with the new corporate customers, but there is a lack of depth, 
clarity and application to the scenario in the explanation. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Identifies factors to consider when agreeing initial credit terms 
with the new corporate customers. The explanation lacks some 
depth, clarity and application to the scenario. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Identifies factors to consider when agreeing initial credit terms 
with the new corporate customers. The explanation is 
comprehensive and clear, and there is application to the 
scenario. 

5 – 6 

Manage 
receivables 

Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Identifies actions that will need to be taken, although there is a 
lack of clarity, depth and application to the scenario in the 
explanation. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Identifies actions that will need to be taken. The explanation 
lacks some depth, clarity and application to the scenario. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Identifies actions that will need to be taken. The explanation is 
comprehensive and clear, and there is application to the 
scenario. 

5 – 6 
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SECTION 2 

Task (a): Explain how to determine the cost per user of the new app. Please also explain the difficulties associated with 
doing this. 

Trait  

Cost per user Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of how to determine the cost 
per user of the new app. There is little if any reference to the 
costing information provided or recognition of the nature of some 
of the costs. The explanation lacks clarity and depth. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of how to determine 
the cost per user of the new app. There is some reference to the 
costing information provided and some recognition of the nature 
of some of the costs. The explanation lacks some clarity and/or 
depth. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of how to determine the cost 
per user of the new app. There is reasonable reference to the 
costing information provided and recognition of the nature of 
some of the costs. The explanation is mostly clear. 

5 – 6 

Difficulties Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Identifies some of the difficulties associated with determining the 
cost per user of the new app. There is a lack of clarity and depth 
to the explanation. There is no application to the scenario.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Identifies some of the difficulties associated with determining the 
cost per user of the new app. The explanation may lack some 
clarity and/or depth. There is some application to the scenario. 

3 – 5 

Level 3 Identifies most of the difficulties associated with determining the 
cost per user of the new app. The explanation is mostly clear 
and comprehensive. There is reasonable application to the 
scenario. 

6 – 7 
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SECTION 2 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Identify, with justification, whether each of the costs in Table 2 are relevant or irrelevant when deciding which 
option is better financially. Please also explain other factors that we would need to consider before deciding whether to 
outsource the transaction processing. 

Trait  

Relevant / 
irrelevant 

Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Identifies correctly whether some of the costs are relevant or 
irrelevant. Justification may be missing or lack clarity. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Identifies correctly whether most of the costs are relevant or 
irrelevant. Justification may be occasionally missing or lack 
some clarity. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Identifies correctly whether most of the costs are relevant or 
irrelevant. Justification is mostly clear. 

5 – 6 

Other factors Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one other factor within the context of the 
scenario. The explanation may lack clarity. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two other factors within the context of the 
scenario. The explanation may lack some clarity. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Explains at least three other factors within the context of the 
scenario. The explanation is mostly clear. 

5 – 6 
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SECTION 3 

Task (a): Suggest three KPIs that could be used to monitor the performance of the new Corporate Sales Manager. 
Please include an explanation of how each KPI would be measured and why it would be appropriate. 

Trait  

KPIs Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Identifies at least one KPI which is appropriate for monitoring the 
performance of the Corporate Sales Manager. The justification and 
explanation of how the KPI(s) would be measured is likely to lack 
clarity, depth and application to the scenario. 

1 – 3 

Level 2 Identifies at least two KPIs which are appropriate for monitoring the 
performance of the Corporate Sales Manager. The justification and 
explanation of how the KPIs would be measured may lack some 
clarity, depth and/or application to the scenario. 

4 – 6 

Level 3 Identifies three KPIs which are appropriate for monitoring the 
performance of the Corporate Sales Manager. The justification and 
explanation of how the KPIs would be measured is mostly clear, 
comprehensive and applied to the scenario. 

7 – 9 
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SECTION 3 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain the potential benefits and drawbacks of involving Bina Keo in setting budgets and KPI targets for 
corporate sales. 

Trait  

Participation Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one potential benefit or drawback of involving 
Bina Keo in budget and target setting. The explanation is likely to 
lack clarity with little reference to the scenario.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two potential benefits or drawbacks of involving 
Bina Keo in budget and target setting. The explanation may lack 
some clarity or reference to the scenario. 

3 – 5 

Level 3 Explains at least three potential benefits or drawbacks of involving 
Bina Keo in budget and target setting, with at least one of each. 
The explanation is mostly clear, and there is a good attempt to 
reference the scenario. 

6 – 7 

Task (c): Explain the maximax, maximin and minimax regret decision criteria and how we should use each of these to 
decide which initial order option to choose. Please identify the option that would be chosen under each criterion. 

Trait  

Decision 
criteria 

Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates technical understanding of at least one of the 
decision criteria. The explanation lacks clarity, and the correct 
option may not be selected. 

1 – 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of at least two of the 
decision criteria. The explanation may lack some clarity, and the 
correct option may not always be selected. 

4 – 6 

Level 3 Demonstrates technical understanding of all three decision criteria. 
The explanation may lack a little clarity or one of the correct 
options may not be selected. 

7 – 9 
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SECTION 4 

Task (a): Explain what each of the variances in Table 1 and Table 2 means and possible reasons for their occurrence. 

Trait  

Sales variances  Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains the meaning of at least one of the variances with 
technical accuracy. The explanation lacks clarity and depth. The 
reasons given are generic, as there is limited reference to the 
scenario and the context. There is no linkage made between 
any of the variances.  

1 – 3 

Level 2 Explains the meaning of at least two of the variances with 
technical accuracy. The explanation may lack some clarity and 
depth. The reasons given are usually linked to the correct 
variances, and there is reasonable reference to the scenario and 
the context. There is some attempt to make links between the 
variances. 

4 – 7 

Level 3 Explains the meaning of all three variances with technical 
accuracy. The explanation is mostly clear and comprehensive. 
The reasons given are mostly linked to the correct variances, 
and there is good reference to the scenario and the context. 
There is a reasonable attempt to make links between the 
variances. 

8 – 10 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain how each of the items of expenditure in Table 3 should be recorded in our financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2022. 

Trait  

IAS 16 Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains with technical accuracy how one or two of the items of 
expenditure will be recorded in the financial statements. The 
explanation lacks clarity and reference to the information given. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Explains with technical accuracy how two or three of the items of 
expenditure will be recorded in the financial statements. The 
explanation may lack some clarity but does attempt to reference 
the information given. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Explains with technical accuracy how all three of the items of 
expenditure will be recorded in the financial statement. The 
explanation is mostly clear and makes good reference to the 
information given. 

5 – 6 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (c): Explain whether the old herb portioning machine meets the criteria to be reclassified as a non-current asset held 
for sale in our financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. Please also explain how the asset will be 
treated in these financial statements.  

Trait  

Criteria Level Descriptor Marks 
 No rewardable material 0 
Level 1 Demonstrates general understanding of some of the criteria in 

IFRS 5 for reclassification as an asset held for sale. There is 
limited application of these criteria to the scenario. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates general understanding of most of the criteria in 
IFRS 5 for reclassification as an asset held for sale. There is 
reasonable application of these criteria to the scenario. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates general understanding of the criteria in IFRS 5 for 
reclassification as an asset held for sale. There is good 
application of these criteria to the scenario. 

5 

Treatment Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains little about how the asset held for sale will be recorded 
(separate category of current asset and depreciation stopped) or 
valued (lower of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell). 
The explanation lacks clarity and depth. 

1 

Level 2 Explains some aspects of how the asset held for sale will be 
recorded and valued. The explanation may lack some clarity. 

2 – 3 

Level 3 Explains most aspects of how the asset held for sale will be 
recorded and valued. The explanation is mostly clear. 

4 
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  Operational Level Case Study May 2022–August 2022 

Marking Guidance 

Variant 2 
 

About this marking scheme  
 
This marking scheme has been prepared for the CIMA 2019 professional qualification Operational Case Study [May–August 
2022].  
 
The indicative answers will show the expected or most orthodox approach; however, the nature of the case study 
examination tasks means that a range of responses will be valid. The descriptors within this level-based marking scheme are 
holistic and can accommodate a range of acceptable responses.  
 
General marking guidance is given below, and markers are subject to extensive training, standardisation activities and 
ongoing monitoring to ensure that judgements are being made correctly and consistently.  
 
Care must be taken not to make too many assumptions about future marking schemes on the basis of this document. While 
the guiding principles remain constant, details may change depending on the content of a particular case study examination 
form.  
 

General marking guidance  
 

• Marking schemes should be applied positively, with candidates rewarded for what they have demonstrated and not 
penalised for omissions.  

• All marks on the scheme are designed to be awarded, and full marks should be awarded when all level descriptor 
criteria are met.  
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• The marking scheme and indicative answers are provided as a guide to markers. They are not intended to be 
exhaustive, and other valid approaches must be rewarded. Equally, students do not have to make all of the points 
mentioned in the indicative answers to receive the highest level of the marking scheme.  

• An answer which does not address the requirements of the task must be awarded no marks. Markers should mark 

according to the marking scheme and not their perception of where the passing standard may lie.  

Where markers are in doubt as to the application of the marking scheme to a particular candidate script, they must 

contact their lead marker.  

 
 

How to use this levels-based marking scheme 
 
1. Read the candidate’s response in full  
 
2. Select the level  

• For each trait in the marking scheme, read each level descriptor and select one, using a best-fit approach.  

• The response does not need to meet all of the criteria of the level descriptor – it should be placed at the level when it 
meets more of the criteria of this level than the criteria of the other levels.  

• If the work fits more than one level, judge which one provides the best match.  

• If the work is on the borderline between two levels, then it should be placed either at the top of the lower band or the 
bottom of the higher band, depending on where it fits best.  

 
3. Select a mark within the level  
 

• Once you have selected the level, you will need to choose the mark to apply.  

• A small range of marks may be given at each level. You will need to use your professional judgement to decide which 
mark to allocate.  

• If the answer is of high quality and convincingly meets the requirements of the level, then you should award the 
highest mark available. If not, then you should award a lower mark within the range available, making a judgement on 
the overall quality of the answer in relation to the level descriptor.  
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Summary of the core activities tested within each sub-task 
 

Sub Task Core Activity Sub task 
weighting 
(% section 

time) 

Section 1 
(a) D Apply relevant financial reporting standards and corporate governance, ethical 

and tax principles. 
48% 

(b) A Prepare costing information for different purposes to meet the needs of 
management. 

32% 

(c) A Prepare costing information for different purposes to meet the needs of 
management. 

20% 

Section 2 

(a) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 36% 

(b) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 24% 

(c) F Prepare information to manage working capital. 40% 

Section 3 

(a) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 32% 

(b) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 36% 

(c) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 32% 

Section 4 

(a) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 76% 

(b) C 
 

Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 24% 
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SECTION 1 

Task (a) Explain and justify how the new property will be initially recorded and subsequently measured in our financial 
statements for the year ending 31 December 2022. 

Trait  

Initial Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some technical understanding of the initial 
recognition rules in IAS 16. The explanation lacks clarity, depth 
and/or is likely to include technical inaccuracies. There is limited 
reference to the information given in the scenario. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable technical understanding of the initial 
recognition rules in IAS 16. The explanation may lack some 
clarity or depth or include some technical inaccuracies. There is 
a reasonable attempt to reference the information given in the 
scenario. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good technical understanding of the initial 
recognition rules in IAS 16. The explanation is mostly clear, 
comprehensive and technically accurate. There is a good 
attempt to reference the information given in the scenario. 

5 
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SECTION 1 (CONTINUED) 

Task (a) continued: Explain and justify how the new property will be initially recorded and subsequently measured in our 
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2022. 

Trait  

Subsequent Level  Descriptor Marks 
 No rewardable material 0 
Level 1 Demonstrates some technical understanding of the subsequent 

measurement rules in IAS 16. The explanation lacks clarity, 
depth and/or is likely to include technical inaccuracies. There is 
limited reference to the information given in the scenario. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable technical understanding of the 
subsequent measurement rules in IAS 16. The explanation may 
lack some clarity or depth or include some technical 
inaccuracies. There is a reasonable attempt to reference the 
information given in the scenario. 

3 – 5 

Level 3 Demonstrates good technical understanding of the subsequent 
measurement rules in IAS 16. The explanation is mostly clear, 
comprehensive and technically accurate. There is a good 
attempt to reference the information given in the scenario. 

6 – 7 
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SECTION 1 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain the suitability of the new production facility as a pilot for the introduction of ABC. 

Trait  

ABC  Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of when ABC is suitable. The 
explanation lacks clarity and application to the scenario.  

1 – 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of when ABC is 
suitable. The explanation may lack some clarity and/or 
application to the scenario.  

4 – 6 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of when ABC is suitable. The 
explanation is mostly clear and applied to the scenario.  

7 – 8 

Task (c): Explain how the use of a digital costing system could improve our costing information and why this would 
benefit our business. 

Trait Level  Descriptor Marks 

Digital costing   No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains what is meant by a digital costing system but does not 
necessarily explain how this would improve costing information. 
Some attempt to explain benefits of more accurate costing 
information which are not necessarily linked to the use of digital 
information. The explanation is likely to lack clarity.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Explains what is meant by a digital costing system and attempts 
to explain how this would improve costing information. 
Reasonable attempt to explain benefits of more accurate costing 
information. The explanation may lack clarity. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Explains clearly what is meant by a digital costing system and 
how this would improve costing information. Good attempt to 
explain benefits of more accurate costing information.  

5 
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SECTION 2 

Task (a): Explain what Chart 1 indicates about the cost structure of the two options for the supply of platters. Please also 
give two reasons why the decision about which option to take should not be based on the expected value of demand. 

Trait  

Cost structure Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates limited understanding of the cost structures 
shown in Chart 1. The explanation is likely to lack clarity, 
technical accuracy and reference to the information in the chart. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of the cost structures 
shown in Chart 1. The explanation may lack some clarity and/or 
technical accuracy. There is some attempt to reference the 
information in the chart. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of the cost structures shown 
in Chart 1. The explanation is mostly clear and technically 
accurate with reference to the information in the chart. 

5 

Decision  Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains one reason why the decision about which option to 
take should not be based on the expected value of demand. The 
explanation lacks clarity and application to the scenario. 

1 

Level 2 Explains at least one reason why the decision about which 
option to take should not be based on the expected value of 
demand. The explanation may lack some clarity or application to 
the scenario  

2 – 3 

Level 3 Explains two reasons why the decision about which option to 
take should not be based on the expected value of demand. The 
explanation is mostly clear and applied to the scenario. 

4 
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SECTION 2 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain three factors that need to be considered before making a final decision about whether to buy in from the 
supplier or produce the platters in-house. 

Trait  

Factors Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one relevant factor. The explanation may lack 
clarity, depth and/or application. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two relevant factors. The explanation may lack 
some clarity, depth and/or application. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Explains at least three relevant factors. The explanation is 
mostly clear and applied to the scenario. 

5 – 6 
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SECTION 2 (CONTINUED) 

Task (c): Explain what the information contained in Table 2 indicates about how each supplier manages its working 
capital and its suitability to be our tray supplier. 

Trait  

Gem Catering Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of how Gem Catering 
manages its working capital based on the information given. The 
explanation lacks clarity, depth and is unlikely to comment on 
the company’s suitability as a supplier.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of how Gem Catering 
manages its working capital based on the information given. The 
explanation may lack some clarity or depth or may not comment 
on the company’s suitability as a supplier.  

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of how Gem Catering 
manages its working capital based on the information given. The 
explanation is clear and comprehensive and does comment on 
the company’s suitability as a supplier. 

5 

Snack Excel  No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of how Snack Excel 
manages its working capital based on the information given. The 
explanation lacks clarity, depth and is unlikely to comment on 
the company’s suitability as a supplier.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of how Snack Excel 
manages its working capital based on the information given. The 
explanation may lack some clarity or depth or may not comment 
on the company’s suitability as a supplier.  

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of how Snack Excel 
manages its working capital based on the information given. The 
explanation is clear and comprehensive and does comment on 
the company’s suitability as a supplier. 

5 
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SECTION 3 

Task (a): Explain whether it is worthwhile buying additional trays with an emergency order and how to determine, based 
on Graph 1, how many trays we should order. 

Trait  

Additional 
trays 

Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of binding constraints and 
shadow price to determine if it is worthwhile buying additional trays. 
Makes little attempt to explain how to use the graph to determine 
how many to order. The explanation lacks clarity and reference to 
the information in the scenario. 

1 – 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of binding constraints and 
shadow price to determine if it is worthwhile buying additional trays. 
Makes some attempt to explain how to use the graph to determine 
how many to order. The explanation lacks some clarity, although 
there is an attempt to reference the information in the scenario. 

4 – 6 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of binding constraints and 
shadow price to determine if it is worthwhile buying additional trays. 
Makes a reasonable attempt to explain how to use the graph to 
determine how many to order. The explanation is mostly clear with 
good reference to the information in the scenario. 

7 – 8 
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SECTION 3 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain how a ZBB approach can be applied to create a budget for machinery maintenance costs in the new 
production facility. 

Trait  

ZBB Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates understanding of the principles of ZBB, but the 
explanation lacks clarity, depth and application to the scenario. 

1 – 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates understanding of the principles of ZBB, but the 
explanation may lack some clarity, depth and/or application to the 
scenario. 

4 – 6 

Level 3 Demonstrates understanding of the principles of ZBB, and the 
explanation is mostly clear, comprehensive and applied to the 
scenario. 

7 – 9 

Task (c): Explain two benefits and two challenges of using ZBB to prepare the machinery maintenance cost budget. 

Trait     

Benefits Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one benefit, but the explanation lacks clarity and 
application to the scenario. 

1 

Level 2 Explains at least one benefit. The explanation may lack some 
clarity and/or application to the scenario. 

2 – 3 

Level 3 Explains two benefits. The explanation is clear and applied to the 
scenario. 

4 

Challenges Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one challenge, but the explanation lacks clarity 
and application to the scenario. 

1 

Level 2 Explains at least one challenge. The explanation may lack some 
clarity and/or application to the scenario. 

2 – 3 

Level 3 Explains two challenges. The explanation is clear and applied to 
the scenario. 

4 
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SECTION 4 

Task (a): Explain what each of the variances shown in Table 1 means and possible reasons for their occurrence, based 
on the information from Greta above and the extract of the KPI dashboard in Table 2. 

Trait  

Raw materials Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates technical understanding of one of the variances, 
but the explanation lacks clarity and application to the scenario.  

1 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of both variances, but the 
explanation may lack some clarity. The reasons for and/or what 
the variances indicate may not be clear or appropriate for the 
variance. 

2 – 3 

Level 3 Demonstrates understanding of both variances. The reasons 
and what the variances indicate are mostly clear and 
appropriate for the variance.  

4 

Direct labour Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates technical understanding of at least one of the 
variances, but the explanation lacks clarity and application to the 
scenario.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of at least two of the 
variances, but the explanation may lack some clarity. The 
reasons for and/or what the variances indicate may not be clear 
or appropriate for the variance. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates understanding of all three variances. The reasons 
and what the variances indicate are mostly clear and 
appropriate for the variance.  

5 – 6 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (a) continued: Explain what each of the variances shown in Table 1 means and possible reasons for their 
occurrence, based on the information from Greta above and the extract of the KPI dashboard in Table 2. 

Trait  

Variable overhead Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates technical understanding of one of the variances, 
but the explanation lacks clarity and application to the scenario.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of both variances, but the 
explanation may lack some clarity. The reasons for and/or what 
the variances indicate may not be clear or appropriate for the 
variance. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates understanding of both variances. The reasons 
and what the variances indicate are mostly clear and 
appropriate for the variance.  

5 

KPI review Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Provides some reference to the KPIs in the dashboard when 
explaining the variances, but this is limited and not necessarily 
related to the correct variance. 

1 

Level 2 Provides reasonable reference to the KPIs in the dashboard 
when explaining the variances, but this may not necessarily 
relate to the correct variance. 

2 – 3 

Level 3 Provides good reference to the KPIs in the dashboard when 
explaining the variances. 

4 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Suggest two KPIs relating to sustainability that could be added to the dashboard for the Party Box Production 
Facility. Please explain why each KPI would be appropriate and how it would be measured. 

Trait  

KPIs Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Suggests at least one appropriate KPI. The explanation of why 
the KPI(s) is (are) appropriate and how it (they) would be 
measured lacks clarity, depth and application to the scenario.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Suggests at least one appropriate KPI. The explanation of why 
the KPI(s) is (are) appropriate and how it (they) would be 
measured may lack some clarity, depth and/or application to the 
scenario. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Suggests two appropriate KPIs. The explanation of why the 
KPIs are appropriate and how (they) would be measured is 
mostly clear, comprehensive and applied to the scenario. 

5 – 6 
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Operational Level Case Study May 2022–August 2022 

Marking Guidance 

Variant 3 
 

About this marking scheme  
 
This marking scheme has been prepared for the CIMA 2019 professional qualification Operational Case Study [May–August 
2022].  
 
The indicative answers will show the expected or most orthodox approach; however, the nature of the case study 
examination tasks means that a range of responses will be valid. The descriptors within this level-based marking scheme are 
holistic and can accommodate a range of acceptable responses.  
 
General marking guidance is given below, and markers are subject to extensive training, standardisation activities and 
ongoing monitoring to ensure that judgements are being made correctly and consistently.  
 
Care must be taken to not make too many assumptions about future marking schemes on the basis of this document. While 
the guiding principles remain constant, details may change depending on the content of a particular case study examination 
form.  
 

General marking guidance  
 

• Marking schemes should be applied positively, with candidates rewarded for what they have demonstrated and not 
penalised for omissions.  

• All marks on the scheme are designed to be awarded, and full marks should be awarded when all level descriptor 
criteria are met.  
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• The marking scheme and indicative answers are provided as a guide to markers. They are not intended to be 
exhaustive and other valid approaches must be rewarded. Equally, students do not have to make all of the points 
mentioned in the indicative answers to receive the highest level of the marking scheme.  

• An answer which does not address the requirements of the task must be awarded no marks. Markers should mark 

according to the marking scheme and not their perception of where the passing standard may lie.  

Where markers are in doubt as to the application of the marking scheme to a particular candidate script, they must 

contact their lead marker.  

 
 

How to use this levels-based marking scheme 
 
1. Read the candidate’s response in full  
 
2. Select the level  

• For each trait in the marking scheme, read each level descriptor and select one, using a best-fit approach.  

• The response does not need to meet all of the criteria of the level descriptor – it should be placed at the level when it 
meets more of the criteria of this level than the criteria of the other levels.  

• If the work fits more than one level, judge which one provides the best match.  

• If the work is on the borderline between two levels, then it should be placed either at the top of the lower band or the 
bottom of the higher band, depending on where it fits best.  

 
3. Select a mark within the level  
 

• Once you have selected the level, you will need to choose the mark to apply.  

• A small range of marks may be given at each level. You will need to use your professional judgement to decide which 
mark to allocate.  

• If the answer is of high quality and convincingly meets the requirements of the level, then you should award the 
highest mark available. If not, then you should award a lower mark within the range available, making a judgement on 
the overall quality of the answer in relation to the level descriptor.  

 



 

©CIMA 2022. No reproduction without prior consent.  

   

 

Summary of the core activities tested within each sub-task 
 

Sub Task Core Activity Sub task 
weighting 
(% section 

time) 

Section 1 
(a) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 32% 

(b) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 20% 

(c) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 48% 

Section 2 

(a) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making 48% 

(b) A Prepare costing information for different purposes to meet the needs of 
management. 

52% 

Section 3 

(a) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 36% 

(b) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 36% 

(c) D Apply relevant financial reporting standards and corporate governance, ethical 
and tax principles. 

28% 

Section 4 

(a) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 40% 

(b) F 
 

Prepare information to manage working capital.  36% 

(c) D Apply relevant financial reporting standards and corporate governance, ethical 
and tax principles. 

24% 
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SECTION 1 

Task (a): Explain the components which make up a time series analysis. 

Trait  

Components Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of the components of time 
series analysis. The explanation lacks clarity, depth and 
application to the scenario. 

1 - 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of the components of 
time series analysis. The explanation may lack some clarity, 
depth and/or application to the scenario. 

4 - 6 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of the components of time 
series analysis. The explanation is mostly clear, comprehensive 
and there is application to the scenario. 

7 - 8 

Task (b): Explain the limitations of using this data and time series analysis to forecast our sales volumes. 

Trait  

Limitations 1 Level  Descriptor Marks 
 No rewardable material 0 
Level 1 Explains at least one limitation. The explanation is likely to lack 

clarity and not refer to the scenario. 
1 - 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two limitations. The explanation may lack some 
clarity and may not reference the scenario. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Explains at least two limitations. The explanation is mostly clear 
and effectively references the scenario. 

5 
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SECTION 1 (CONTINUED) 

Task (c): Explain the decision tree and how it can be used to select which AI software supplier would be best financially. 
Please also explain the limitations of using this data and expected values to make this decision. 

Trait  

Use  Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of the decision tree but 
explains limited aspects of how the decision tree could be used 
to make the decision. There is little or no reference to the 
scenario, and the explanation lacks clarity. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of the decision tree 
and explains some aspects of how the decision tree could be 
used to make the decision. Reference to the scenario or data in 
the decision tree may be a little limited, and the explanation may 
lack some clarity. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of the decision tree and 
explains most aspects of how the tree can be used to make the 
decision. The explanation makes reference to the scenario, and 
data in the decision tree and is mostly clear. 

5 - 6 

Limitations 2  Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one limitation, but the explanation may lack 
clarity, depth and/or may not reference the data in the decision 
tree.  

1 - 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two limitations, but the explanation may lack 
some clarity or depth or may lack reference to the data in the 
decision tree. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Explains at least three limitations and makes reference to the 
data in the decision tree. The explanation is mostly clear and 
comprehensive. 

5 - 6 
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SECTION 2 

Task (a): Explain the information shown on the multi-product break-even chart and the benefits and limitations of using 
this data to analyse our break-even position. 

Trait  

Meaning of 
information 

Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains some of the information shown by the break-even 
chart, but the explanation lacks clarity and makes little if any 
reference to the data in the chart. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Explains some of the information shown by the break-even chart 
and does make reference to the data in the chart. The 
explanation may lack a little clarity. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Explains clearly most of the information shown by the break-
even chart and makes good reference to the data in the chart. 

5 - 6 

Benefits and 
limitations 

Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one benefit or limitation. The explanation is 
likely to lack clarity and not refer to the scenario. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two benefits or limitations. The explanation 
may lack some clarity and may not reference the scenario.  

3 - 4 

Level 3 Explains at least three benefits or limitations (with at least one of 
each). The explanation is clear and references the scenario.  

5 - 6 
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SECTION 2 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain how adopting an ABC approach would change the way in which production overheads are absorbed by 
Herbs & Spices products and how using ABC could improve overall cost control in that department. I have provided a 
summary of the blending processes (in Schedule 1). 

Trait  

Compare with 
current system 

Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of the differences between 
an ABC and an absorption costing approach with limited or no 
reference to the herbs & spices mix production process. 

1 - 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates a reasonable understanding of the differences 
between an ABC and an absorption costing approach with some 
reference to the herbs & spices mix production process. 

4 - 6 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of the differences between 
an ABC and an absorption costing approach with good 
reference to the herbs & spices mix production process.  

7 - 9 

Impact on costs Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of the benefits of ABC for 
cost control but with no reference to the scenario. Note that this 
question is specifically focussed on cost control and therefore 
there is no credit for explanation of other benefits of ABC. 

1 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of the benefits of ABC 
for cost control with a reasonable attempt to explain within the 
context of the scenario. 

2 - 3 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of the benefits of ABC for 
cost control with a good attempt to explain its suitability within 
the context of the scenario. 

4 
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SECTION 3 

Task (a): Explain the meaning of each of the fixed production overhead variances shown in Table 1 and the possible 
reasons why each variance has occurred. 

Trait  

Variances Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains the meaning of at least one of the variances with technical 
accuracy. The explanation of the variances may lack clarity, and 
the reasons for the variances may be missing or not related to the 
scenario. 

1 - 3 

Level 2 Explains the meaning of at least two of the variances with technical 
accuracy. The explanation of the variances may lack some clarity. 
Reasons for the variances will be given but may not always relate 
to the correct variance or be drawn from the information given in 
the task. 

4 - 6 

Level 3 Explains the meaning of at least three of the variances with 
technical accuracy. The explanation is mostly clear, and the 
reasons given relate to the specific variance and are drawn from 
the information presented in the task. 

7 - 9 

Task (b): Suggests and justifies three KPIs that are appropriate for inclusion in the service level agreement in relation to 
the performance and maintenance of the robots. 

Trait  

KPIs Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Identifies at least one KPI which is appropriate for assessing the 
performance of supplier. The justification/explanation may be 
missing or lack clarity. 

1 - 3 

Level 2 Identifies at least two KPIs which are appropriate for assessing the 
performance of the supplier. The justification/explanation may lack 
some clarity or depth. 

4 - 6 
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Level 3 Identifies at least three KPIs which are appropriate for assessing 
the performance of the supplier which are well justified and 
explained for the most part. 

7 - 9 
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SECTION 3 (CONTINUED) 

Task (c): Explain how the right-of-use asset will initially be measured and how it will impact our financial statements for 
the year ending 31 December 2022. 

Initial amount Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of how to initially measure a 
right-of-use asset. The explanation lacks clarity and does not 
include all elements of the right-of use asset’s initial amount. 

1 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of how to initially 
measure a right-of-use asset. The explanation may lack some 
clarity or may not include all elements of the right-of use asset’s 
initial amount. 

2 - 3 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of how to initially measure a 
right-of-use asset. The explanation is clear and does include all 
elements of the right-of use asset’s initial amount. 

4 

Financial 
statements 

Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of how the right-of-use asset 
will impact the financial statements. The explanation lacks clarity 
and depth and may contain technical inaccuracies. 

1 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of how the right-of-use 
asset will impact the financial statements. The explanation may 
lack some clarity and/or depth or may contain some technical 
inaccuracies. 

2 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of how the right-of-use asset 
will impact the financial statements. The explanation is clear, 
comprehensive and technically accurate. 

3 
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SECTION 4 

Task (a): Explain why changing the initial assumption about each of the four variables adversely by 5% will impact on the 
budgeted contributions and profits for the period as shown in Table 2. Please also explain two limitations of using this 
what-if analysis. 

Trait  

Budget effect Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates limited technical understanding of how changing 
the variables adversely by 5% will impact budgeted contribution 
and profit. The explanation lacks clarity, depth and technical 
accuracy. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates some technical understanding of how changing 
the variables adversely by 5% will impact budgeted contribution 
and profit. The explanation may lack some clarity, depth and/or 
technical accuracy. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good technical understanding of how changing 
the variables adversely by 5% will impact budgeted contribution 
and profit. The explanation is mostly clear, comprehensive and 
technically accurate. 

5 - 6 

Limitations 3  Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one limitation of this what-if analysis, although 
the explanation lacks clarity and makes no reference to the 
scenario. 

1 

Level 2 Explains at least one limitation of this what-if analysis, but the 
explanation may lack clarity or depth and/or there may be limited 
application to the scenario. 

2 - 3 

Level 3 Explains two limitations of this what-if analysis. The explanation 
is mostly clear, and there is good application to the scenario. 

4 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain the suitability of the EOQ model for use in managing the inventory of outer boxes and whether the 
model could be adapted by relaxing some of its underlying assumptions. 

Trait  

Suitability Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates limited understanding of the EOQ model and its 
suitability for managing the inventory of outer boxes. The 
explanation lacks clarity, depth and/or application to the 
scenario. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates some technical understanding of the EOQ model 
and its suitability for managing the inventory of outer boxes. The 
explanation may lack some clarity, depth and/or technical 
accuracy. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good technical understanding of the EOQ model 
and its suitability for managing the inventory of outer boxes. The 
explanation is mostly clear, comprehensive and technically 
accurate. 

5 - 6 

Adaptation of 
model 

Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one adaptation to the model, although the 
explanation lacks clarity and makes no reference to the 
scenario. 

1 

Level 2 Explains at least one adaptation to the model, but there is 
limited application to the scenario. 

2 

Level 3 Explains at least one adaptation to the model. The explanation 
is clear, and there is good application to the scenario. 

3 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (c): Explain how each issue should be treated in our financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. 

Trait  

Issues Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of adjusting/non-adjusting 
events. The explanation of how the two events will be treated in 
the financial statements lacks technical accuracy and clarity. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of adjusting/non-
adjusting events. The explanation of how the two events will be 
treated in the financial statements may lack some technical 
accuracy and clarity. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of adjusting/non-adjusting 
events. The explanation of how the two events will be treated in 
the financial statements is mostly technically accurate and clear. 

5 - 6 
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Operational Level Case Study May 2022–August 2022 

Marking Guidance 

Variant 4 
 

About this marking scheme  
 
This marking scheme has been prepared for the CIMA 2019 professional qualification Operational Case Study [May–August 
2022].  
 
The indicative answers will show the expected or most orthodox approach; however, the nature of the case study 
examination tasks means that a range of responses will be valid. The descriptors within this level-based marking scheme are 
holistic and can accommodate a range of acceptable responses.  
 
General marking guidance is given below, and markers are subject to extensive training, standardisation activities and 
ongoing monitoring to ensure that judgements are being made correctly and consistently.  
 
Care must be taken to not make too many assumptions about future marking schemes on the basis of this document. While 
the guiding principles remain constant, details may change depending on the content of a particular case study examination 
form.  
 

General marking guidance  
 

• Marking schemes should be applied positively, with candidates rewarded for what they have demonstrated and not 
penalised for omissions.  

• All marks on the scheme are designed to be awarded, and full marks should be awarded when all level descriptor 
criteria are met.  
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• The marking scheme and indicative answers are provided as a guide to markers. They are not intended to be 
exhaustive, and other valid approaches must be rewarded. Equally, students do not have to make all of the points 
mentioned in the indicative answers to receive the highest level of the marking scheme.  

• An answer which does not address the requirements of the task must be awarded no marks. Markers should mark 

according to the marking scheme and not their perception of where the passing standard may lie.  

Where markers are in doubt as to the application of the marking scheme to a particular candidate script, they must 

contact their lead marker.  

 

How to use this levels-based marking scheme 
 
1. Read the candidate’s response in full  
 
2. Select the level  

• For each trait in the marking scheme, read each level descriptor and select one, using a best-fit approach.  

• The response does not need to meet all of the criteria of the level descriptor – it should be placed at the level when it 
meets more of the criteria of this level than the criteria of the other levels.  

• If the work fits more than one level, judge which one provides the best match.  

• If the work is on the borderline between two levels, then it should be placed either at the top of the lower band or the 
bottom of the higher band, depending on where it fits best.  

 
3. Select a mark within the level  
 

• Once you have selected the level, you will need to choose the mark to apply.  

• A small range of marks may be given at each level. You will need to use your professional judgement to decide which 
mark to allocate.  

• If the answer is of high quality and convincingly meets the requirements of the level, then you should award the 
highest mark available. If not, then you should award a lower mark within the range available, making a judgement on 
the overall quality of the answer in relation to the level descriptor.  
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Summary of the core activities tested within each sub-task 
 

Sub Task Core Activity Sub task 
weighting 
(% section 

time) 

Section 1 
(a) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 40% 

(b) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 28% 

(c) F Prepare information to manage working capital. 32% 

Section 2 

(a) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 40% 

(b) D Apply relevant financial reporting standards and corporate governance, ethical 
and tax principles.  

40% 

(b) D Apply relevant financial reporting standards and corporate governance, ethical 
and tax principles.  

20% 

Section 3 

(a) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 28% 

(b) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 24% 

(c) A Prepare costing information for different purposes to meet the needs of 
management. 

48% 

Section 4 

(a) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 40% 

(b) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 24% 

(c) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 36% 
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SECTION 1 

Task (a): Explain the importance of preparing budgets for the new Ready@Home production facility and how these 
budgets will assist Victor in his management of the new facility. 

Trait  

Importance of 
budgets 

Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of the importance of 
preparing budgets for the new production facility. The 
explanation is unlikely to consider how the budgets will assist 
Victor’s management. It will also lack clarity and application to 
the scenario.  

1 - 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of the importance of 
preparing budgets for the new production facility. The 
explanation does attempt to consider how the budgets will assist 
Victor’s management. It may lack some clarity and /or 
application to the scenario. 

4 - 7  

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of the importance of 
preparing budgets for the new production facility. The 
explanation does consider how the budgets will assist Victor’s 
management and is mostly clear and applied to the scenario. 

8 - 10 
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SECTION 1 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain the sources and types of big data that will assist with creating a sales forecast for the new 
Ready@Home range. 

Trait  

Big data  Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one source of big data. The explanation is 
unlikely to consider the types of data that could be obtained and 
is likely to lack clarity and application to the scenario. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Explains at least one source of big data. The explanation does 
consider the types of data that could be obtained but may lack a 
little clarity and/or application to the scenario. 

3 – 5 

Level 3 Explains at least two sources of big data. The explanation does 
consider the types of data that could be obtained and is mostly 
clear and applied to the scenario. 

6 - 7 
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SECTION 1 (CONTINUED) 

Task (c): Explain how, by managing our receivables, we could limit the impact that selling to retailers could have on our 
cash flow. 

Trait  

Limit impact Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Provides at least one suggestion for how to limit the impact of 
selling to retailers on cash flow. The explanation is likely to lack 
clarity and application to the scenario and will not consider 
positive and negative effects of the suggestion(s). 

1 – 3 

Level 2 Provides at least one suggestion for how to limit the impact of 
selling to retailers on cash flow. The explanation may lack some 
clarity and/or application to the scenario and may not consider 
positive and negative effects of the suggestions, if more than 
one suggestion is given.  

4 – 6 

Level 3 Provides at least two suggestions for how to limit the impact of 
selling to retailers on cash flow. The explanation is mostly clear, 
applied to the scenario and does consider positive and negative 
effects of the suggestions. 

7 - 8 
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SECTION 2 

Task (a): Explain what each of the statistical measures in Table 2 mean in the context of the information given. Please 
also explain how the decision about which promotional campaign to choose will be made using a risk-neutral, risk-seeking 
and risk-averse approach, stating the choice under each approach. 

Trait  

Measures Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains the meaning of at least one of the measures with 
technical accuracy. The explanation makes little if any reference 
to the information given. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Explains the meaning of at least two of the measures with 
technical accuracy. Does attempt to explain in the context of the 
information given. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Explains the meaning of all three measures with technical 
accuracy. Makes a good attempt to explain in the context of the 
information given. 

5 

Risk attitudes Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates technical understanding of at least one of the risk-
attitude approaches. The explanation is likely to lack clarity, and 
the correct decision may not be stated.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of at least two of the risk-
attitude approaches. The explanation may lack some clarity, and 
the correct decision may not always be stated. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates technical understanding of all three risk-attitude 
approaches. The explanation is mostly clear, and the correct 
decisions have been stated. 

5 
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SECTION 2 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain how the lease for the cooking vats will be initially recorded and then subsequently measured in our 
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2022. 

Trait  

Lease liability Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of how to initially record and 
subsequently measure the lease for the year ending 31 
December 2022. The explanation lacks clarity and reference to 
the information given. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of how to initially 
record and subsequently measure the lease liability for the year 
ending 31 December 2022. The explanation may lack some 
clarity but does attempt to reference the information given. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of how to initially record and 
subsequently measure the lease liability for the year ending 31 
December 2022. The explanation is mostly clear and does 
reference the information given. 

5 

Right-of-use asset Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of how to initially record and 
subsequently measure the right-of-use asset for the year ending 
31 December 2022. The explanation lacks clarity and reference 
to the information given. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of how to initially 
record and subsequently measure the right-of-use for the year 
ending 31 December 2022. The explanation may lack some 
clarity but does attempt to reference the information given. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of how to initially record and 
subsequently measure the right-of-use asset for the year ending 
31 December 2022. The explanation is mostly clear and does 
reference the information given. 

5 
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SECTION 2 (CONTINUED) 

Task (c): Explain how purchasing outright would affect the way that the cooking vat assets are reflected in our financial 
statements for the year ending 31 December 2022. 

Trait  

Purchase outright Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains with some technical accuracy how the cooking vat 
assets will be reflected in the financial statements for the year 
ending 31 December 2022. The explanation is likely to lack 
clarity and is unlikely to comment on how this treatment 
compares to the treatment for leasing the assets.  

1 - 2 

Level 2 Explains with reasonable technical accuracy how the cooking 
vat assets will be reflected in the financial statements for the 
year ending 31 December 2022. The explanation may lack 
some clarity and may not comment on how this treatment 
compares to the treatment for leasing the assets.  

3 - 4 

Level 3 Explains with good technical accuracy how the cooking vat 
assets will be reflected in the financial statements for the year 
ending 31 December 2022. The explanation is clear and does 
comment on how this treatment compares to the treatment for 
leasing the assets.  

5 
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SECTION 3 

Task (a): Explain what the information shown in Chart 1 indicates. 

Trait  

Chart 1 Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of what Chart 1 indicates about 
the budget. The explanation is not always technically accurate and 
lacks clarity, depth and reference to the information in the chart. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of what Chart 1 indicates 
about the budget. The explanation may contain some technical 
inaccuracy and may lack some clarity, depth and reference to the 
information in the chart. 

3 – 5 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of what Chart 1 indicates about 
the budget. The explanation is technically accurate, clear, 
comprehensive and makes reference to the information in the 
chart. 

6 – 7 

Task (b): Explain how the chart and break-even position would be affected by a change in the budgeted mix of products 
sold (with a higher proportion of sauces and a lower proportion of soups) and a change in the mix of sales channels (with a 
higher proportion through our own website compared to through retailers).   

Trait  

Effect of 
changes 

Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains how at least one of the changes will affect the chart and 
break-even position. The explanation lacks technical accuracy, 
clarity and reference to the scenario. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Explains how at least one of the changes will affect the chart and 
break-even position. The explanation may lack some technical 
accuracy, clarity and/or reference to the scenario. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Explains how both of the changes will affect the chart and break-
even position. The explanation is technically accurate, clear and 
makes reference to the scenario. 

5 - 6 

  



 

©CIMA 2022. No reproduction without prior consent.  

   

SECTION 3 (CONTINUED) 

Task (c): Explain what is meant by unit, batch, product and facility level activities in the context of the Ready@Home 
range and our new production facility. Please include examples of overhead costs for each of these categories. 

Trait  

Unit and batch Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of what is meant by unit and 
batch level activities. The explanation lacks clarity, and any 
examples given are likely to be incorrect or generic rather than 
drawn from the information given. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of what is meant by unit 
and batch level activities. The explanation may lack a little clarity. 
The examples given may not always be correct or drawn from the 
information given, although there will be some attempt to use this 
information. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of what is meant by unit and 
batch level activities. The explanation is mostly clear. The 
examples are mostly correct and drawn from the information given. 

5 – 6 

Product and 
facility 

Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of what is meant by product 
and facility level activities. The explanation lacks clarity and any 
examples given are likely incorrect or generic rather than drawn 
from the information given. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of what is meant by 
product and facility level activities. The explanation may lack a little 
clarity. The examples given may not always be correct or drawn 
from the information given, although there will be some attempt to 
use this information. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of what is meant by product and 
facility level activities. The explanation is mostly clear. The 
examples are mostly correct and drawn from the information given. 

5 - 6 
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SECTION 4 

Task (a): Explain what the sales price, sales mix profit and sales quantity profit variances in Table 1 mean and possible 
reasons for each variance. 

Trait  

Sales variances  Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of the technical meaning of 
the variances from a general perspective. The meaning of the 
variances in this context may be limited, and any reasons given 
are unlikely to relate to the correct variance. The explanation 
lacks clarity and makes no attempt to link any of the variances 
together. 

1 - 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of the technical 
meaning of the variances from a general perspective, and there 
is a reasonable attempt to explain the meaning of the variances 
in this context. The reasons given may not always relate to the 
correct variance and may not use all of the information available. 
The explanation lacks some clarity and makes little attempt to 
link any of the variances together. 

4 – 7 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of the technical meaning of 
the variances from a general perspective, and there is a good 
attempt to explain the meaning of the variances in this context. 
The reasons given mostly relate to the correct variance and 
uses most of the information available. The explanation is 
mostly clear and does attempt to link some of the variances 
together. 

8 - 10 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain whether it would be beneficial to split the Everyday sales price variance into its planning and operational 
elements and any possible problems we would face when doing this. 

Trait  

Planning and 
operational 

Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of the distinction between 
planning and operational variances. The explanation makes little 
reference to whether it would be beneficial and little if any 
reference to the scenario or difficulties. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of the distinction 
between planning and operational variances. The explanation 
makes some reference to whether it would be beneficial, the 
scenario and/or difficulties. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of the distinction between 
planning and operational variances. The explanation makes 
reasonable reference to whether it would be beneficial, and 
there is reasonable reference to the scenario and difficulties. 

5 - 6 

Task (c): Suggest three KPIs that would be appropriate for the dashboard for Ready@Home website sales. Please 
explain how each KPI would be measured and why it would be appropriate. 

Trait  

KPIs Level Descriptor Marks 
 No rewardable material 0 
Level 1 Suggests at least one KPI which is relevant. The explanation of 

how to measure and why appropriate may lack clarity and 
application to the scenario. 

1 – 3 

Level 2 Suggests at least two KPIs which are relevant. The explanation 
of how to measure and why appropriate may lack some clarity 
and some application to the scenario. 

4 – 6 

Level 3 Suggests three KPIs which are relevant. The explanation of how 
to measure and why appropriate is mostly clear and applied. 

7 - 9 
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Operational Level Case Study May and August 2022 

Marking Guidance 

Variant 5 
 

About this marking scheme  
 
This marking scheme has been prepared for the CIMA 2019 professional qualification Operational Case Study [May–August 
2022].  
 
The indicative answers will show the expected or most orthodox approach; however, the nature of the case study 
examination tasks means that a range of responses will be valid. The descriptors within this level-based marking scheme are 
holistic and can accommodate a range of acceptable responses.  
 
General marking guidance is given below, and markers are subject to extensive training, standardisation activities and 
ongoing monitoring to ensure that judgements are being made correctly and consistently.  
 
Care must be taken to not make too many assumptions about future marking schemes on the basis of this document. While 
the guiding principles remain constant, details may change depending on the content of a particular case study examination 
form.  
 

General marking guidance  
 

• Marking schemes should be applied positively, with candidates rewarded for what they have demonstrated and not 
penalised for omissions.  

• All marks on the scheme are designed to be awarded, and full marks should be awarded when all level descriptor 
criteria are met.  
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• The marking scheme and indicative answers are provided as a guide to markers. They are not intended to be 
exhaustive, and other valid approaches must be rewarded. Equally, students do not have to make all of the points 
mentioned in the indicative answers to receive the highest level of the marking scheme.  

• An answer which does not address the requirements of the task must be awarded no marks. Markers should mark 

according to the marking scheme and not their perception of where the passing standard may lie.  

Where markers are in doubt as to the application of the marking scheme to a particular candidate script, they must 

contact their lead marker.  

 
 

How to use this levels-based marking scheme 
 
1. Read the candidate’s response in full  
 
2. Select the level  

• For each trait in the marking scheme, read each level descriptor and select one, using a best-fit approach.  

• The response does not need to meet all of the criteria of the level descriptor – it should be placed at the level when it 
meets more of the criteria of this level than the criteria of the other levels.  

• If the work fits more than one level, judge which one provides the best match.  

• If the work is on the borderline between two levels, then it should be placed either at the top of the lower band or the 
bottom of the higher band, depending on where it fits best.  

 
3. Select a mark within the level  
 

• Once you have selected the level, you will need to choose the mark to apply.  

• A small range of marks may be given at each level. You will need to use your professional judgement to decide which 
mark to allocate.  

• If the answer is of high quality and convincingly meets the requirements of the level, then you should award the 
highest mark available. If not, then you should award a lower mark within the range available, making a judgement on 
the overall quality of the answer in relation to the level descriptor.  
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Summary of the core activities tested within each sub-task 
 

Sub Task Core Activity Sub task 
weighting 
(% section 

time) 

Section 1 
(a) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 52% 

(b) A Prepare costing information for different purposes to meet the needs of 
management. 

48% 

Section 2 

(a) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 36% 

(b) D Apply relevant financial reporting standards and corporate governance, ethical 
and tax principles.  

44% 

(b) D Apply relevant financial reporting standards and corporate governance, ethical 
and tax principles.  

20% 

Section 3 

(a) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 36% 

(b) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 36% 

(c) F Prepare information to manage working capital. 28% 

Section 4 

(a) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 56% 

(b) B 
 

Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 44% 
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SECTION 1 

Task (a): Explain what Table 1 and Chart 1 show us and why using this information to produce a forecast of demand for 
our vegan meal-kits for quarter 4 of 2022 onwards will be difficult. 

Trait  

Table 1 & Chart 1 Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of what Table 1 and Chart 1 
show in respect of the trend and seasonal variations. The 
explanation lacks clarity, lacks technical accuracy and does not 
reference the information given.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of what Table 1 and 
Chart 1 show in respect of the trend and seasonal variations. 
The explanation lacks some clarity and/or some technical 
accuracy. There is some attempt to reference the information 
given. 

3 – 5 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of what Table 1 and Chart 1 
show in respect of the trend and seasonal variations. The 
explanation is mostly clear and technically accurate, with 
reference to the information given. 

6 – 7 

Difficulties Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one difficulty. The explanation may lack clarity 
and/or application. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two difficulties. The explanation may lack some 
clarity and/or application. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Explains at least three difficulties. The explanation is mostly 
clear and applied. 

5 – 6 
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SECTION 1 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain the direct and indirect costs associated with a specific video. Please also explain the potential 
difficulties of determining a total cost for each specific video. 

Trait  

Direct & Indirect  Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of the distinction between 
direct and indirect costs. The explanation lacks clarity, lacks 
technical accuracy and does not refer to many if any of the costs 
given in the scenario.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of the distinction 
between direct and indirect costs. The explanation may lack 
some clarity but does reference with technical accuracy some of 
the costs given in the scenario.  

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of the distinction between 
direct and indirect costs. The explanation is mostly clear and 
does reference with technical accuracy most of the costs given 
in the scenario.  

5 – 6 

Potential 
problems 

Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one potential problem of determining a cost for 
each specific video. The explanation may lack clarity and/or 
application to the scenario.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two potential problems of determining a cost for 
each specific video. The explanation may lack some clarity 
and/or some application to the scenario. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Explains at least three potential problems of determining a cost 
for each specific video. The explanation is mostly clear and 
applied to the scenario. 

5 – 6 
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SECTION 2 

Task (a): Explain the information shown in Table 1 and which option should be chosen using a risk neutral approach to 
decision making. Please also explain one limitation of using this approach and one limitation of using this information to 
make this decision. 

Trait  

Table 1 and 
decision 

Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates understanding of how to make the decision using 
a risk neutral approach. The explanation of the information in 
Table 1 is likely to be limited, and the correct option may not be 
chosen. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates understanding of how to make the decision using 
a risk neutral approach. The explanation of the information in 
Table 1 may be a little limited, although the correct option is 
likely to have been chosen. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates understanding of how to make the decision using 
a risk neutral approach. The explanation of the information in 
Table 1 is reasonable, and the correct option has been chosen. 

5 

Limitations Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains one limitation, but this explanation lacks clarity and 
application to the scenario. 

1  

Level 2 Explains at least one limitation. The explanation may lack clarity 
and/or application to the scenario. 

2 – 3 

Level 3 Explains two limitations. The explanation is mostly clear and 
applied to the scenario. 

4 
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SECTION 2 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain with appropriate justification, how the old herbs & spices machinery will be reflected in our financial 
statements for the year ending 31 December 2022. 

Trait  

Criteria Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates technical understanding of some of the criteria for 
reclassification as an asset held for sale. The explanation of 
these criteria lacks clarity, depth and application to the scenario.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of many of the criteria for 
reclassification as an asset held for sale. The explanation of 
these criteria may lack some clarity, and application to the 
scenario may be limited.  

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates technical understanding of most of the criteria for 
reclassification as an asset held for sale. The explanation of 
these criteria is mostly clear and applied to the scenario.  

5 – 6 

Financial 
statements 

Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some technical understanding of how the asset 
held for sale should be recorded and valued in the financial 
statements. The explanation lacks clarity and application to the 
scenario. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of how the asset held for 
sale should be recorded and valued in the financial statements. 
The explanation may lack some clarity and may not be well 
applied to the scenario. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates technical understanding of how the assets held 
for sale should be recorded and valued in the financial 
statements. The explanation is mostly clear and applied to the 
scenario. 

5 
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SECTION 2 (CONTINUED) 

Task (c): Explain how the disposal of the warehouse property will affect the amount of capital tax payable by the 
company for the year ending 31 December 2022. 

Trait  

Tax payable Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of how the disposal will 
affect tax payable. The explanation lacks clarity, technical 
accuracy and reference to the information given. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of how the disposal will 
affect tax payable. The explanation may lack some clarity, 
technical accuracy and/or reference to the information given. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of how the disposal will affect 
tax payable. The explanation is mostly clear, technically 
accurate and references the information given. 

5 
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SECTION 3 

Task (a): Explain what each of the variances in Table 1 means and possible reasons for their occurrence. 

Trait  

Variances Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates technical understanding of what at least one of the 
variances means. The explanation lacks clarity, and the reasons 
given may not relate to the correct variance or be drawn from the 
scenario. 

1 – 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of what at least two of the 
variances mean. The explanation may lack some clarity, and the 
reasons given may not always relate to the correct variance or be 
drawn from the scenario. 

4 – 6 

Level 3 Demonstrates technical understanding of what at least three 
variances mean. The explanation is mostly clear, and the reasons 
given mostly relate to the correct variance and are drawn from the 
scenario. There is some attempt to link the variances together. 

7 – 9 
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SECTION 3 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain why each of the KPIs in Table 2 is appropriate for measuring the performance of the Herbs & Spices 
Department Manager and reasons why each measure has either been achieved or not been achieved. 

Trait  

KPIs Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates understanding of why at least one of the KPIs is 
appropriate. The explanation lacks clarity, and the reasons given 
may not relate to the correct KPI or be drawn from the scenario. 

1 – 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of why at least two of the 
KPIs are appropriate. The explanation may lack some clarity, and 
the reasons given may not always relate to the correct KPI or be 
drawn from the scenario. 

4 – 6 

Level 3 Demonstrates technical understanding of why all three of the KPIs 
are appropriate. The explanation is mostly clear, and the reasons 
given mostly relate to the correct KPI and are drawn from the 
scenario. There is some attempt to link the KPIs together. 

7 – 9 

Task (c): Explain the factors to be considered when choosing a type of short-term investment for these funds. 

Trait    

Factors to 
consider 

Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one appropriate factor to be considered. The 
explanation lacks clarity and is unlikely to reference different types 
of investment. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two appropriate factors to be considered. The 
explanation may lack some clarity and/or may not reference 
different types of investment. 

3 – 5 

Level 3 Explains at least three appropriate factors to be considered. The 
explanation is mostly clear and references different types of 
investment. 

6 – 7 
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SECTION 4 

Task (a): Explain for each of the items in Table 1, which are relevant, and which are irrelevant to the decision whether to 
proceed with the roadshow. Please also indicate, where appropriate, further information that may be required to quantify 
the relevant costs and revenues. 

Trait  

Items 1 - 3  Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates general understanding of relevant costs and 
correctly identifies some of the items as relevant or irrelevant. 
The explanation of why be missing or lack clarity, and little 
reference is made to further information required. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates general understanding of relevant costs and 
correctly identifies most of the items as either relevant or 
irrelevant. The explanation of why may lack some clarity. There 
may not be much reference to further information required. 

3 – 5 

Level 3 Demonstrates general understanding of relevant costs and 
correctly identifies most of the items as either relevant or 
irrelevant. The explanation of why is mostly clear, and there is 
some reference made to further information required. 

6 – 7 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (a): Explain for each of the items in Table 1, which are relevant, and which are irrelevant to the decision whether to 
proceed with the roadshow. Please also indicate, where appropriate, further information that may be required to quantify 
the relevant costs and revenues. 

Trait    

Items 4 - 6 Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates general understanding of relevant costs and 
correctly identifies some of the items as either relevant or 
irrelevant. The explanation of why may be missing or lack clarity, 
and little reference is made to further information required. 

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates general understanding of relevant costs and 
correctly identifies most of the items as either relevant or 
irrelevant. The explanation of why may lack some clarity. There 
may not be much reference to further information required. 

3 – 5 

Level 3 Demonstrates general understanding of relevant costs and 
correctly identifies most of the items as either relevant or 
irrelevant. The explanation of why is mostly clear, and there is 
some reference made to further information required. 

6  – 7 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain the features of a beyond budgeting approach and how we might apply these. Please also explain the 
benefits to our business of using a beyond budgeting approach. 

Trait  

Features Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates understanding of some of the features of beyond 
budgeting. The explanation is likely to lack clarity and may not 
consider how to apply these in the business.  

1 – 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates understanding of most of the features of beyond 
budgeting. The explanation may lack some clarity or may not 
consider how to apply these in the business. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates understanding of most of the features of beyond 
budgeting. The explanation is mostly clear and does consider 
how to apply these in the business. 

5 

Benefits Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one benefit of using a beyond budgeting 
approach. The explanation may lack clarity and application to 
the scenario. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two benefits of using a beyond budgeting 
approach. The explanation may lack some clarity and/or 
application to the scenario. 

3 – 4 

Level 3 Explains at least three benefits of using a beyond budgeting 
approach. The explanation is mostly clear and applied to the 
scenario. 

5 – 6 
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Operational Level Case Study May and August 2022 

Marking Guidance 

Variant 6 
 

About this marking scheme  
 
This marking scheme has been prepared for the CIMA 2019 professional qualification Operational Case Study [May–August 
2022].  
 
The indicative answers will show the expected or most orthodox approach; however, the nature of the case study 
examination tasks means that a range of responses will be valid. The descriptors within this level-based marking scheme are 
holistic and can accommodate a range of acceptable responses.  
 
General marking guidance is given below, and markers are subject to extensive training, standardisation activities and 
ongoing monitoring to ensure that judgements are being made correctly and consistently.  
 
Care must be taken to not make too many assumptions about future marking schemes on the basis of this document. While 
the guiding principles remain constant, details may change depending on the content of a particular case study examination 
form.  
 

General marking guidance  
 

• Marking schemes should be applied positively, with candidates rewarded for what they have demonstrated and not 
penalised for omissions.  

• All marks on the scheme are designed to be awarded, and full marks should be awarded when all level descriptor 
criteria are met.  
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• The marking scheme and indicative answers are provided as a guide to markers. They are not intended to be 
exhaustive, and other valid approaches must be rewarded. Equally, students do not have to make all of the points 
mentioned in the indicative answers to receive the highest level of the marking scheme.  

• An answer which does not address the requirements of the task must be awarded no marks. Markers should mark 

according to the marking scheme and not their perception of where the passing standard may lie.  

Where markers are in doubt as to the application of the marking scheme to a particular candidate script, they must 

contact their lead marker.  

 
 

How to use this levels-based marking scheme 
 
1. Read the candidate’s response in full  
 
2. Select the level  

• For each trait in the marking scheme, read each level descriptor and select one, using a best-fit approach.  

• The response does not need to meet all of the criteria of the level descriptor – it should be placed at the level when it 
meets more of the criteria of this level than the criteria of the other levels.  

• If the work fits more than one level, judge which one provides the best match.  

• If the work is on the borderline between two levels, then it should be placed either at the top of the lower band or the 
bottom of the higher band, depending on where it fits best.  

 
3. Select a mark within the level  
 

• Once you have selected the level, you will need to choose the mark to apply.  

• A small range of marks may be given at each level. You will need to use your professional judgement to decide which 
mark to allocate.  

• If the answer is of high quality and convincingly meets the requirements of the level, then you should award the 
highest mark available. If not, then you should award a lower mark within the range available, making a judgement on 
the overall quality of the answer in relation to the level descriptor.  
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Summary of the core activities tested within each sub-task 
 

Sub Task Core Activity Sub task 
weighting 
(% section 

time) 

Section 1 
(a) A Prepare costing information for different purposes to meet the needs of 

management. 
52% 

(b) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 48% 

Section 2 

(a) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 52% 

(b) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 48% 

Section 3 

(a) C Analyse performance using financial and non-financial information. 52% 

(b) F Prepare information to manage working capital. 24% 

(c) F Prepare information to manage working capital. 24% 

Section 4 

(a) D Apply relevant financial reporting standards and corporate governance, ethical 
and tax principles 

32% 

(b) D 
 

Apply relevant financial reporting standards and corporate governance, ethical 
and tax principles 

16% 

(c) B Prepare budget information and assess its use for planning and control purposes. 24% 

(d) E Prepare information to support short-term decision making. 28% 
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SECTION 1 

Task (a): Explain, based on the information in Table 1, how the features of a digital costing system could benefit our 
business.   

Trait  

Benefits Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates understanding of some of the features of a digital 
costing system and makes some attempt to explain the benefits 
of such a system. The explanation lacks clarity, depth and 
application to the scenario/reference to the information given.   

1 - 4 

Level 2 Demonstrates understanding of the features of a digital costing 
system and makes a reasonable attempt to explain the benefits 
of such a system. The explanation may lack some clarity and/or 
depth. There is some application to the scenario and/or some 
reference to the information given.   

5 - 9 

Level 3 Demonstrates understanding of the features of a digital costing 
system and makes a good attempt to explain the benefits of 
such a system. The explanation is mostly clear and 
comprehensive. There is application to the scenario and 
reference to the information given.   

10 - 13 
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SECTION 1 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain how the promotional budget for the launch of our new OSHB range would be prepared using a ZBB 
approach. Please also explain the potential limitations of using a ZBB approach across the business.    

Trait  

ZBB approach  Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of how ZBB will be used to 
prepare the promotional budget. The explanation lacks clarity, 
depth and reference to the scenario and the information given. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of how ZBB will be 
used to prepare the promotional budget. The explanation may 
lack some clarity, depth and/or reference to the scenario or the 
information given. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of how ZBB will be used to 
prepare the promotional budget. The explanation is clear, 
comprehensive and refers to the scenario and the information 
given.  

5 - 6 

Limitations Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one limitation of using ZBB across the 
business. The explanation is likely to lack clarity, depth and 
application to the scenario. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two limitations of using ZBB across the 
business. The explanation may lack some clarity, depth and/or 
application to the scenario. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Explains at least three limitations of using ZBB across the 
business. The explanation is mostly clear, comprehensive and 
applied to the scenario. 

5 - 6 
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SECTION 2 

Task (a): Explain how to use the decision tree in Schedule 1 to decide which marketing option should be chosen. Please 
also explain the issues with using the information in this decision tree to make this decision. 

Trait  

Decision tree Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some technical understanding of what the 
decision tree shows. Limited explanation of how to use the tree 
to make the decision. The explanation lacks clarity, depth and 
has little/no application to scenario.  

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable technical understanding of what the 
decision tree shows and how to use it to make the decision. The 
explanation lacks some clarity and/or depth and has only limited 
application to the scenario.  

3 - 5 

Level 3 Demonstrates clear technical understanding of what the 
decision tree shows and how to use it to make the decision. The 
explanation is mostly clear, comprehensive and applied to the 
scenario. 

6 - 7 

Issues Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one issue of using the information in this 
decision tree to make the decision. The explanation is likely to 
lack clarity, depth and application to the scenario. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Explains at least two issues of using the information in this 
decision tree to make the decision. The explanation may lack 
some clarity, depth and/or application to the scenario. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Explains at least three issues of using the information in this 
decision tree to make the decision. The explanation is mostly 
clear, comprehensive and applied to the scenario. 

5 - 6 
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SECTION 2 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Suggest three KPIs which measure food waste and one KPI which measures food recoverability.  For each of 
the four KPIs, please explain how it would be calculated and why it would be appropriate. 

Trait  

Food waste Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Identifies at least one KPI which is relevant for measuring food 
waste. Explanation of the calculation method and 
appropriateness lacks clarity, depth and application to the 
scenario. 

1 - 3 

Level 2 Identifies at least two KPIs which are relevant for measuring 
food waste. Explanation of the calculation method and 
appropriateness may lack some clarity, depth and application to 
the scenario. 

4 - 6 

Level 3 Identifies three KPIs which are relevant for measuring food 
waste. Explanation of the calculation method and 
appropriateness is mostly clear, comprehensive and applied to 
the scenario. 

7 - 9 

Food  
recoverability  

Level  Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Identifies a KPI which is relevant for measuring food 
recoverability. The explanation of the calculation method and 
appropriateness lacks clarity, depth and application to the 
scenario. 

1 

Level 2 Identifies a KPI which is relevant for measuring food 
recoverability. The explanation of the calculation method and 
appropriateness lacks some clarity, depth and application to the 
scenario.  

2 

Level 3 Identifies a KPI which is relevant for measuring food 
recoverability. Explanation of the calculation method and 

3 
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appropriateness is mostly clear, comprehensive and applied to 
the scenario. 

 
SECTION 3 

Task (a): Explain what each of the variances in Tables 1 and 2 mean, giving possible reasons why the variances have 
occurred and what the variances indicate about the overall sales performance for our new OSHB range in November 
2022.   

Trait  

Sales price  Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some technical understanding of what a price 
variance represents. Makes little attempt to explain the meaning of 
the price variances given or the reasons why they have occurred.  

1 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of what a price variance 
represents. Makes a reasonable attempt to explain the meaning of 
the price variances given and the reasons why they have arisen. 

2  

Level 3 Demonstrates technical understanding of what a price variance 
represents. Makes a good attempt to explain the meaning of the 
price variances given and the reasons why they have occurred. 

3 

Sales mix Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material  0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some technical understanding of what a mix 
variance based on the individual units method represent. There is a 
limited attempt to explain the meaning of the mix variances given 
or the reasons why they have occurred. 

1 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of what a mix variance 
based on the individual units method represents. Makes a 
reasonable attempt to explain the meaning of the mix variances 
given and the reasons why they have occurred 

2 - 3 

Level 3 Demonstrates technical understanding of what a mix variance 
based on the individual units method represents. Makes a good 

4 
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attempt to explain the meaning of the mix variances given and the 
reasons why they have occurred. 
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SECTION 3 (CONTINUED) 

Task (a): Explain what each of the variances in Tables 1 and 2 mean, giving possible reasons why the variances have 
occurred and what the variances indicate about the overall sales performance for our new OSHB range in November 
2022.   

Trait    

Sales quantity Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material  0 

Level 1 Demonstrates technical understanding of what a quantity variance 
represents. Makes little attempt to explain the meaning of the 
quantity variances given or the reasons why they have occurred. 

1 

Level 2 Demonstrates technical understanding of what a quantity variance 
represents. Makes a reasonable attempt to explain the meaning of 
the quantity variances given and the reasons why they have 
occurred. 

2 

Level 3 Demonstrates technical understanding of what a quantity variance 
represents. Makes a good attempt to explain the meaning of the 
quantity variances given and the reasons why they have occurred. 

3 

Overall  Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material  0 

Level 1 Provides limited explanation of what the variances indicate about 
the performance of the new OSHB range in November 2022.  

1 

Level 2 Provides some explanation of what the variances indicate about 
the performance of the new OSHB range in November 2022.  

2 

Level 3 Provides good explanation of what the variances indicate about the 
performance of the new OSHB range in November 2022.   

3 
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SECTION 3 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain what the working capital cycle information in Table 3 tells us about our actual level of working capital 
compared to budget, including any potential effects on cashflow and any limitations of the available information.   

Trait  

Working 
capital cycle 

Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of how the actual level of 
working capital compares to budget. Limited attempt to explain why 
the differences may have occurred, the effects on cashflow and 
limitations of the information.  

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of how the actual level of 
working capital compares to budget. Reasonable attempt to explain 
why the differences may have occurred, the effects on cashflow 
and limitations of the information.  

3 - 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of how the actual level of 
working capital compares to budget. Good attempt to explain why 
the differences may have occurred, the effects on cashflow and 
limitations of the information.  

5 - 6 

Task (c): Explain any actions we could take to shorten the actual working capital cycle. 

Trait  

Actions Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Explains at least one action. The explanation lacks clarity, depth 
and application to the scenario. 

1 - 2 

Level 2 Explains at least one action. The explanation may lack some 
clarity, depth and / or application to the scenario. 

3 - 4 

Level 3 Explains at least two actions. The explanation is mostly clear, 
comprehensive and applied to the scenario. 

5 - 6 
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SECTION 4 

Task (a): Explain how the different items of inventory in Table 1 will affect our financial statements for the year ending 31 
December 2022. 

Trait  

IAS 2  Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates understanding of the lower of cost and NRV rule 
in IAS 2. The explanation of the effect in the financial statements 
lacks clarity, technical accuracy, application to the scenario and 
is not complete.  

1 - 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates understanding of the lower of cost and NRV rule 
in IAS 2. The explanation of the effect in the financial statements 
lacks some clarity, technical accuracy, application to the 
scenario and may not be complete.  

4 - 6 

Level 3 Demonstrates understanding of the lower of cost and NRV rule 
in IAS 2. The explanation of the effect in the financial statements 
is mostly clear, technically accurate and complete. There is a 
good attempt to apply to the scenario.  

7 - 8 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (b): Explain how the insurance claim receipt will affect our financial statements for the year ending 31 December 
2022. 

Trait  

IAS 10 Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates understanding of the distinctions between 
adjusting and non-adjusting events. The explanation of how to 
treat the insurance receipt lacks clarity and technical accuracy. 
No reference is made to the scenario.  

1 

Level 2 Demonstrates understanding of the distinction between 
adjusting and non-adjusting events. The explanation of how to 
treat the insurance receipt lacks some clarity and/or technical 
accuracy and may not reference the scenario.  

2 - 3 

Level 3 Demonstrates good understanding of the distinction between 
adjusting and non-adjusting events. The explanation of how to 
treat the insurance receipt is mostly clear and technically 
accurate with good reference to the scenario.  

4 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (c): Explain how stress test drills following a simulated cyber-attack on our production scheduling system will 
improve our awareness of the short-term impacts of such an attack. Please use examples relating to the achievement of 
budgeted output levels and cashflows. 

Trait  

Stress test drill  Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates some understanding of the nature of stress test 
drills but then fails to explain in detail what would be expected 
and how this could be used to improve budgeting/operations, 
with no application to scenario.    

1 - 2 

Level 2 Demonstrates reasonable understanding of the nature of stress 
test drills but the explanation of how this could be used lacks 
detail, has little application/relevance to the scenario but links 
the stress test drill to the budgets or operations.    

3 - 4 

Level 3 Demonstrates full understanding of the nature of stress test 
drills. Comprehensive explanation of how this could be used to 
improve budgeting or operations. Relevant examples which are 
applied to the scenario.     

5 - 6 
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SECTION 4 (CONTINUED) 

Task (d): Explain why each of the costs in Table 2 and the accompanying note is relevant, or not, to the decision 
regarding the acceptance of the offer from Solid Promotions. 

Trait  

Relevant costs  Level Descriptor Marks 

 No rewardable material 0 

Level 1 Demonstrates understanding of the difference between relevant 
and non-relevant costs for decision making. Some of the costs 
have been correctly identified as relevant or not relevant, 
although the explanation of why this is the case may be missing 
at times.  

1 - 3 

Level 2 Demonstrates understanding of the difference between relevant 
and non-relevant costs for decision making.  Most of the costs 
are likely to have been correctly identified as relevant or not 
relevant, although the explanation of why this is the case may 
sometimes be missing. 

4 - 5 

Level 3 Demonstrate full understanding of the difference between 
relevant and non-relevant costs for decision making. Most if not 
all the costs are likely to have been correctly identified as 
relevant or not relevant. For the most part, the explanation of 
why this is the case is valid.  

6 - 7 
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